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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBGEE

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—ZE-hEF —E-NF
FHERT T
OPERATING RESULTS E—E
For the year ended 31 March HE=ZA=+—HILFE
Revenue Wz 1,681,862 1,510,504
Gross profit E A 226,983 231,148
Operating profit 4 T 65,524 82,934
Profit attributable to owners of the Company ZN/NSIEZ 2SN apinkl 55,557 74,111
Earnings per share — Basic (HK cents) & &R —FEA (B 19.64 26.29
Interim dividend, paid, per ordinary share (HK cents) BB ERE
(&) 6.0 7.0
Final dividend, proposed, per ordinary share (HK cents) &A% 3 3 i% ## R & B A% 8
(&) 6.0 8.0
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
Total equity R 724,650 731,605
Net current assets mENE EFE 358,695 360,950
Net cash (excluding time deposit over three months) ReEFE(IMTBEBER=A
B € B3 17 3 58,289 96,191
Capital expenditure BEARRE 18,437 17,240
Net assets value per share BREEFE 2.556 2.593
FINANCIAL RATIOS B R be =
Current ratio mB) b & 2.13 2.10
Debt to equity ratio BERESELEX 9.6% 9.4%
Inventory turnover days HFERAEAE 70 66
Debtors turnover days JE U5 AR SR B 82 B 8K 46 50
Return on average equity 1 IR AR B R 2 7.6% 10.6%
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REVENUE BY PRODUCT TYPE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MERE

BaRERBINSH

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HLHEE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E-hEF —E—N\F

FE T THTT

Electronic products BFEM 1,395,599 1,180,154

Pet related products EVRBEE® 286,263 330,350

Total @t 1,681,862 1,510,504
REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT KkakibtES BT

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+t-HLEE

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

ZE-NF —ZE-)\F

FERT FHET

The United States of America EH 832,952 670,865

Japan =N 214,264 279,015
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”, REAREME ([FE] -

including Hong Kong) BEEE) 178,725 189,524

Taiwan =N 130,510 97,538

Australia B 90,294 77,454

Germany =E 81,504 40,274

France e 64,376 16,184

United Kingdom e 12,543 38,625

Others Hih 76,694 101,025

Total #Et 1,681,862 1,510,504

Revenue by Product Type
BRRERMNSH

Pet related products
17.0% wwicmzs

83.0%

E\ectromc products
@ EEDD

2019

Revenue by Geographical Segment

akibES H
PRC (including ,

10.63% Fimis) 7.76% Lx"

4 85% ?ﬁsﬂﬁany 5 37% Auj[raha
3.83% S&"

12.74% 6% oo Urited

49 539% 0.75% =8

The Unif(ed States

RIS 4.54% $E°
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present
the annual results of Suga International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“SUGA" or the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 March 2019 ("FY2018/19").

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year, some of the Group's business partners exercised
greater caution as a result of the persistent Sino-US trade dispute.
Nevertheless, SUGA has been actively exploring opportunities
and secured new electronics product customers during the year,
hence we were able to maintain turnover growth. Its turnover was
approximately HK$1.7 billion, representing a year-on-year rise of
about 11.3% (FY2017/18: HK$1.5 billion). Gross profit amounted to
approximately HK$227.0 million (FY2017/18: HK$231.1 million) and
gross profit margin was 13.5% (FY2017/18: 15.3%). The decrease
was mainly due to the higher product value of the new customer
but lower gross profit margin of these products compared with the
Group's other products and the initial investment in the Vietnam
plant lowered the gross profit margin which will nonetheless be
recouped in the long run.

Profit attributable to shareholders was approximately HK$55.6
million (FY2017/18: HK$74.1 million). Net profit margin was 3.3%
(FY2017/18: 4.9%) and basic earnings per share were HK19.64 cents
(FY2017/18: HK26.29 cents).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors proposed to pay a final dividend of HK6.0 cents per
share (FY2017/18: HK8.0 cents per share) to shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Shareholders of the Company as
at 14 August 2019. Together with the interim dividend of HK6.0
cents per share already paid, the total dividend for the year would be
HK12.0 cents per share (FY2017/18: HK15.0 cents per share). Subject
to approval by shareholders at the 2019 Annual General Meeting, the
proposed final dividend will be paid on or before 23 August 2019.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFREHRE

AANEBERREFE MARZCEEEREESA
RAR ([ARR]) REMBLE (M [EE]
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#)227,000,0008 7 (ZF—+t / — \FHEF
€ :231,100,000% L) - EF X H13.5% (=
T—+/ —N\FUHRFE:153%)  HKBEEXE
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BEMERAKARBRERETHZEARR:
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P& 3R FE (3% F 49 455,600,000 L (T —+
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MEAEIZN(ZE—+,/ —NFHBRFE:
4.9%) - BREXRBF A19.64F I (ZF—+
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BER12.08W(=Z2—+t /- \FHHRFE :
HR15.08M) - FRERZZE—NFRRAF
ARl EEOREREFTRZZE—NF
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

To more clearly reflect the two-pronged strategy to develop the
electronics business and pet business, the Group has started
designating the pet business as an independent business segment
since the last financial year. Through the Group’s active efforts
in diversifying its business and expediting innovation, SUGA has
managed to maintain steady business development despite the
challenging macro environment.

Electronic Products

The electronic products business has generated stable revenue for
the Group. During the year, sales amounted to approximately HK$1.4
billion (FY2017/18: HK$1.2 billion), representing a year-on-year
increase of 18.3% and accounting for 83.0% of total sales.

Among all products, professional audio equipment performed
particularly well. Revenue from telephones for the hearing impaired
was similar to that of the previous year. Affected adversely by the
market environment, the performance of other products such as
smart card and NFC products as well as communications products
from Japanese clients has declined.

It is worth noting that SUGA has allocated resources to incorporate
the Internet of Things (“loT") technology within different products in
recent years. This initiative not only has gained the recognition of its
current business partners, but also secured a new economy customer
in the US during the year. The Group has developed an assets tracker
with loT technology for this customer. Although this business is still
at the cultivation stage, it has brought a contribution within the
year, so we believe this product has potential of growth. Although
the product carries a gross profit margin lower than its average
gross profit margin, it enables the Group to access different types
of customers. Therefore, we will strike a balance between seeking
opportunities and maintaining gross profit margin at a reasonable
level.
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During the year, SUGA has established its manufacturing facility
in Vietnam. The Group will capitalize on the preferential tax rates,
competitive labor cost, stable labor market and strategic location
there, in order to mitigate the pressure from the US-China trade war
and rising costs in Mainland China. With an area of 4,134 sq. m.,
the new plant is located in the Dai Dong-Hoan Son Industrial Park in
Bac Ninh Province, Vietnam. The initial investment in the project is
approximately HK$20 million. Two production lines have commenced
operation this February, to meet the strong demand for production
out of China from partners.

Pet Business

The pet business started to be designated as a separate business
segment last financial year. Sales amounted to HK$286.3 million
(FY2017/18: HK$330.4 million) in the year, accounting for 17.0%
of total sales. The drop of the sales was mainly due to the declining
orders of pet training devices as a result of the reduction of inventory
by its business partners.

The Group has strived to develop the pet food business in recent
years, but an unexpected avian influenza outbreak last year affected
the import into China of SUGA’s own brand Brabanconne pet food
produced in Belgium. The epidemic has since subsided, and now the
Group has to wait for the resumption of import approval by China’s
government. Our determination to develop the pet food business
remains unshaken. The Group has continued raising the awareness of
the Brabanconne brand, so this arm still managed to record revenue
growth in the year. We have actively participated in different types of
domestic and overseas pet exhibitions and fairs, such as Interpets in
Tokyo and the Spring All Pet Supplies Fair in Osaka for the first time at
the end of March 2019, aiming to enter the market in Japan, so as to
satisfy the strong demand for quality pet food among local consumers
and help the Group to diversify market risk.

Targeting the enormous potential of pet insurance, SUGA and our
partners have launched PetbleCare, an online pet insurance platform,
in September 2018, which covers the pets’ medical illness, accident,
third party liability and other protection, in order to provide a more
comprehensive service to pet owners and their beloved animals.
The platform can generate synergies with the Group’s existing pet
business, so we believe that it can hugely benefit our pet business
ecosystem.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEHRE

AWARDS

At the Group level, we garnered “The 6th Best Investment Value
Awards for Listed Companies” (Market Capitalisation Under HK$10
Billion) by the Most Investment Value Listed Companies Selection
Committee during the year, acknowledging our outstanding business
performance and stable dividend payouts in 2017.

As for individuals, | am very honored to have been conferred the
title of University Fellow by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(“PolyU”) in November 2018, in recognition of my outstanding
contribution to PolyU and the community. | will continue to lead
SUGA together with the management team in giving back to the
community. Apart from promoting social development by providing
quality products and adopting advanced technologies, we will
also spare no effort in protecting the environment and serving the
community.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the course of the trade war between China and the
U.S. will remain the focus of the market. Before a resolution becomes
clear, customers will still adopt a prudent approach. The Group for
its part will closely monitor the development of the situation. We
will also maintain close communications with our business partners
and work together to face the challenges in line with our common
interests.

SUGA's Vietnam plant has completed trial production during the year
under review. At present, we have mainly shifted the manufacturing
of the products affected by the trade war to our Vietnam factory and
advanced the extent of automated production processes, mainly non-
labor intensive parts. We have received some enquiries from new
customers, expressing wishes for our Vietnam plant to produce their
products, so as to mitigate the effects of the trade war on them.
The Group will flexibly allocate resources according to its customers’
needs and can adjust its production scale as needed.
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In addition, although the avian influenza outbreak in Belgium was
just an isolated sudden instance, it has affected the development of
our own pet food brand Brabanconne. Thus the management has
actively and comprehensively considered how to secure stable supply
sources in the future in order to diversify the risks of supply and
meet the needs of its customers. During the year, we have studied
various options and explored the feasibility of cooperation with other
suppliers such as overseas and domestic quality pet food producers.
The related plans will be confirmed as soon as possible to avoid a
slowdown of the Group’s development pace due to changing external
conditions.

The Group earnestly believes that the positioning of Brabanconne,
which is customized for pets in Asia, will attract lots of pet owners.
The brand has gained a certain degree of recognition in mainland
China, hence we will continue to grasp opportunities to further
penetrate other Asian markets. We have received positive feedback
after we participated in the exhibitions in Japan. SUGA will expedite
the development of its pet food business based on indicators of
market acceptance.

Regarding the land parcel where our former Huizhou plant was
situated, the document of application for change of its purpose
to commercial and residential use is still in process by relevant
government departments. We will report to shareholders in due
course should there be any further change of status. The Group
will continue to evaluate potential development projects and look
for new opportunities amidst the challenges. Financially, the Group
has maintained a net cash position, which allow us with greater
flexibility to capture suitable opportunities so as to create value for
its shareholders. The management thus has full confidence in the
Group's long-term business prospects.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Group, | would like to thank our customers, business
partners and shareholders for their continued steadfast support. My
heartfelt appreciation also goes to our staff for their contributions
during the past year.

Ng Chi Ho

Chairman

Hong Kong
26 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$1,681.9 million (FY2017/2018: HK$1,510.5 million), representing
an increase of 11.3% as compared with last year. The Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$55.6 million (2018:
HK$74.1 million),
25.0% comparing to last year.

representing a decrease of HK$18.5 million or

Geographically, for the year ended 31 March 2019, revenue
generated from the top 3 countries, the United States of America,
Japan and PRC (including Hong Kong) accounted for 72.9% of the

Group's total sales (FY2017/2018: 75.4%).

During the fiscal year, gross profit margin decreased from 15.3%
to 13.5%. The decrease is primarily due to higher product value of
the new customers, but lower gross profit margin of these products
compared with the Group's other products and the initial investment
in the Vietnam plant lowered the gross profit margin. Gross profit
for the year decreased 1.8% to HK$227.0 million (FY2017/2018:
HK$231.1 million).

Operating profit was HK$65.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 (FY2017/2018: HK$82.9 million).
expenses increased by HK$11.3 million mainly due to increase in staff

Distribution and selling

costs, sales commission and the promotion expenses of the Group’s
pet related products. General and administrative expenses increased
HK$2.4 million mainly attributable to the increase in depreciation
expenses, research and development costs and employee benefit

expenses.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has recorded a net
finance costs of HK$1.9 million (FY2017/2018: net finance costs of
HK$1.0 million). The increase of net finance costs was mainly due to
less interest received from bank deposits as in-line with decrease in
average bank balance. Details of the finance cost for the year ended
31 March 2019 and 2018 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHEBH®ESH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Group, who make strategic decisions
and review the internal reporting of the Group in order to assess
performance and allocate resources.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of the results of reportable segments. Finance
income and costs, corporate income and expenses, fair value gains
or losses of financial assets, impairment loss on interest in an
associate and share of results of associates are not included in the
results for each operating segment that are reviewed by the CODM.
Other information provided to the CODM is measured in a manner
consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from external customers is shown after elimination of inter-
segment revenue. Sales between segments, which mainly consist of
sale of electronic components and products among subsidiaries, are
carried out at mutually agreed terms. Revenue from external parties
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
income statement.

Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred income tax
assets, tax recoverable, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans receivable, interests in associates and corporate assets,
all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of reportable
segments exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities and
corporate liabilities. These are part of the reconciliation to total
balance sheet assets and liabilities.

Electronic products

Revenue from electronic products segment recorded approximately
HK$1,395.6 million (FY2017/2018: HK$1,180.2 million), representing
83% of the Group’s total revenue. Revenue from this segment was
significantly increased by 18.3% as compared to last year. Among
all products, professional audio equipment performed extremely well
in this fiscal year, which is resulted from the allocation of resources
to incorporate of the Internet of Things ( loT") technology within
different products in recent years. This initiative has gained not only
more orders from existing customer, but also new customers of
professional audio equipment business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, the loT technology also benefited the Group in securing
a new economy customer in the US during the year. The Group has
developed an assets tracker with loT technology for this customer.
Although this business is still at the cultivation stage, it has brought a
contribution within the year, so we believe this product has potential
of growth. Although the product carries a gross profit margin lower
than the Group’s average gross profit margin, it enables the Group
to access different types of customers. Therefore, we will strike a
balance between seeking opportunities and maintaining gross profit
margin at a reasonable level.

Major products of this segment are: i) professional audio equipment;
ii) asset tracker with loT technology; iii) telephones for hearing
impaired; iv) telecommunication products; and v) general household

consumer appliances.

Pet related products

Revenue from pet related products segment recorded approximately
HK$286.3 million (FY2017/2018: HK$330.4 million),
17.0% of the Group’s total revenue and a decrease of HK$44.1

representing

million or 13.3% compared with last year. The drop of the sales
was mainly due to the declining orders of pet training devices as a
result of the reduction of inventory by its business partners, with the
escalation of the trade tariffs during the year.

The other products of this segment are the Group's own
“Brabanconne” pet food brand and PETBLE®, Suga’s proprietary smart
pet products.

The Group has strived to develop the pet food business in recent
years, but an unexpected avian influenza outbreak last year affected
the import into China of SUGA's own brand Brabanconne pet food
produced in Belgium. The epidemic has since subsided, and now the
Group has to wait for the resumption of import approval by China’s
government.

The Group has continued raising the awareness of the Brabanconne
brand, so this arm still managed to record revenue growth in the
year. We have actively participated in different types of domestic and
overseas pet exhibitions and fairs, such as Interpets in Tokyo and the
Spring All Pet Supplies Fair in Osaka for the first time at the end of
March 2019, aiming to enter the market in Japan, so as to satisfy the
strong demand for quality pet food among local consumers and help
the Group to diversify market risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHEBH®ESH

Targeting the enormous potential of pet insurance, SUGA and our
partners have launched PetbleCare, an online pet insurance platform,
in September 2018, which covers the pets’ medical illness, accident,
third party liability and other protection, in order to provide a more
comprehensive service to pet owners and their beloved animals.
The platform can generate synergies with the Group's existing pet
business, so we believe that it can hugely benefit our pet business
ecosystem.

The Group is also collaborating with Huazhong Agriculture University
Veterinary Teaching Hospital on research to monitor the health of
different types of pets, which will provide scientific data to Suga and
bring positive impact on the entire pet health ecosystem.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2019, the current assets and current liabilities of
the Group were approximately HK$676.4 million (31 March 2018:
HK$690.3 million) and approximately HK$317.7 million (31 March
2018: HK$329.3 million) respectively. The liquidity ratio, which is
calculated as current assets over current liabilities, was 2.13 times as
at 31 March 2019, as compared to that of 2.10 times as at 31 March
2018.

The Group generally finances its operations by internally generated
resources and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong. Banking facilities used by the Group include revolving
loans, trust receipt loans, overdrafts, leasing and term loans, which
are primarily on floating interest rates basis. As at 31 March 2019,
the Group maintained cash and bank balances at approximately
HK$127.8 million (31 March 2018: 165.1 million),
cash and bank balances was mainly due to repayment of long-term

the decrease in

bank loans, initial investment in Vietnam plant, investment in financial
assets through holding of redeemable promissory notes and warrant
of an investee and operating cash outflow for expanding pet related
business. The Group's bank borrowings were HK$69.5 million as at
31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: HK$68.9 million).
expressed as a percentage of total bank borrowings over total equity,
was 9.6% (31 March 2018: 9.4%). The Group was able to maintain a
net cash balance, which is calculated by total cash and bank balances
less total bank borrowings, of HK$58.3 million as at 31 March 2019
(31 March 2018: HK$96.2 million).

Gearing ratio,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2019
amounted to approximately HK$1,042.7 million (31 March 2018:
HK$1,065.2 million) and HK$318.0 million (31 March 2018:
HK$333.6 million) respectively. The debt ratio, which is calculated
based on total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 0.31
times as at 31 March 2019, similar to that as at 31 March 2018.

The net asset value of the Group decreased from HK$731.6 million
as at 31 March 2018 to HK$724.7 million as at 31 March 2019,
the decrease is mainly due to comprehensive loss from exchange
differences arising on translation of foreign subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$694.8 million (31 March 2018: HK$681.5 million)
from its principal bankers for overdrafts, loans and trade financing,
with unused facilities of HK$575.6 million (31 March 2018: HK$547.5
million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Group's total capital expenditures for the year under review
were HK$18.4 million. The capital expenditures were mainly for
the additions of machineries and equipment for PRC and Vietnam
production plants.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is not subject to material foreign currency exposure since
its operations are mainly denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars. The Group considers there is no
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations for United
States dollars as long as the Hong Kong-United States dollar exchange

rate remains pegged.

During the year, the Group entered into several foreign exchange
contracts to manage the currency translation risk of Renminbi against
United States dollars. All these foreign exchange contracts were for
managing purpose and it is the policy of the Group not to enter into
any derivative contracts purely for speculative activities.

THRBWE S

—ﬁﬁiﬂinL—E!'KElm%?ﬁ@ﬁ
&Eﬁ%‘%ﬁ > Bl A&#91,042,700,0008 7T ( =
—N\NEFE=ZA=+—8: 1,065,200,000,%71)&
318,000,000 L (ZE—N\F=ZA=+—H:
333,600,00087) - M—_TE—hLhEFE=ZA=+—
H BELX (REERERINEELERH)
BH03IE BT —-N\F=ZA=+—HHH
FTHRA

AREFEEFEH_T—\F=ZA=1+—8
731,600,000 TR ZE T —NF=H
=+—HHK724,700,0008 L o B EERHRIE
EHNNBRARIMELEEL ZENEMEES-

R-ZZE-NAF=A=t+—B AEERBEX"
ERRESBEMNETIEARBITRMBRTE

B 48 58 #49694,800,0008 L (ZFE— NE= A
=+—H:681,500,0008 L) r mASBAE
B % 8] A4575,600,0008 c (—E—N\F=H8

=+—H :547,500,000/ ) °

BFHHX

REBFERN AEBECEARIBER
18,400,000 T - EARZ T2 AFE R
EEBMEREMBREE-

b BE R, Bz

HRAEBE 2 EZEBTEUARE -BLTRET
AHE BASEYE@MEERINERAR - AEE
REBREBEXTHEBITEXRNA#D  RIKTH
SMNE R B R BRI A E K e

FA-AEBEFTLHOINEAK NEEARE
RETZERERRR -FAEZEINESHNH
REEEAE AEBELIKT I AERERKE
MElERTETIREARNZBR -

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F % 19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHEBH®ESH

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group pledged its office premise located
at 22nd floor, tower B, Billion Centre, Kowloon Bay together with 4
car parking spaces to secure a bank mortgage loan of HK$3.8 million
(31 March 2018: HK$6.7 million) for financing the acquisition of the
office premise and car parking spaces. Other than the said mortgage
loan, the Group did not pledge any of its assets as securities for the
banking facilities granted to the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a capital commitment of
HK$4.1 million for property, plant and equipment (31 March 2018:
1.8 million).

Corporate guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings
granted to subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$69.5
million (31 March 2018: HK$68.9 million) and the Group did not have
any significant contingent liability.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2019 the Group has approximately 2,139 employees,
of which 95 were based in Hong Kong and Macao while the rest were
mainly in Mainland China and Vietnam. Remuneration policy was
reviewed regularly, making reference to current legislation, market
condition and both the individual and company performance. In
addition to salaries and other usual benefits like annual leave, medical
insurance and various mandatory pension schemes, the Group also
provides educational sponsorship subsidies, discretionary performance
bonus and share options. A new share option scheme was adopted
on 6 August 2012 which is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the adoption date, detailed of which are specified in the Section
“Share Option Scheme” on page 213 to 215 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFREREEAREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. NG Chi Ho, aged 69 is the founder, chairman and managing
director and chairman of the corporate governance committee of the
Group. He is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy,
strategic planning and development, and overall management of the
Group. Dr. NG has over 42 years of management experience in the
electronics industry and had been teaching electronic engineering
at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University for 4 years. Dr. NG holds
a bachelor degree in science from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong, a master of philosophy degree in computer engineering from
the University of Hong Kong, and an honorary doctor of engineering
degree from Lincoln University, USA. Dr. NG is a chartered engineer, a
fellow of the Institution of Engineering and Technology, UK, a fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and an university fellow of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

In addition, Dr. NG is a partner of Hong Kong-Shenzhen United
Investment Foundation, an advisor of the Technology Development
Committee of Federation of Hong Kong Industries, an expert of the
Electronics Expert Panel of Hong Kong Science and Technology Park,
he is chairman of Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association, are
and honorary chairman of Hong Kong Electronics Industries Council.
Dr. NG is a member of the Advisory Committee on Electronic
Engineering of the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is also the
Assessment Panel Member under the Innovation and Technology
Fund, Innovation and Technology Commission, HKSAR Government.

On community services, Dr. NG is chairman of Sir Cecil Clementi
Scholarship Foundation under Education Bureau, HKSAR Government,
and a director of Hok Hoi Library.

Dr. NG is the recipient of the Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award
by Enterprise Asia in 2013, and the Hong Kong Electronic Industry
Outstanding Achievement Award by Hong Kong Electronics Industries
Council in 2018.

Dr. NG is the father of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, the executive
director of the Group and Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the CEO of
Wepet group.

Mr. MA Fung On, aged 61, is the deputy chairman and a member
of the corporate governance committee of the Group. Mr. MA s
responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall strategic
planning and policies, as well as overseeing the personnel,
administration and logistics of the Group. Mr. MA has worked
with the Group for more than 26 years and has over 37 years of
experience in the electronics industry. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in electronic
engineering and was conferred as a Fellowship of Social Enterprise
Research Academy. Mr. Ma is vice chairman of The Hong Kong
Enterprise Association of Dongguan Qingxi and vice chairman of
Dongguan Photoelectric Communication Industry Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, aged 38, is the chief technology
officer of the Group. He is responsible for exploring new business
opportunities and overseeing Research and Development (R&D)
of the Group. Dr. NG joined the Group in 2014 and Dr. Ng holds
Bachelor of Engineering (1st Hon.) degree in Computing from
Imperial College London, Master of Science (S.M.) and Doctor of
Philosophy (Ph.D.) degrees in Electrical Engineering and Computer
Science from Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). Prior to
joining the Group, Dr. NG has worked at Qualcomm’s New Jersey
Research Center. Dr. NG is a member of 87th Hong Kong Trade
Development Council Electronics/Electrical Appliances Industries
Advisory Committee (2018/2019). He is also a member of City
University of Hong Kong’'s Electronic Engineering Departmental
Advisory Committee, Expert Review Panel (ERP) member and Steering
Committee member of Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D
Centre (LSCM).

He is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the chairman and managing director
of the Group and the brother of Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the
CEO of WePet group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ir. LEE Kam Hung, Arthur, aged 61, is a non-executive director
of the Group. He holds a Master degree of Science in Engineering
Business Management (Co-organized by Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and The University of Warwick (UK)). Mr. LEE is the founder,
CEO of Kolinker Group of companies since its inception in 1983. In
addition, Mr. LEE is the fellow member of The Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers, member of the council, member of Governing
committee and honorary life vice president of Poly U Development
Foundation of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, vice president
of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council Foundation Limited (2003
Awardee), member of Enterprise Support Scheme (ESS) Assessment
Panel, Director of Board of Nano and Advanced Materials Institute
Limited (NAMI), member of Expert Panel of Designated Local Research
Institution (DLRI) and Excom member of Electronics Industry Council
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries (FHKI-Group 5).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFREREEAREE

Prof. LUK Wing Ching, aged 57, is a non-executive director of
the Group. He is Professor of Computer Engineering at Imperial
College London. He was a Visiting Professor at Stanford University
and the founding editor-in-chief of the Association for Computing
Machinery Transactions on Reconfigurable Technology and Systems
(ACM TRETS). Prof. LUK’s research covers custom computing, field
programmable technology and design automation. He has received
awards from various conferences such as those covering application-
specific systems and field-programmable technology, and a Research
Excellence Award from Imperial College London. Prof. LUK is a Fellow
of the Royal Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of the Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) and a Fellow of the British
Computer Society (BCS). He holds Master of Arts, Master of Science
and Doctor of Philosophy degrees from the University of Oxford.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG Yu Ming, Steven, aged 60, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Group and a member of audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Group.
Mr. LEUNG holds a master degree in accounting from Charles Sturt
University in Australia and a bachelor degree in social science from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG is an associate
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, a practising certified accountant of CPA Australia and a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong respectively. Mr. LEUNG is also a
practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG
previously worked in Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited as
an assistant vice president in the International Finance and Corporate
Finance Department. He commenced public practice in auditing and
taxation since 1990. He is now the senior partner of a certified public
accountants firm. Mr. LEUNG has over 34 years of experience in
assurance, accounting, taxation, financial management and corporate
finance. Mr. LEUNG is also an independent non-executive director of
C C Land Holdings Limited, The Cross Harbour (Holdings) Limited and
Y.T. Realty Group Limited, all of which are companies listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr. CHAN Kit Wang, aged 66, is an independent non-executive
director of the Group and a member of audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Group.
Mr. CHAN graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1977 with a higher diploma in accountancy. Mr. CHAN is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He is now a senior partner of a certified public
accountants firm. Mr. CHAN has over 42 years of working experience
in accounting, auditing and taxation.

Dr. CHEUNG Nim Kwan, aged 71, is an independent non-
executive director of the Group and a member of audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Group. Dr. CHEUNG is managing director of a start-up company
in Hong Kong Science Park. He was Chief Executive Officer of the
Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
(ASTRI), a 500-member R&D organization in the information
and communications area established by the Hong Kong SAR
Government. He has founded and served as the inaugural director
of the National Engineering Research Centre for Application Specific
Integrated Circuit Systems, the first National Engineering Centre
established in Hong Kong. Prior to joining ASTRI, Dr. CHEUNG has
held different research and senior management positions at AT&T Bell
Labs, Bellcore, and Telcordia Technologies. He is a Telcordia Fellow
and a Fellow of IEEE. Dr. CHEUNG served as the 18th President of
the IEEE Communications Society, a global professional organization
with 45,000 members in 180 chapters around the world. He was
Editor-in-Chief of the IEEE Communications Magazine, and was
appointed Chairman of the IEEE Fellow Committee in 2012-13, where
he presided over the selection of all new IEEE Fellows worldwide. Dr.
CHEUNG is an Honorary Professor of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong and has served as Consulting Professor at Stanford University
and in Research Grants Council in Hong Kong. Dr. CHEUNG received
his B.Sc. degree from the University of Hong Kong, and M.S. and
Ph.D. degrees from the California Institute of Technology.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFREREEAREE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOW Sze Shek, Riley, aged 47, is the chief financial officer of
the Group. Mr. CHOW is responsible for overseeing the corporate and
financial matters of the Group. Mr. CHOW is a qualified accountant
and a fellow member of CPA Australia. Mr. CHOW joined the Group
in September 2001 and has over 25 years of experience in corporate
finance, accounting and auditing. He graduated from the University
of Queensland, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in
accounting.

Mr. TENG Boon Han, Eric, aged 41, is the chief operation officer of
the Group, he is responsible for the overall operations in SUGA Hi-
Tech Industrial Park. Mr. TENG holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration in Finance and Economics from University of New
Brunswick, Canada. He joined the Group in 2007. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. TENG worked for global IT and telecommunication
companies. He has had international working exposure in the USA,
Malaysia, Indonesia and Thailand within those companies.

Mr. FUNG Chi Leung, Mark, aged 55, is the chief marketing officer
of the Group. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Toronto in Canada. Mr. FUNG joined the Group in 2010
and has over 33 years of working experience in electronics sales and
marketing.

Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, aged 36, is the chief executive officer
of WePet group. Since joining the Group in 2010, Mr. NG has been
responsible for developing the pet business and managing the
wholesale and the retail pet business in Hong Kong and mainland
China. Mr. NG has also been involving in the development of the
smart pet products for the Group. Mr. NG holds Bachelor of Science
degree in Robotics from The Staffordshire University, Postgraduate
Diploma in Computer Science from The University of Birmingham
and Master of Business Administration from The University of Wales,
Newport. Mr. NG has accumulated experience on pet business in last
9 years.

Mr. NG is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the chairman and managing

director of the Group and the brother of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred,
the executive director of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHSE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of Suga
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to
attain and uphold a high standard of corporate governance that
properly protect and promote the interests of its shareholders and
other stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees and the
general public.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
has complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), except for CG Code A.2.1.

CG Code A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. Up to the date of this report, the Group does
not have a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Dr.
Ng Chi Ho currently holds both positions. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same
person provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in
the development and execution of long-term business strategies.
Going forward, the Group will periodically review the effectiveness
of this arrangement and considers appointing an individual as Chief
Executive Officer when it thinks appropriate.

Save as the above-mentioned deviation, none of the directors of the
Company is aware of information that would reasonably indicate the
Company is not or was not in compliance with the CG Code for the
year under review.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Group’s overall management is vested in its board of directors,
which now comprises eight members, coming from diverse businesses
and professional backgrounds. The Board consisted of three executive
directors, Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman and Managing Director), Mr.
Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, two non-
executive directors, Mr. Lee Kam Hung and Prof. Luk Wing Ching
(appointed on 1 September 2018) and three independent non-
executive directors ('INED’), Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit
Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (collectively the ‘Directors’).

28 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2018/19

EEEREEERARA([ARFA]ESFS
(12 ) RERBER N ER MRS KEZ
CEELR ZEREREREERREEMITHD
E(BREFP HER BEERARAL)INE

NV
S o
m

RBE_ZT-NF=ZA=+T—BLBENKF
BER ARRI—HETEEBERZMBRA
AESF EMARR (T EMRAL) M E14FrE D
ZERTAI(TREERTAL) EAEERT
AIE A2 1RBR SN

EERERTHFEA2 MKRTAAR D EFEEITK
mEzAE A TEAR - AT -#BEAHRE
BHE NEBEYEER D T ERITHRAEHRBS 3
HHREZELERMB -EFSRE AR —
AREETERTHAE JERAEEZARS
k—BRE BREPTRERBERE AEH
BRBREHBRAELZHERER ARRBA
BERZETENALRITHAR -

B EifmeEsN RAREZHIABEEMFME
HEBEBRTARAEMRXEERNEBEFEAT
BT ERERTA

EEE

AEEZEREEREZS AR E528M
NERETATEREXREENALTAK -E
FENERBE=ZRUTEERARBL(ER
FEFEERE) BERZELE(AEZR)ERE
EEL MAFNTESTFTHREREREXE
BE(R-_Z-N\FNLA-REZE)R=%28
VEBTEF([BIUFATES])RTHE
£ BRARTERRSHBL (RBIEF]) -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the group’s
business and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to
review the Group's systems of risk management and internal control,
to approve the strategic plans, investment and funding decision. For
the financial reporting accountability, the Board has the ultimate
responsibility for preparing the financial statements. The day-to-day
management is conducted by senior management and employees
of the Group, under the direction and supervision of the Directors.
When the Directors are aware of any events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, such events or conditions will be clearly set out and
discussed in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs among
whom one has to have appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related finance management expertise. The role of
INED is to bring an independent and objective view to the Board's
deliberations and decisions. The Company has received from each
INED an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent.

All non-executive directors (including INEDs) have been appointed
for a term of one year and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company and
Listing Rules at each annual general meeting. Save as disclosed in the
biographical details of each director, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.
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ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies. The Board is supplied
with relevant information by the senior management pertaining to
matters to be brought before the Board for decision as well as reports
relating to operational and financial performance of the Group before
each regular board meeting. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular
board meeting is given to all directors to give them the opportunity
to attend. Board papers are dispatched to the directors at least three
days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, setting appropriate
Risk
management and internal control are defined as a process effected

policies and reviewing the effectiveness of such controls.

by the Board, management and other personnel, designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of the
following:

effectiveness and efficiency operations

reliability of financial reporting

compliance with applicable laws and regulations

effectiveness of risk management functions

The Board conducted a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2019 including the consideration of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems by considering reviews
performed by the Audit Committee, executive management and the
independent auditors’ management letters, if any, and is satisfied that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group is
functioning properly.
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_FH

Four regular meetings of the Board and one Annual General Meeting W H BT
were held during the year. The attendance of each director at the HEFAEG & & %er E%Z %Z%Y T —
meeting is set out as follows:—

Name of directors Board meeting AGM
EEpA EEgeE BRRBFKE
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) REEEBL (£E) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) BEREE (BIEE) 4/4 11
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RRFEL 4/4 1/1
Non-Executive directors FHITES
Mr. Lee Kam Hung ol e 3/4 1/1
Prof. Luk Wing Ching B ok B 2R 3/3 N/AT 3 F
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYKHITES
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven PRI E 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PR & 4/4 1/1
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan SR RE LT 4/4 1/1
DIRECTORS’ TRAINING EFEEA

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the MRIFEFRMAQRFRFEZFICE FH EF
directors, the directors have participated in the following training &2 8 IA T :
during the year:

Attended training courses,
seminars, workshops,
in-house briefs

Directors HEZIRE Hg-
B TES  ASEHRS
Executive Directors BITES

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) REXRBL(£E) v
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) EEREE (FEE) v
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RREEL %
Non-Executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Lee Kam Hung FEIERE v
Prof. Luk Wing Ching 3 S=E €54 v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYEHITES

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFFE v
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRAREEE v
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan SR HE £ v

FEEBEBREBEER AR 2018/19F =, 31
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in the
execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the
Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the corporate governance committee
(the “Corporate Governance Committee”). All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung Yu
Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year to
review and discuss the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, to review the Group’s interim and annual financial
statements, and also monitor the appointment and function of the
Group's independent auditors. Additional meetings may also be held
by the Committee from time to time to discuss special projects or
other issues of which the Audit Committee considers necessary. The
Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:—

Member of Audit Committee

TRESHSE

|

FAHBITMAERZZBEEE®H &K
B ERBEINMT : —

3 2

\

Meeting attended

EREEERE HESBRH
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven BFHEE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PR ST 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan o S IR i 2/2

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the fiscal year
2017/2018 annual report and fiscal year 2018/2019 interim report,
including the accounting principles and practice adopted by
the Group, reviewed and discussed the financial results and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, conducted
discussions with the independent auditors on financial reporting,
compliance, and reported all relevant matters to the Board.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the fiscal year 2018/2019
annual report in a meeting held on 21 June 2019.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs and is currently
chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven. No director or senior executive
will be involved in any discussion in connection with his own
remuneration. The meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall
normally be held not less than once a year.

The Company has adopted a model where the Remuneration
Committee performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration of executive
directors and senior management.

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure. It also reviews and guides the formulation
of the Group’s performance related pay schemes. Term of reference
which described the authorities and duties of the Remuneration
Committee are publicly available on the websites of the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the contents of which are in
compliance with the CG Code.
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During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held
and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:-

Member of the Remuneration Committee

o

FARBTMATHZESEER SKEZE

R EREEINMT - —

\

Meeting attended

FMESERE HEEBRY
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFFE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRAREEE 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan SR+ 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors, non-executive director, the INEDs, and
senior management; and reviewed the bonus to senior management.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March, 2019, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:—

Remuneration bands (HK$)

HEEE (Bx)

FA -FHNZESCEMALAERNITES 3F
HITES BYUFNTESERSIREEBZH
MEBREEERIER YEEHSAERE
B ZAEAT

ESREREERZHFMH

HE_ZT-NF=ZA=+—BLLFE aRE
BABRBES D 2FMEINDO T —

Number of persons

AH

$0 to $1,500,000
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000

Further particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 34 & 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan. The
Nomination Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming,
Steven.
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The meeting of the Nomination Committee shall normally be held not
less than once a year. The Committee will identify qualified candidates
to fill the Board membership whenever such vacancy arises. It will
nominate such candidates for the Board to consider, and regularly
review the composition of the Board as well as make suggestions as
to any change that may be required. The Committee’s authority and
duties are set out in written terms of reference and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the vyear.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out in the
table below:-

Member of the Nomination Committee

TRESHSE

REZEEREFETTIR-—REHF-Z
EeMREEERBHATRENEAERA
BEM URKRABBAERHRESTSZE UK
ERRNETSEAR MR EFATEMTEIE
HEZ - ZEQ@ZRNEBEEXNEMBESR
BA WEEHNARE RE B A -

R RAEEGRBIRAGE - SREZME
Bl R ERMIIN TR —

Meeting attended

REZEERE HEEBRH
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEEEE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRARREE 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan ok 2 IR £ 2/2

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size, diversity, gender and composition of the Board; make
recommendations to the Board on appointment of directors after
considering their qualifications and experience in relevant industries
and re-election of the directors subject to retirement by rotation
under the bye-laws at the 2018 annual general meeting and assess
the independence of the independent non-executive directors
according to the independence requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, (a) having served
the Company for more than nine years could be relevant to the
determination of an INED’s independence; and (b) if an INED has
served more than nine years, his further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.

Notwithstanding that Mr. Chan Kit Wang has served as an INED for
more than nine years since 1 April 2009, the Board is of the view
that his independence is not affected by his long service with the
Company. Mr. Chan Kit Wang meets the independence guideline
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. He is independent of the
management and free from any business or other relationship or
circumstances which would materially interfere with the exercise of
his independent judgment. Hence, the Board considered Mr. Chan Kit
Wang as independent and recommended the re-election of Mr. Chan
Kit Wang as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the board diversity policy in August 2013. The
policy sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered diversity of board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board developed measurable objectives to implement the board
diversity policy, where selection of candidates will be based on the
range of diversity perspectives as set out above, and the ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidate will bring to the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 (“Dividend
Policy”). Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, dividends may be
paid subject to the solvency test is duly passed and satisfied and

that:—

(@) the Company is not or would not after payment of the said final
dividend be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; and

(b)  the realizable value of the Company’s assets would not thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the Company,
depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. Any future declaration, recommendation
and payment of dividends of the Company may or may not reflect the
historical declarations and payments of dividends and will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors of the Company. The Company

does not have any predetermined dividend payout ratio.
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In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be approved by a
resolution of the shareholders.

The Board will review this Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy. The audit committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in November 2018
(“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the criteria and procedures
when considering candidates to be appointed or re-elected as
directors of the Company.

Nomination Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship:

1. Character and integrity;

skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s

2. Qualifications including professional qualifications,

business and corporate strategy;

3. Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board;

4. Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
for achieving diversity on the Board;

5. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the listing rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited applicable to the Company (the “Listing Rules”)
and whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

6. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business
or as suggested by the Board.
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Nomination Procedures
Nomination by the Nomination Committee

1.

38

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board

to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the Nomination Committee identifies
or selects candidates as recommended to the Committee,
with or without assistance from external agencies or the
Company, pursuant to the nomination criteria;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of the
appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee;

Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

2.1

2.2

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-
election at each annual general meeting;

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director. The Nomination Committee shall also review the
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
director, who offered himself/herself for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to determine whether such
director continues to meet the nomination criteria;
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2.3 Based on the review made by Nomination Committee, the
Board shall make recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company, and provide the available
biographical information of the retiring director in
accordance with the Listing Rules to enable shareholders
to make the informed decision on the re-election of such
candidates at annual general meeting of the Company.

3. Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for
election as a director in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
“Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for election
as director of the Company” of the Company adopted in
February 2012.

The Board will review this Nomination Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Company was
established on 21 February, 2012. As at the date of this annual
report, the Corporate Governance Committee comprised of two
executive directors, namely Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) and Mr. Ma
Fung On.

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group
and making recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the duties set out in Code Provision D.3.1. (a) to (e) for
the time being in force. The terms of reference of the Corporate
Governance Committee are available on the website of the Company.
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The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during the
year. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:—

Member of the Corporate
Governance Committee

il

o
p=I13
s
23
el

N

ZHFEFHBN

Meeting attended

TEEREEENE HESZRE
Dr. Ng Chi Ho REREL 1/1
Mr. Ma Fung On BEREE 1/1
During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed FR GtE¥EARZESEEMRTmwm LR

and discussed the new requirements of the Corporate Governance
Code of the Listing Rules and reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. The Company made specific enquiry of all
directors as to whether they complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions.
It was confirmed that there was full compliance. The relevant
employee who, because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in
possession of inside information, have been requested to comply with
the provisions of the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The finance department
of the Company is taken charge by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. With the assistance of the finance department, the
Directors ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been properly prepared in accordance with relevant
regulations and applicable accounting principles.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Group’'s independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC"). The financial reporting responsibilities of the independent
auditors are set out on page 99 to 101 of this annual report.

During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$2,860,000
was payable to PwC for the provision of audit services. In addition,
approximately HK$294,000 was payable to PwC for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax compliance and
other services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zeng Zhi is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the
Board is briefed on relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments. During the year, Ms. Zeng have duly
complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility in
establishing an appropriate risk management and internal control
systems, and reviewing their effectiveness regularly. The systems
include a defined management structure with limits of authority to
safeguard its assets against unauthorized use or disposition; to ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for management use or for publication
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage
the risks of failure in the Group's operational systems and in the
achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Management is responsible in the design and implementation of the
risk management and internal control systems. A Risk Management
Committee was established to monitor the operations of risk
management and internal control systems and provide confirmation
to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the systems regularly.
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Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to ensure that the risks to the
Group are identified, analyzed, and managed at an acceptable
level. In order to provide a sound and effective risk management
system, a Risk Management Manual is established to specify the Risk

Management Framework and Risk Management Processes.

The Risk Management Framework outlines the responsibilities of
the Board, the senior management, the Audit Committee, the
Internal Audit and the Risk Management Committee. The Board,
through its risk oversight role, ensures that the senior management
establishes risk management policies to identify and evaluate risks.
Each subsidiary/division implements such policies and processes in the
daily operations and reports significant risks identified to the senior
management promptly and regularly. The senior management and
Risk Management Committee will communicate the risk management
findings to the Audit Committee and the Board for their assessment
of the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.

The Risk Management Processes including the followings:

1. Risk Identification — each subsidiary or division to identify its
own risks.
2. Risk Analysis — analyze the identified risks for potential impact

and likelihood of occurrence.

3. Risk Register — the likelihood of occurrence and impacts
of identified risks are defined. The top risks are identified
according to the rating obtained from risk assessment and
documented in a risk register. Each operating subsidiary/division
records the risk events occurred in the risk register and the
action taken to reduce the impact of the risk to the Group.

4. Risk Mitigation — identify the existing controls over the relevant
risks to avoid, reduce or transfer the risks, or to accept the

identified risks with low impact or likelihood.

5. Risk Confirmation — the process of confirmation to the Risk
Management Committee, Audit Committee and the Board
by the management of the completion of the risk monitoring
process and report the risks occurred, if any, during the review
period that have significant impact to the Group.
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Internal Control and Internal Audit

The Group has established systems of internal control to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliabilities of financial
and management reporting, compliances of laws and regulations
and safeguarding of assets. The system of internal control provides
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses
or frauds.

Suga has an Internal Audit function. Internal Audit reviews material
internal control aspects of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as risk management.

Internal Audit carries out audit in accordance with audit plan that is
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. In addition to the
approved internal audit schedule, Internal Audit may conduct other
review and investigation for the Group'’s business on an ad hoc basis
as and when necessary.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Group Internal
Audit Department conducted audits and issued internal audit reports
to management covering various operational and finance functions of
the Group. The half-yearly internal audit reports and its findings were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis.
Relevant findings and recommendations reported by the Internal
Audit were communicated with the management and actions were
taken to resolve defects as and when identified. There is no material
internal control defects identified during the year.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
effectiveness

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management and internal control systems by reviewing
the work performed by the Audit Committee, Risk Management
Committee and the Internal Audit Department for the financial year
ended 31 March 2019. The review covered all material controls,
including operational, financial and compliance control, and risk
management functions. The scope and the quality of ongoing
monitoring of risks and internal control systems have been assessed.
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Dissemination of inside information

The Company conducts its business affairs according to the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Future Commission. The Company strictly prohibits the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information by Directors,
employees and other relevant persons (such as external service
providers and project working team members).

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of
inside information. In order to ensure the market, shareholders and
stakeholders are fully and promptly informed about the material
developments in the Company’s business, the Board has adopted
continuous disclosure policy and procedures to handle proper
information disclosure. Release of inside information is subject
to the approval of the Board. All staff of the Company shall not
communicate inside information to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours unless authorised. In addition, all external
presentation materials or publications must be pre-vetted before
released.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are functioning effectively and adequately.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. In order to develop and maintain
continuing relationship with the shareholders of the Company, the
Company established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

(i)  the annual general meeting provides a useful forum for the
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange

views with the Board;

(i) publication of announcements and circulars on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company;
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The C
updat
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publication of financial statements containing a summary of the
financial information and affairs of the Group for the interim
and full financial year via the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company;

interim reports, annual reports and circulars that are sent to all
shareholders;

notices of and explanatory notes for general meetings; and

the management of the Group continually conducts meetings
with investors, analysts and the media, and provides them
with up-to-date and comprehensive information regarding the
Company's development and answers to their queries.

ompany also maintains a website at www.suga.com.hk, where
es on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries

and concerns to the Board in writing through the contact details as

follows:—

Address: 22nd Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre,
1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: 2953 1523

Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting

and put forward proposals at general meeting. The procedures are as

follows:

(a)

(b)

46

PROCEDURES FOR REQUISITIONING A SPECIAL
GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the
shareholders of the Company holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to
convene a special general meeting of the Company. If the
directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists representing more than one half of the total
voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be
lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 22nd
Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETING

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders
may, at their expense, provide a written request to the attention
of the Company Secretary signed and deposited in accordance
with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

The procedures for the shareholders to propose a person for
election of a director at an annual general meeting is available
for viewing at the Company’s website at www.suga.com.hk.

The above procedures are subject to the bye-laws of the
Company and applicable legislation and regulation.

Besides, the updated memorandum of association and bye-
laws of the Company has been posted on the website of the
Company at www.suga.com.hk and the designated website of
the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2018/19

BRRZET
BEERERBERRBINARRNBRAS
rE2RE-AHEFAT

(a) FREBABKRBHNXKEZERF

REBRE-NN—FRFNE REZ2H
RKEAFERNIR D2 —MAERMAR
ARBBERERAEG LRFEZARNRAZRBA
ZARABRREEDRANR R ZBRER
RE-MEFENE2ERKAREFT -+ —
RARBEERBBAAS ABEEBRRE
FEAEZFRATBITARAKRERRIA

&= o
=

BRABRRFIAE 2 EEELARIER
REIZEBAEIBEMER i SEFBNEE
BRERLE —RERTLBE221E -

(b) REERXEREZMZEF

FARNIR - t+o2z —HAERMNATRA
RABRRAEGLEREZARBHRBA
ZBRRETDMI00BRRAIBRIEARE
—NAN—FREVEM R A WERER LR
ZEEER BERAREAITAE-

ERREREEARBREBEFAG LEZ
BEEZEFHANARTMIEwww.suga.

com.hk °

LB FRART 2 QAR RERER
NOEFRFTARIR o

g AN - AN R A 2 RS T A E R KA
RARMABE#ENAR R A Bwww.
suga.com.hk X B XX BT 36 T @ diwww.
hkexnews.hk A o



The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of electronic and other products and sale of
pet food and pet related products. Details of the principal activities
of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by reporting
and geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group's prospects, as well as discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year ended 31 March 2019 and the
material factors underlying its financial performance are set out in the
“Chairman Statement” on pages 9 to 13, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 15 to 20 and Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 67 to 92 of this annual report.

A description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group
is facing is provided in the section of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems in“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 28 to
46. Additionally, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Company can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no important event
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year ended 31 March 2019.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

SUGA’s commitment to excellence extends to the Group conducting
its business in a manner that respects the environment. The strive
for cleaner production has led SUGA to adopt energy conservation
practices that can reduce environmental risks and liabilities as well
as improve competitiveness. Details of environment policy and
performance are set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 67 to 92 of this annual report.
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EFEHRE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has established procedures to ensure its operations comply
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board of Directors is
responsible for monitoring the Group’s policies and practices making
sure they agree with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and
that those policies and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought
as necessary to the attention of relevant employees and operating
units.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, as far as it is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of PRC
and Hong Kong that have a significant impact on its business and
operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group’s relationships with its employees,

customers and suppliers are set out in “Environmental, Social and

Governance Report” on pages 67 to 92 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 104 of this annual
report.

An interim dividend of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share were paid
during the financial year. The Directors have proposed the payment of
a final dividend of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2019. Total dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to HK12.0 cents per ordinary share.

The proposed final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held on 8 August 2019 is
expected to be paid on or before 23 August 2019 to shareholders of
the Company whose names appear on the Register of Shareholders of
the Company on 14 August 2019.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (CONTINUED)

The register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed for the

following periods:

(i)

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed
from 5 August 2019 to 8 August 2019 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will
be registered, for the purpose of determining the identity of
the shareholders entitled to attend and vote at 2019 Annual
General Meeting. In order to qualify to attend and vote at
the meeting, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 2 August 2019.

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed on
14 August 2019 during which day no transfer of shares in the
Company will be registered, for the purpose of determining
the entitlement of the shareholders to receive the proposed
final dividend. Subject to approval of the shareholders at the
2019 Annual General Meeting, the proposed final dividend will
be payable to the shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Shareholders of the Company on 14 August 2019.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 August
2019.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of

the Company during the year are set out in the note 25 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the

Company during the year are set out in notes 23 and 24 to the

consolidated financial statements respectively.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS - SHARE OPTIONS
GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND SELECTED
EMPLOYEES

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
is set out in note 24 of the financial statements and “Share options
Scheme”section contained in this Directors’ Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2019
calculated under Companies Act of Bermuda amounted to
HK$144,249,000 (2018: HK$184,510,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this annual
report, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this annual
report is a connected transaction.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year

amounted to HK$372,000.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particular of bank borrowings as at 31 March 2019 are set out in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement schemes are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 236 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman)

Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Kam Hung
Prof. Luk Wing Ching (appointed on 1 September 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven

Mr. Chan Kit Wang

Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Mr.
Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan will retire by rotation in
accordance with Bye-law 111 of the Company’s Bye-laws. Prof. Luk
Wing Ching whose was appointed as director on 1 September 2018
will hold office until the annual general meeting in accordance with
Bye-law 115 of the Company’s Bye-law. All the retiring Directors are
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (CONTINUED)

Each of Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors is appointed for a term of one year.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, being Executive Director of the Company has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from 1 September 2002 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other. Mr. Ma Fung On, being
Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 1
April 2004 and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, being Executive Director, has entered into
a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 1 May 2015 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other. Save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors proposed for re-election has a service contract with
the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors consider the share option scheme, with its broadened
basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward the employees,
Directors and other selected participants for their contributions to the
Group and will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high caliber professional’s executives and employees who are
instrumental to the growth of the Group.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 6 August 2012, the
Company's share option scheme adopted on 17 September 2002 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and ceased to have any
further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme will remain
in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of the
options granted thereunder prior to termination thereof. A new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme"”) was adopted which
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 5 August 2022.

For details of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 5 July 2012.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:—

PR 42T (48)
FRREABZIBHEROT: —

Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant Options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The Directors consider the New Share Option Scheme will
enable the Group to reward its employees, Directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the Group and
will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention of
high calibre professionals, executives and employees who are
instrumental to the growth of the Group.

Who may join

The Directors (which expression shall include a duly authorized
committee thereof) may, at their absolute discretion subject
to the Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the
following classes of participants, to take up options to subscribe
for Shares:

(@) any employee (whether full time or part time including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

() any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

2.

54

Who may join (Continued)

(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangements to the
development and growth of the Group.

For the purposes of the New Share Option Scheme, the Options
may be granted to any company wholly owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.
For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any Options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who fall within any of the above
classes of participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors
otherwise determined, be construed as a grant of Option under
the New Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any of the above class of participants
to the grant of any Options shall be determined by the Directors
from time to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the issue share capital of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme was
40,503,000 shares (including 23,400,000 shares subject to
options that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised),
which represented 14.29% of the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

4,

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group (including both exercised, cancelled or outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit"). Any further grant of Options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall be
subject to the issue of a circular to the Shareholders and the
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company
with such participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
The number and terms (including the exercise price) of the
Options to be granted to such participant must be fixed before
Shareholders’ approval and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date of
grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise price under
note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an Option.

Exercise period of an option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day upon which the offer
for the grant of Options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

7.

56

Time and payment on acceptance

An offer of the grant of the Option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of
the Option and the Option in respect of the number of Shares
in respect of which the offer was so accepted will be deemed to
have been granted on the date of grant of the Options.

Minimum period and performance targets

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of Options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to hold an Option for any minimum period nor achieve
any performance targets before any Options granted under the
New Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective till 5 August 2022. After the expiry of such valid
period, no further options will be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the New Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect.

Details of the share option movements during the period from

1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 under the Old Share Option
Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:—
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFERE

RRARHEETE (48)

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme 9. WMEREMBZFERFER (M)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BREXRE
Lapsed
Outstanding Granted Exercised orexpired  Outstanding
at 1 April during the during the during the at 31 March  Exercise
2018 period period period 2019 price  Date of grant Exercisable period
RZB-NF RZB-NF
mA—-R BHA%¥ =ZA=t+-8
1 RATHE HRRE BRTE RER B RATHE THEE RHAH TES
(HK$)
(%)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho 2,200,000 = = = 2,200,000 2.158 19 January 2015 19 January 2015-18 January 2020
REFREL ZZ-RE-AtNAB  ZE-REE-ATNBEZZ-TE-ATNH
Mr. Ma Fung On 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
BEREE —E-RERA=TH ZE-RERAZHHEZZ=-§5xAZthH
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 2,000,000 = = = 2,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
RESET “B-RERAZTR  —E-AERASZTRE-R--FXA-TAA
- 800,000 = = 800,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
(Note 1) —B-N\ENA=TR —E-N\FNARA=+HE-R-=FN\A=1AA
(BfzET)
Mr. Lee Kam Hung 200,000 = 200,000 = = 1.780 21 March 2014 21 March 2014-20 March 2019
FRERE (Note 2) —Z-NF=A=+—-H —E-NFE=A-t+-HE-ZT-HNF=A=FH
(Fi&E2)
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, 200,000 - 200,000 - - 1.780 21 March 2014 21 March 2014-20 March 2019
Steven (Note 3) “2-WE=A-t-B —E-EF=A-t-RE-T-AF=A-tH
REHEE (BizE3)
Mr. Chan Kit Wang 200,000 = 200,000 = = 1.780 21 March 2014 21 March 2014-20 March 2019
BRAREE (Note 4) “T-ME=A-t+-B —FT-WE=A-t+-BE-T-NFZA=-TH
(BizEa)
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan 300,000 = = = 300,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
RAMELT ZB-REAAZTE  ZE-AERA=HHEZE--§XA=thA
Continuous Contract 50,000 = 50,000 = = 1.780 21 March 2014 21 March 2015-20 March 2019
Employees (Note 5) —E-NE=A-t+-H —E-hE=A-t+-BE-_T-NE=A-tH
SEANEER (BizEs)
Continuous Contract 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 2.158 19 January 2015 19 January 2015-18 January 2020
Employees “Z-R5-AthB ZZ-EF-A+tNBE-FT-TF-A+NH
KEANES
Continuous Contract 2,200,000 - 500,000 - 1,700,000 2.260 10 July 2015 10 July 2015-9 July 2020
Employees (Note 6) —Z-nftA+A “Z-AFtA+RAEZZ-ZFLANA
REANESR (E)
Continuous Contract 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 2.800 16 July 2015 16 July 2015-15 July 2019
Employees ZE-RFtA+AH  ZE-AFtATAHEZZ-AFtATEA
FRAHER
Continuous Contract 1,220,000 - - 320,000 900,000 2142 7 January 2016 7 January 2017-6 January 2021
Employees —Z-RF-A+A “T+F-AtREZZT-F—AXH
KEANES
Continuous Contract - 3,300,000 - - 3,300,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees (Note 1) ZZ-\FNA=tHR ZE-N\FAA=+RE-T-=F/\A=tAIR
REANESR (HsE1)
Others 400,000 = 200,000 200,000 = 1.780 21 March 2014 21 March 2014-20 March 2019
Hity (Note 7) (Note 8) ZE-MmEZAZ+T-H ZE-WEZA-+-HEZE-NF=ZA=-TH
(Bi5E7) (HizEs)
21,270,000 4,100,000 1,350,000 520,000 23,500,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

9.

58

Notes:

The closing price of the Company’s share immediately before the date (30
August 2018) on which the share options were granted was HK$2.090.

During the financial year, the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s share immediately before the date on which 200,000 share
options were exercised was HK$2.035.

During the financial year, the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s share immediately before the date on which 200,000 share
options were exercised was HK$2.173.

During the financial year, the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s share immediately before the date on which 200,000 share
options were exercised was HK$2.024.

During the financial year, the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s share immediately before the date on which 50,000 share
options were exercised was HK$2.273.

During the financial year, the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s share immediately before the date on which 500,000 share
options were exercised was HK$2.269.

Among 400,000 share options, 200,000 share options were granted to a

former director.

During the financial year, the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s share immediately before the date on which 500,000 share
options were exercised was HK$2.033.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

9.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFERE

RRARHEETE (48)

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme 9. WMEREMBZFERFER (M)
(Continued)
Details of the share option movements during the period from 1 H-_E-hNhFHNA—BE_ZE—NLF~
April 2019 to 26 June 2019 under the Scheme Option Scheme —t+RNBHEBEAN BRESTZIE TN ZEBR
are as follows:— BEEBFBEHOT: —
Number of share options
BREXRE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
at 1 April during the during the during the at 26 June  Exercise
2019 period period period 2019 price Date of grant Exercisable period
R-B-hE RZB-hE
HA-H AAZTAE
CEd B BRTE BRER MATE fRE  REAS e
(HKS)
(E7)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho 2,200,000 = = = 2,200,000 2.158 19 January 2015 19 January 2015-18 January 2020
REFHL “Z-R5-AthB ZE-EF-AtNABE-F-F5-A+NH
Mr. Ma Fung On 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
BERRE ZE-AFAAZTH ZE-AFAAZTBE-Z=-FXA-tAE
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 2,000,000 = = = 2,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
REEHT —E-REAA=TH ZE-R"ERA=tHEZZ=-£xA=thH
800,000 = = = 800,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
—2-N\ENA=TH - \FENA=tHE-Z==F\A=thH
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan 300,000 - - - 300,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
RasiEL ZE-AFAAZTH ZE-AFAAZTBEE-Z=-FXA-tAE
Continuous Contract 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 2.158 19 January 2015 19 January 2015-18 January 2020
Employees
REANESR ZZ-Rf-At+hA ZF-RF-ATNBE-ZT-ZF-A+NH
Continuous Contract 1,700,000 = = = 1,700,000 2.260 10 July 2015 10 July 2015-9 July 2020
Employees
REANESR ZT-EFtA+HE ZF-AFtATBEE-Z-ZFtANA
Continuous Contract 10,000,000 = = = 10,000,000 2.800 16 July 2015 16 July 2015-15 July 2019
Employees
REANESR ZF-RFtA+AA ZF-RAFtA+ABEZT-AFLA+ERA
Continuous Contract 900,000 - - 100,000 800,000 2.142 7 January 2016 7 January 2017-6 January 2021
Employees
REANESR “E2-R%-AtA "Rt -AtRE-E--F-AKH
Continuous Contract 3,300,000 = = = 3,300,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees
REANESR —E-\FN\A=+H ZE-\FNA=+BE-Z==F\A=tAE
23,500,000 = = 100,000 23,400,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and the short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they have taken
or deemed to have under such positions of the SFO) or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers
(the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:—

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company and its
associated corporation.
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EFERE

ReHEL

BEREAA

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED) EEREBRfGZ#E#E (1)
Interests in shares of the Company (a) RELAFIRMHZESR
Number of
underlying
Percentage shares held
of issued under equity
Number ordinary derivatives
Name of Director Capacity of shares Total interests shares (Note 1)
RAfTETR
BTHEER
HEEfT R EE
g 51 gk i BRAH EBRAEAH (BieE1)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Beneficial owner 6,930,000(L) 170,528,000(L) 60.15%(L) 2,200,000
REFEL ExBEAA 10,000,000(S) 3.53%(S)
Interests of controlled corporation 53,598,000(L)
RELEER 10.000,000(S)
(Note 2)
(P zE2)
Founder of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L)
RTINS (Note 3)
(KizE3)
Mr. Ma Fung On Beneficial owner 4,323,000(L) 14,223,000(L) 5.02%(L) 1,000,000
BEREE EnBEAA
Interests of controlled corporation 9,900,000(L)
REEEER (Note 4)
(KizEa)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk Beneficial owner 1,000,000(L) 111,000,000(L) 39.15%(L) 2,800,000
RREFT EnBEAA
Beneficiary of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L)
FEEAZHEA (Note 3)
(KizE3)
Mr. Lee Kam Hung Beneficial owner 200,000(L) 1,257,800(L) 0.44%(L)
TRELE EnBEAA
Interests of controlled corporation 1,057,800(L)
REEEER (Note 5)
(KizEs)
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven Beneficial owner 530,000(L) 530,000(L) 0.19%(L) -
BREEEE EnEAA
Mr. Chan Kit Wang Beneficial owner 200,000(L) 200,000(L) 0.07%(L) -
BARLE EREAA
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan Beneficial owner - - - 300,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

62

Interests in shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. These represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of the share
options granted by the Company, the details of which are set out in the

sub-section “Share Option Scheme”.

2. 53,598,000 shares are held by Billion Linkage Limited, the entire issued
shares of which is held by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and his spouse in equal share.

3. 110,000,000 Shares are held by Superior View Inc., the entire issued
shares of which is ultimately held by Fidelitycorp Limited as the trustee of
the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the family members of

Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

4. 9,900,000 Shares are held by Global Class Enterprises Limited, the entire

issued shares of which is held by Mr. Ma Fung On.

58 1,057,800 shares are held by Quick Fit Enterprises Ltd, the ultimate

shareholder is Mr. Lee Kam Hung.

6. (L) — Long Position, (S) — Short Position.

Interests in shares of the Company’s associated

corporation

Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1.00 each in Suga Electronics

Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company:

EERRMzES (])
REQFRMBZHEE ()

(a)

(b)

G

BB IEA AR ARG BEY K2 AR
Dt ARAFBEEN [RERE 8 Do

#%%53,598,000/% /%15 H Billion Linkage Limited
BE MZzAREBERTROMNBRERE
THEREEF—F-

5%%110,000,0000% J% {5 Fa Superior View Inc.#f
B MRARAEIHEETROBIERCH.RIERE
L2 55 A ZFidelitycorp Limitedf R #H A @ %=
AZEXBARREBEZHELZRE -
#.%9,900,000/% A% 5 i Global Class Enterprises
Limited %85 - Mz A B 2 HEHTRHAAS
EREERE-

% %51,057,800% f% {5 B3 Quick Fit Enterprises
LtdF5E  FTHHEERZ D AIREKRR

L~ S R

RELFHEBEERMZED

RARBIZ2EMBRABGEEETARLAF
FREE1.008 T2 EBRERELTKND

Number of
Non-voting

deferred Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity shares issued shares

EREE MHEBTRH

EEp &4 EERDBE Bo
(Note 1)
(PFEET)

Dr. Ng Chi Ho Interests of controlled corporation 3,680,000 92%
REFEL Ry LB (Note 2)
(P 7E2)

Mr. Ma Fung On Interests of controlled corporation 240,000 6%
FEREL SR s (Note 2)
(PffsE2)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)
(b) Interests in shares of the Company’s associated

corporation (Continued)
Notes:

1. These non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, are not entitled to
dividends, and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless
a sum of HK$10,000,000,000 per ordinary shares has been distributed to
the holders of ordinary shares.

2. The 4,000,000 non-voting deferred shares in Suga Electronics Limited are
held as to 80% by Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and 20% by Broadway
Business Limited. Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On hold 92% and
6% interests in each of Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway
Business Limited respectively.

Save as disclosed above and under the “Share Option Scheme”,
none of the Directors of the Company have any interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations as defined in
the SFO as at 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed in above section, at no time during the year was
the Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debenture of, the Company or anybody corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its parent
company, or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company, his connected entities were
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
According to the Bye-laws of the Company, every director of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no such competing business as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2019, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO and which have been recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to the section 336 of the SFO.

Name Capacity

mE/EB 8%

EFZEFREEX

BREARAAAMA AARALEFHERRE
THBBRERTEBRG S ERE LT WS
AR EER AR I ARRABERAAT
ZAERENFERAE - AAACARES
RERBERBLENEFRSRAME ETR

& o

ESRNUBERECED

EERR UEBEMNBEEHARXZMERAA
Br LR (LR REZHFER-

FERE

R-Z—AE=A=+—H BARRARESE
%R HEHISE336MTEZ B RMMBS T
FIAT (UFARNEFREBTRAR)RA
ATZRHRAEHEBRG T FEREDS RS
DI E XV S 2R3 BREANAA AHE
ZHEHRAAE

Number of Percentage of

shares issued shares

e BITRA

KRB ER Aotk
(Note 1)
(H7E1)

Beneficial owner
E=HEEA

Superior View Inc. (Note 1)
Superior View Inc. (Ff3E1)

Beneficial owner
E=HEEA

Billion Linkage Limited (Note 2)
Billion Linkage Limited (Fff#¥2)

Lee Wai Fun (Note 3) Interest of spouse

FEF (MFE3) B
Interest of controlled corporation
Ry LB
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110,000,000(L) 38.80%(L)

53,598,000(L)
10,000,000(S)

18.91%(L)
3.53%(S)
119,130,000(L) 42.02%(L)

53,598,000(L)
10,000,000(S)

18.91%(L)
3.53%(S)



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of Superior View Inc. is ultimately held by
Fidelitycorp Limited as trustee of the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which
are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

2. The entire issued share capital of Billion Linkage Limited is held by Dr. Ng Chi
Ho and his spouse in equal shares and, as such, Dr. Ng Chi Ho is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Billion Linkage Limited under the SFO.

3. Madam Lee Wai Fun is deemed to be interested in 119,130,000 shares (including
2,200,000 underlying shares held under equity derivatives) held by her spouse, Dr.
Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company.

4. (L) — Long Position, (S) — Short Position.

Save as disclosed above, as far as is known to the Directors, there
is no person, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, who has an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provision 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as at
31 March 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s largest customer for the year accounted for
approximately 15.4% of the Group's total revenue and the five
largest customers accounted for approximately 45.1% of the Group's
total revenue. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group accounted
for approximately 26.0% of the Group’s purchases while the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 38.8% of
the Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2019, the Company was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against the Company so far the
Company is aware.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 28 to 46.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offered
themselves for re-appointment.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”)

The Company has a serious commitment to ESG matters. A report on
the environmental, social and governance commitment can be found
on pages 67 to 92.

On behalf of the Board

Suga International Holdings Limited
NG Chi Ho

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG GOVERNANCE

This Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report is prepared
in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (HKEX ESG Reporting Guide) for
Suga International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (referred to in
this report as “the Group” or “SUGA") for the financial year ended
31 March 2019.

This report presents SUGA's compliance with the “Comply or Explain”
provision of the ESG Reporting Guide also within Appendix 27.

As a leading electronics total solutions provider in Hong Kong, SUGA
has a mission to contribute to the progress of society by providing
people with quality products and employing advanced technology,
with protecting the environment and serving the community always in
mind.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in ESG governance
and oversees the Group’s ESG activities. The Board is committed
to making continuous contributions to sustainable development
in environmental aspects and fulfilling its corporate social
responsibilities. Towards that end, the Board regularly assesses
the environmental, social and governance risks, formulates the
environmental, social and governance strategy, ensures the
establishment and maintenance of an effective internal control system
on the environmental, social and governance aspects of its business
and operations. At the same time, it performs regular analysis and
independent assessment on the adequacy and effectiveness of these
efforts through an internal audit function.

To ensure its sustainability efforts in ESG, the Group has established
an ESG Committee that reports to the board, comprising an Executive
Director and various department heads. The Board has assigned
authority to this ESG Committee to carry out various tasks including
internal (relevant for management and employees) and external
(relevant to stakeholders) materiality assessments, the scope of ESG
work, and the costs to and resources commitment from the Group.
To facilitate better internal control in fulfilling our ESG commitment,
SUGA has also established an “Environmental, Social Governance
Policy” (ESG Policy) to regulate and monitor ESG activities.
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BRE-HERELIHRE

REPORT SCOPE

This report covers the operations of SUGA’s core business in Hong
Kong and its plant in Dongguan, PRC highlighting SUGA's sustainable
efforts in Environmental Aspects (Aspect A) and Social Aspects
(Aspect B) and the material issues in these two general categories are
summarized in the following section.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ISSUES DISCLOSED IN
THIS REPORT

Material Issues

RERE

AHREREEENBTEROEBERERPER
=HEMNZE BEXNAEEAREER (B
HA)RMEER (BHEHB)WAFHEERELD
B MEZMASBEHNEREER T —&H

it o

REBEBRENEXETEHRE

Location of Disclosure

BEAEE REEE
Environmental — Emissions and Waste Aspect A1
BRI R RER [BEA1
Environmental — Use of Resources Aspect A2
RE-BREMR EHEA2
Environmental — Environmental and Natural Resources Aspect A3
B -BERRAER BEAS
Social — Employment Aspect B1
He—ERE JEHEB1
Social — Health and Safety Aspect B2
HE-REELE EHB2
Social — Development and Training Aspect B3
e — R LIE JE H B3
Social — Labor Standards Aspect B4
HE - TR [ HB4
Social — Supply Chain Management Aspect B5
Social — Product Responsibility Aspect B6
HE-EmBE JE T B6
Social — Anti-corruption Aspect B7
fteg—RES [EEB7
Social — Community Investment Aspect B8
HE-—HERE JE€ HBS
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There is no change in the material issues in this report when
compared with the ESG Report issued in the Group 2017/2018
Annual Report.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

SUGA values internal and external stakeholders’ views in all ESG
aspects, and therefore we conduct regular reviews in identifying and
understanding the main concerns and material interest of internal
and external stakeholders for the ESG report. The communications
channels for the review are as follows:

- Employee training and seminars

- Employee recreational and volunteer activities

- Intranet and emails

- Customer satisfaction survey

- Newsletters and notice board

- Corporate website

- Annual General Meeting and other shareholders meetings

- Annual Reports, Interim Reports and Announcements

- Community service programs

- Investor Relation programs
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

The Materiality Matrix after external and internal assessment is

HHEMER

REITINE R ARG R E S AR [ #

summarized as follows. o
Al4  A13 B6.1 BS.1
A15  A16 B6.2 BS.2
A2.1 B6.3
Al B6.4
o Al1.2 B6.5
[
3
° B2.1
% A3.1 B2.3
hio
£ e
§% A2.5 B3.1 B3.2
Eg B7.1 B7.2
= B5.2
£
4 & A2.2 B2.2
B i B1.1 B4.1
= B1.2 B4.2
©
c
]
% B5.1
w
A2.3
A2.4

Notes:

A1
A1.2
A1.3
Al.4
A1.5
A1.6
A2.1
A2.2
A2.3
A2.4
A2.5
A3.1
B1.1

B1.2
B2.1

B2.2
B2.3
B3.1

B3.2
B4.1

B4.2
B5.1

B5.2
B6.1

B6.2
B6.3
B6.4
B6.5
B7.1

B7.2
B8.1

B8.2

70

Types of Emissions and Respective Data

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Total Hazardous Waste Generation

Total Non-hazardous Waste Generation

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

Waste Management for Hazardous and Non-hazardous Substances
Direct and Indirect Energy Consumption

Water Consumption

Description of Energy Use Efficiency

Description of Water Efficiency

Total Packing Material Used for Finished Goods

Description of Significant Impact on the Environment and Natural Resources
Total Workforce by Gender and Level

Employee Turnover Rate by Gender

Number and Rate of Work-related Fatalities

Lost Days Due to Work Injury

Description of Occupational Health and Safety Measures Adopted
Percentage of Employees Trained by Gender and Level

Average Training Hours Completed

Measures to Avoid Child and Forced Labor

Steps to Eliminate Child and Forced Labor

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region

Practices to Engage Suppliers

Percentage of Recalled Finished Goods Due to Safety and Health Issues
Number of Complaints about Finished Goods and Services
Practices to Protect Intellectual Property

Quality Assurance and Recall Procedures

Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policy

Number of Concluded Corruption-related Legal Cases

Preventive and Whistle-blowing Measures

Focus Areas of Social Contribution

Resources (Money/Time) Contributed
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

FEEDBACK
SUGA values feedback from our stakeholders. If you have any
guestions or suggestions on the content or the form of reporting of

this ESG Report, you are welcome to contact us via the following:

Address: 22/F.,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road,
Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk

Telephone: 852-2953 0383

Fax: 852-2953 1523

REPORTING ON ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environment Sustainability

SUGA recognizes the importance of environmental sustainability
and is committed to protecting the environment. We incorporate
environmental considerations into business processes and maintain
an ongoing commitment to environment protection in line with
laws and regulations within Hong Kong and Mainland China. SUGA
has implemented various measures to achieve the following priority
objectives in environmental aspects:

- Reducing emissions of greenhouse gases and other pollutants
= Achieving savings in energy
- Reducing waste generation

In supporting the Group to develop an all-round corporate social
responsibility (CSR) and green culture, we have incorporated the
internationally-certified environmental management systems and
processes of 1SO14001 and QCO080000 in our operations and have
professionally informed employees through setting environmental
protection guidelines.

During this financial year, we have participated in various green
activities and garnered the following awards, certificates and

recognition for our efforts here.
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BRE-HERELIHRE

Awards and Certification
Organizer

REARBEEPREN

Awards and Certificates

BIARRE

Environmental Campaign Committee &
Environmental Protection Department
RREPZEGRRERES

China Quality Certification Centre
R EE = R EF D

SGS United Kingdom Limited

BSI Assurance UK Limited

Environmental Campaign Committee

REEHLRESR

Hong Kong Productivity Council (HKPC)
BB EETIRER

2018 Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence (HKAEE)
2018F B IRFEM A
Manufacturing & Industrial
Services — Certificate of Merit

REXNTERB A EBEE

Accreditation of ISO 14001:2015
ISO 14001: 2015 &

Accreditation of QC080000:2017
Accreditation of ISO 9001:2015
QC080000:2017R#F

ISO 9001:2015%3 7

Accreditation of ISO 13485:2016
ISO 13485:2016:2 &

Hong Kong Green Organisation
(2018-2020)
BB EHE

TE-NFEZT_FF)

Green Management Network

(2018-2019)

HFETBEERK
ZE-N\FE=T—NF)
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Awards and Certification

Organizer Awards and Certificates
RIERAEEIMEN RIAR AR
Bank of China Hong Kong 2018 Corporate Environmental o
R A Leadership Award — Eco Partner
Certificate -
2018 R IRRBLAANE —RRAE LN
- ety A B S

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council Federation HK Green Mark Certification Scheme

BEEBERES FB Qe RIREEETE
e
|m1:|:||'A'|=;x\-f"lnI;|H
PRC Guangdong Province Science High & New Technology Enterprises
Technology Bureau Certificate — ‘f { ok
o ) 3R A T B A B il AT B e gy
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Green Activities

BRRED

Green Power The 26th Green Power Hike — The Corporation/

gene Organization Cup — 10km
F26ERENERBITASITULLETIEEEL
EEER — 102BEES

Green Council Hong Kong Green Day

RRIZES EE#EHR

Green Council International Coastal Cleanup 2018 Hong Kong

RIREES 2018 BEEBRBRBRED
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ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS AND WASTE REDUCTION
SUGA is committed to protecting the environment by reducing
emissions of greenhouse gases as well as by reducing discharge of
harmful substances into water and land alike, and generation of
less hazardous and non-hazardous waste. We fully comply with the
relevant laws and regulations related to gas emissions and waste
management. Our emission KPIs are within a normal range when
compared with business companies of the same nature.

Aspect A1.1 & A1.2 Reduce Emissions from Fuel
Consumption and Greenhouse Gases Emissions

SUGA’s main sources of greenhouse gases and other polluting
emissions are electricity usage and our vehicle fleet. We manage to
reduce such emissions by measures such as monitoring electricity
consumption, implementing energy-saving measures and curtailing
use of our vehicle fleet as stated in Aspect A1.5 "Measures to
Mitigate Emissions”. The amount of gas emissions is calculated
according to HKEX “How to Prepare an ESG Report? Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued in November
2018.
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AT1.1 Emissions from Gaseous Fuel AT 14E 57 B #) -0/ —ZZE—+/

Consumption for the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 JEFEBEIK - —T—nF Z—ZT—)\F
NOx Emissions 493.01 Kg 610.77 Kg RE/ D BERR 493.01F%%  610.77F 5=
SOx Emissions 1.09 Kg 1.22 Kg mE b BERR 1.09F 5% 1.22F %
Particulate Matter (PM) Emissions 40.70 Kg 50.63 Kg SBF AL BEIR 40.70TF % 50.63T 52
Total Emissions of Pollutants 534.80 Kg 662.62 Kg 5 R B BERR 534.80F%  662.62F %

Total Emission of pollutants decreased mainly due to reducing use of
our fleet by careful implementation of transportation plans.

ERMBBRUR D E BB R FEE EE RS
i 3Rk > i A BB

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Al 2F A8 EmpE —=—N/ =ZZ=—+/

the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 BERL - —E—NF —E—N\F
Scope 1 — Direct Emissions 190.0 Tons 210.1 Tons g1 — EEHEW 190.0# 210.1MW8
Scope 2 — Indirect Emissions 5,818.5 Tons 5,411.1 Tons #IS2 —EE PN 5,818.50f 5,411 108
Total Emissions of Greenhouse Gases 6,008.5 Tons 5,621.2 Tons B E R AR 6,008.5 5,621.2M

Scope 2 — Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions increased was mainly
due to increase in electricity consumption which was related to
increase in sales volume in 2018/2019.
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Aspect A1.3 & A1.4 Reduce Generation of Hazardous &
Non-hazardous Waste

SUGA does not generate a large volume of hazardous waste
materials. Nevertheless, we have hired specialist contractors to
handle hazardous waste materials as a by-product from Raw Material
Incoming Quality Assurance (IQA) operations in the PRC Dongguan
Plant. In addition, only vendors that comply with RoHS (Restriction
of Hazardous Substance) and REACH (Registration, Evaluation,
Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals) codes are included in our
“Approved Vendors List”. And in order to ensure that our products
are environmentally-friendly, only approved vendors are permitted to
supply raw materials to us.

SUGA’s main source of non-hazardous waste is the rubbish generated
from business operations, and the Dongguan Plant Central Canteen
and Dormitory.

We have managed to reduce generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste by measures stated in Aspect A1.6 “Waste
Management for Hazardous and Non-hazardous Substances”

BEAMIRAMLRVELEFTERESE
E#H
EETEESEAEEEEN -BEWI BM
PEAEMONACEEERTRERZERE D
[R# ¥} 5| # E 2 {8 F (Raw Material Incoming
Quality Assurance) (IQAEBHTEANKES
ERER YN RERFERHS (BEEWER A
<) RREACH (ML B2 m et fit - AP 1l - RAEMR
#) TR EER S 0 ARMO [ZEHRER
BE | MRBZERERT AR FRESRE
NHEREMNERFEERERBATE -

EENEEENEIZRREHELEERREZRE
PRERE N ERTELMER -

BFAEEAIG [EEREEMENENERE]
PrEfE AR BEREZEMNESL

A1.3E NG &R -0/ —ZZT—+/

A1.3 Total Hazardous Waste for the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 AAE - —T-NF ZZZT—N\F
0 Kg 0 Kg 0F= 0F=

A1.4 Total Non-hazardous Waste AT.44F 47 Z B =N/ —ZE—+/
for the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 A= —T-NF ZZ-N\F
Industrial Waste 239,068 Kg 210,318 Kg TEH 239,068F % 210,318F 5=
Plastic 19,768 Kg 14,294 Kg B 19,768F 52  14,294F 5=
Garbage 196,247 Kg 178,361 Kg bavR4 196,247F5% 178,361F 5%
Food Residue 19,198 Kg 17,461 Kg RS 19,198F %  17,461F =
Total Non-hazardous Waste 474,281 Kg 420,434 Kg EEENRS 474,281 F 5  420,434F 52

Total Non-hazardous Waste increased mainly due to sales volume and
employee headcount increase in 2018/2019.
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Aspect A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

SUGA has implemented a wide range of measures to reduce
greenhouse gases and emissions of other pollutants highlighted
below:

= Implementing a Solar Panel Energy System at the Dongguan
Plant which can provide around 950,000 KWH of electricity per
annum

- Using LED lighting in all areas of the Hong Kong Office and the
Dongguan Plant in the PRC to save energy

- Monitoring electricity consumption by measuring monthly
electricity usage

- Deploying a frequency converter in production lines and the air-
conditioning system in the Dongguan Plant to save energy in
production

- Reducing use of our fleet by careful implementation of
transportation plans

- Installing various types of sensors for electricity switches in the
Dongguan Plant to reduce electricity consumption

- Installing smoke filters and electric ovens in the Central Kitchen
of the PRC Dongguan Plant to reduce smoke pollution

- Implementing guidelines and creating slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-
friendly concepts and encouraging them to live a green life

Aspect A1.6 Waste Management for Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Substances

Our waste management strategy is in line with the key 4R principles —
Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace.

We have undertaken the following measures to mitigate waste
generation:

- Hazardous waste is not a major issue in our operations,
nevertheless we have a team and lab to monitor hazardous
waste created during the IQA process

- Implementing and adhering to policies to recycle packing pallets
and carton boxes and reuse transit carton boxes ([E##H) to
reduce packing material usage

- Implementing recycling programs to reduce paper-based waste

- Implementing and adhering to policies to use environmentally-
friendly raw materials at the product design stage
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ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES

We have adopted a variety of practices and guidelines to continually
improve our energy efficiency in our production operations.
Meanwhile, we remain committed to finding new ways to reduce
energy consumption by improving the performance of machinery and
use of infrastructure.

SUGA’s main usage of energy is for electricity at our facilities and fuel
consumption by our vehicle fleet. We manage direct and/or indirect
energy consumption by monitoring monthly energy consumption,
and educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-
friendly concepts and practices. Water consumption is not a materially
important area for SUGA. Much of our water consumption is for
cleaning and sanitation at the Dongguan Plant Dormitory, as well as
use at the Dongguan Plant Central Canteen. Nevertheless, we have
implemented practices and guidelines to manage water consumption
at a reasonable level.

Our efforts in this direction include:

- Implementing a Solar Panel System at the Dongguan Plant to
generate renewable energy and reduce electricity consumption

- Modernizing our air-conditioning system and production
machinery to save energy

- Implementing guidelines and creating slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-
friendly concepts

- Installing sensors on water taps in the Dongguan Plant to
reduce water usage

- Implementing paperless e-procurement and e-production and
material planning systems to reduce paper consumption

- Implementing a paperless office system for business operation
to reduce paper consumption

- Initiating a policy to reduce usage of packing materials for
finished goods at the product design stage

- Implementing procedures to reduce packing materials in the
production process

Rubbish separation for recycling resources
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Aspect A2.1 Direct and/or Indirect Energy BEA21EER SFEEREFRHEE
Consumption
—F-\/ 2t/
Resources Consumption for the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 FRERHF —I-NF —Z2-)\f
1. Electricity 1.8/ (781818720 Rk
(excluding 818,720 KWh (Z2-t/Z2-N\&:
(2017/2018: 952,160 KWh) 952,160F Lk ) KA Grge R
solar panel electricity) 9,011,500 KWh 8,414,580 KWh EN) 9,011,500FFLBs 8414580 B
2. Diesel 36,581 Liters 44,809 Liters 2. 5% 36,5817 44,8097
3. Petrol 34,194 Liters 33,634 Liters 3. A 34,1947t 33,6347

Electricity consumption increased was mainly due to sales volume MEEENEFZHR=T—N\ /T NLFHH

increased 11.41% in 2018/2019. EEWMT11.41% °
Aspect A2.2 Water Consumption BEA2.28EKE
2N/ -2t/
Water Consumption for the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 FRFEN - —T-NEF —T-\F
Water consumed 134,613 m? 119,337 m? FK 134,61332 75K  119,33732 /5K

Water consumption increased was mainly due to headcount increased FEXKEEMEZHER =T —/\ /T —NLFH

9.01% in 2018/2019. ANBIEINT9.01%
Aspect A2.5 Packing Material Consumption BEA2SBRMEER
-/ —2—+/
Packing Material Consumption for the Year: 2018/2019 2017/2018 FEREREYREEFE - —ZT-NEF —T-)\%F
Packing Material consumed 1,079,644 Kg 1,026,634 Kg B 1,079,644F 5%  1,026,634F %
Intensity 641Kg/ 680Kg/ B 641F 5%,/ 680F 52,/
HK$M Sales HK$M Sales BEATHESR O8ATHER

Packing Material consumption intensity decreased mainly due to BEMEERZERSETZHREKMHBE
reducing packing material for our finished goods. MR D o

FEEBEBREBEER AR 2018/19F =, 79
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ASPECT A3: IMPACT ON ENVIRONMENTAL AND
NATURAL RESOURCES

The nature of our industry does not have a serious impact on
environmental and natural resources. SUGA has established ESG
Policies which include stringent measures in place to reduce
greenhouse gases and control emissions of pollutants. We have also
implemented measures to reduce production of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Moreover, to promote environmental awareness among our
employees, SUGA has created guidelines, slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy saving and environmentally-friendly
concepts. We encourage our employees to live a green lifestyle.

SUGA's activities and operations have had no significant adverse
impact on the environment and natural resources during the financial
year ended 31 Mar 2019.

REPORTING ON SOCIAL ASPECTS

Corporate Social Responsibility

As one of Hong Kong’'s leading providers of total electronics
solutions, fulfilling our corporate social responsibility is one of our
objectives. SUGA is committed to operating in a manner that is
economically, socially and environmentally sustainable. We have put
in place policies, practices, procedures, guidelines and measures to
achieve our corporate social responsibility objectives in environmental
and social aspects.

SUGA also has a mission of benefiting society through participating
in community activities and donations. SUGA's corporate social
responsibility has a core value to benefit society and protect the
environment. To fulfill that responsibility, we are committed to
conducting business in a manner that respects society and the
environment. Our environmental and social responsibility practices
positively contribute to the community and protect the environment
through donations, volunteer works and environmentally-friendly
practices. For cleaner production, SUGA has adopted energy
conservation measures to reduce environmental risks and liabilities.
We also work to raise awareness and involvement in environmental
protection among our employees at all levels and always encourage
them to engage in green activities with their families. In the future,
SUGA intends to continue ongoing efforts to fulfil our commitment to
environmental protection as well as support sustainable development
at the local and global level. We believe that through our efforts in
environmental protection and community activities we can make our
world a better place to live.
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ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT

SUGA employs around 2,000 employees in Hong Kong and the
PRC. We are committed to providing a rewarding work environment
for our employees that encourages collaboration and offers them
opportunities to learn, grow and succeed at work. The commitment
has been incorporated into our Human Resources policies and
practices and the Employee Handbook.

SUGA is in compliance with the following laws and regulations of the
People’s Republic of China (PRC) and Hong Kong (HK) concerning
employment.

1. Labor Law of the PRC

2. Law of the PRC on Employment Contracts

3. Minority Protection Law of the PRC

4. PRC Provision on the Prohibition of Child Labor

5. Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

6. Hong Kong Employment of Children Regulation

7. Hong Kong Minimum Wage Ordinance

8. Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance

9. Hong Kong Employee’s Compensation Ordinance

Recruiting and retaining competent and professional employees is
vital to our success and we aim to attract, motivate and retain the
best people for our business operations. To achieve this, we provide
a competitive employment package consisting of monetary and non-
monetary rewards for our employees. Our comprehensive reward
system offers a discretionary incentive bonus, sales commissions,
share options, group medical insurance protection, and retirement
protection. Our employer contribution for the Mandatory Provident

Fund (MPF) exceeds the legal requirement and we offer additional
holidays to promote the well-being of employees.
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At the same time, we help our employees pursue a work-life
balance and live a healthy and fulfilling life. Our Human Resources
Department organizes a range of social, sports and recreation
activities, including local tours, barbeques, dinner gatherings and
sports competitions to enrich our employees’ lives.

We treat all employees and job applicants fairly and equally regardless
of their gender, sexual orientation, marital status, race, color,
nationality, religion, age or disability. We have zero tolerance of
harassment and discrimination in any form.

Employee Communication

Promoting a corporate culture of open communication is one of
the keys to sustaining our success. We encourage employees at
all levels to express their views and make suggestions through a
variety of channels, including face-to-face meetings, gatherings with
management, a quarterly employee satisfaction survey and more. Our
intranet and notice board keep employees up-to-date on company
news across the Group. In addition, we have provided a suggestion
box for employees to submit advice or inform the management about
problems.

SUGA complies with all relevant Hong Kong and PRC laws and
regulations related to working hours, rest periods and overtime pay.
We provide workers overtime pay for working time beyond regular
working hours. In addition, we strive to amicably resolve any labor-
related matters through dialogue and resolutions with relevant
employees.

Employee Welfare and Working Conditions

We operate a canteen and a dormitory at our Dongguan Plant,
which provides employees with reasonably-priced meals and lodging.
Also we operate a Clubhouse and other recreational facilities at the
Dongguan Plant, including a gym, Karaoke and a cinema theater for
employees’ entertainment during their leisure time.

Our service excellence award and long service awards recognize the
outstanding contributions, commitment and loyalty of our employees.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any incident of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have significantly
affected the Group relating to employment, occupational health or
labor standards.
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B1.1 Total Employees Headcount BIL.IEE# AR
As at As at
31 Mar 31 Mar RZE-RE RZZT-N\F
2019 2018 =B=+—-H =A=+—H
By Gender Headcount  Headcount el N A
Female 988 1,026 % 988 1,026
Male 1,105 894 £y 1,105 894
Total 2,093 1,920 me 2,093 1,920
By Rank Headcount  Headcount BRAR A¥ AE
Senior 104 81 = E 104 81
Staff 432 364 8T 432 364
Worker 1,557 1,475 IA 1,557 1,475
Total 2,093 1,920 B 2,093 1,920
B1.2 Employee Average Turnover Rate B1.2ER FoR K F
As at As at
31 Mar 31 Mar RZZ-RE R-ZT-N\F
By Gender 2019 2018 &£ Bl =A=t—-H =A=1+—A
Female 5.83% 6.97% it 5.83% 6.97%
Male 7.61% 5.89% St 7.61% 5.89%
As at As at
31 Mar 31 Mar RZZB-RFE R-Z-N\EF
By Rank 2019 2018 AR =B=+-H =A=+—H
Senior 2.10% 2.11% = E 2.10% 2.11%
Staff 2.91% 2.64% BT 2.91% 2.64%
Worker 8.08% 7.66% ITA 8.08% 7.66%

FEEBEBREBEER AR 2018/19F =, 83
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

As a company caring for our employees, we are committed to
maintaining a healthy and safe work environment in compliance
with all relevant Hong Kong and PRC laws and regulations. We
have included related guidelines in the Dongguan Plant Employee
Handbook and posted Hong Kong Labour Department Occupational
Health and Safety Guidelines on the Hong Kong Notice Board to
educate employees about Occupational Safety and Health concepts.
In addition, we have employed an Occupational Safety and Health

BEB2 - RRERZ

EABEREMNAR BMNEAEEE—EARFE
EBENMPBENMERBZEZZ R ERNRERENZ
EHNIEREBE -BMEERZHEREE FMm
AHBES UTHEBLTIRENBELZELE
RIESI RN BB S IRARES ERBES
E2REEES N RMERREREER—
FEERERFHEBEABEL 2 RERE
E'Mmdlﬁ INRBET -REFER AEEE

(OSH) Officer in the Dongguan Plant to handle safety issues measures, f8&iE F#EEBEE T ERBEG T -
aiming to reduce industrial accidents and injuries. During the year,
there was no serious work-related injuries throughout the Group’s
operations.
—Eg-0N/ —2—+/
2018/2019 2017/2018 —BE-hE —T—)\F
B2.1 Number of work-related fatalities 0 persons 0 persons B2.1 TEMEBRT A oA 0A
Number of work-related injuries 1 case 2 cases TEHBZ S AR EGEEEES PAENEES
B2.2 Lost days due to work injuries 3 days 51 days B22 AIBEANIERE 3R 51H

Remark: The work-related injuries have been handled and related issues were

resolved.

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We consider the professional growth of our employees to be one of
the keys to sustainable business growth. We continue to promote
a culture conducive to learning and offer career development and
training programs to all levels of employees to ensure they are well-
prepared to perform their duties through paying for or subsidizing
their attendance at seminars, forums or exhibitions. In addition, we
have a Company Training Sponsorship Scheme to encourage our
employees to enroll in further education courses to support their
career development. With prior approval from the Group, courses
and examination fees for further education may be organized or
reimbursed upon attainment of successful academic qualifications.

As for newly recruited employees, we have a training program
in place, including orientation and on-the-job training, to ensure
they can properly perform their duties in line with the Group’s

expectations.
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B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained BL.1Zi{EEESL
—2-\/ —E2—+/
By Gender 2018/2019  2017/2018 ZIEF) —E-hE —T-)\%&
Female 93% 92% e 93% 92%
Male 94% 94% Bt 94% 94%
B3.2 Average Training Hours B3.2 F 319 1% Al BF B
2018/2019 2017/2018 “B-0\/-B-7f —T-—+t/2F-N\%
Average Hours Average Hours
Per head Per head BE =33
Total Hours per annum Total Hours per annum BRE  AHKE BBy AUKH
Male 30,087 Hours 29.10 Hours 25,266 Hours 27.00 Hours S 30,087 NBEF 29.10 /NEF 25,266 /N 27.00 /N
Female 30,479 Hours 28.30 Hours 27,487 Hours 25.19 Hours T 30479 /NE 2830 /M 27,487 /NEF 25.19 /)ES
Total 60,566 Hours 52,753 Hours BE 60,566 )\ 52,753 /N E

ASPECT B4: LABOR STANDARDS

We are committed to protecting human rights and comply with
all relevant Hong Kong and PRC laws and regulations concerning
human rights. We have a zero-tolerance policy towards the use of
forced labor and child labor in our business operations and require
our vendors to accept and observe our Supplier Code of Conduct,
which forbids forced and child labor. We will immediately terminate a
vendor if it is found to be employing forced or child laborers. SUGA
complies with the People’s Republic of China (PRC) and Hong Kong
(HK) laws and regulations concerning labor standards as stated in
Aspect B1 above.

ASPECT B5: POLICIES ON MANAGING
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISK IN OUR
SUPPLY CHAIN

We have business relationships with suppliers all around the globe
that provide us with a wide variety of raw materials, equipment and
services. The Group has set up policies and procedures to manage its
supply chain in fulfillment of its corporate social responsibilities and
to provide good quality products to customers. It also has in place a
comprehensive supplier quality management mechanism to control
quality accreditation and carry out inspection and factory supervision
of products.
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In order to manage environmental and social risk, the Group's
Dongguan Plant has incorporated the ISO 9001:2015, I1SO
14001:2015, QC 080000:2017 and ISO 13485:2016 accredited
procedures in the management of its supply chain. The supply chain
policy has specific supplier requirements on business ethics, quality
standards and public responsibilities for the process of supplier
approval, evaluation, strategic supplier development and materials
procurement.

Moreover, the Group has achieved RoHS (Restriction of Hazardous
Substance) and WEEE (Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment)
compliance certifications and complies with REACH (Registration,
Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals) standards for
our products. Furthermore, we conduct RoHS testing for incoming
raw materials to ensure they are free of hazardous substances.

In the future, SUGA will continue to fulfill its commitment to
environmental protection and also support sustainable development
at both the local and global level.

Supply Chain Management Practices

SUGA has well-established procedures for supplier selection and
evaluation. New suppliers are required to undergo an evaluation
process which considers their technical capabilities, quality and
sustainability performance and only suppliers thus qualified can be
included in our Approved Vendor List. For existing suppliers, periodic
verification processes and site audits are conducted to ensure their
continued compliance with the Group’s Supply Chain Policy. A vendor
unable to comply with our supply chain requirements is deleted from
our Approved Vendors List and is subsequently not permitted to
provide us with raw materials or services.

ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has established policies and practices to ensure its
operations comply with applicable laws and regulations. The
management is responsible for monitoring the Group’s policies and
practices ensuring they are in line with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, and that those policies and practices are regularly
reviewed for adequacy. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought as necessary to the attention of the relevant
employees and operating units. In addition, we have implemented
practices to fulfill product safety requirements at the product
design stage. The Group has also established a policy to obtain any
certification required to ensure the finished goods are environmentally
friendly, healthy and safe. In addition, the Group is committed to
ensuring that our products comply with relevant laws and regulations
of the countries where these products are sold.
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We have established Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES) to
enhance the product quality management and product traceability/
tracking.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
incident of non-compliance with laws and regulations that has had a
significant impact related to its product responsibilities.

Customer Complaint Policy

The Group has established a Customer Complaint Policy to ensure
that customer complaints are promptly and efficiently handled. The
policy includes a provision for the concerned parties to work together
to find the reasons for any defects and responsibilities and then re-
work the rejected finished goods. At the same time, we regularly
communicate with customers to collect their feedback and opinions.

B6.1 Percentage of Total Products Sold or Shipped
Subject to Recall for Safety and Health Reasons

No products have been sold or shipped which were subject to recall
for safety and health reasons during this financial year.

B6.2 Number of Complaints Received Related to
Products and Services

No complaints have been received for the products sold and services
rendered during this financial year.

Aspects B6.3 & B6.5 Intellectual Property Policy and
Customer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

The Group has a strict policy in place to sign a formal Non-Disclosure
Agreement to protect customers’ intellectual property (IP). Also, the
Group has applied for intellectual property rights certification for its
own products and designs, thus its standard practice is not to infringe
on the IP rights of other parties.

Aspect B6.4 Quality Assurance Procedures and Recall

Procedures

The Group has established quality assurance procedures to ensure
that incoming raw materials, work-in-progress and finished
goods meet the products’ quality specifications and comply with
environmentally-friendly, health and safety requirements. At the same
time, the Group has established recall procedures to handle recalled

or defective products.
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ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

SUGA is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. We have a zero-tolerance policy regarding bribery and
corruption in any form or at any level in association with any aspect
of the Group's activities. Our Employee Code of Conduct is specified
in the SUGA Employee Handbook which clearly states that the Group
shall not tolerate any illegal or unethical acts. Any employee in
violation of the Code of Conduct would be appropriately disciplined,
including termination of employment in serious cases.

Our Code of Conduct includes the terms for compliance with the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, as well as provisions for Soliciting
Advantages, Accepting Advantages, Offering Advantages, Accepting
Entertainment, Use of Proprietary Information, Confidentiality,
Handling of Conflict of Interest, Misuse of the Group’s Assets
and Resources, Loans and Outside Employment which are also in
compliance with the Hong Kong Anti-Corruption Ordinance. Our
employees are regularly advised of relevant policies and guidelines,
including any updates or revisions. In addition, we regularly arrange
for the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption to
hold seminars to educate our employees about anti-corruption laws
and concepts.

The Group was not aware of any breach of laws and regulations
relating to bribery that have had a significant impact on its business.

Aspect B7.1 Number of Concluded Corruption-Related
Legal Cases

BHEB7 - RES
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é@ﬂ BRI Em LR THBELRE
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ERBTSASEENARETE SR EME
SRS R E TR (LB B 10iE R 125 A
CETHENLERD BEABEBER T E
1218 -

FAPT B9 32 57 ST BRI 0 A B ST B Lk B B AR ) B 16
R MEBERRMNGE BEXME RBEMNE &
EMM ﬁ%ﬁgﬁﬂ-%fﬁm B IE A a5

ERASEEERER EXRINEBERAD
MX&&E %iﬁﬁ%% ﬁﬁ%@a%*
HEAMEBBREIES - BREREHNKER -
AN BPIERRHEERREERZERT
NEUNHBERMNEERBHEZRRH -

AEEMERRHEEBEEAR
REGEESEE RIERIBIMN °

BEB7.1IEEHENAESHREERRNS
& H

Z- SR CIp

—2-N/ —T—+/
2018/2019 2017/2018 —E-NE —T-)\%F

Number of concluded legal cases BE&ENESEH
related to corruption 0 0 ERRMNEE 0 0

ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

SUGA is committed to participating in volunteer activities and making
charitable donations in order to benefit society. In fulfilling our CSR
mission, our employees have participated in various community
activities and made donations during this financial year. SUGA
remains committed to participate in volunteer works and continuously
contribute donations in the future. In addition to activities aimed
at bettering society, SUGA has extended its efforts to worthwhile
humane causes by donating pet food to selected PRC private shelters
for stray cats and dogs.

We have participated in the following community activities and

have garnered awards and been accredited certifications during this
financial year.
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Awards and Certifications

RIERADE
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BR-HEREIRE

The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service

BAELERBGH S

Hong Kong Productivity
Council (HKPC)
EREENRER

Agency for Volunteer
Service

BEHRTIERRE

Promoting Happiness

Index Foundation
BERAREEBEHEES
Hong Kong Productivity
Council (HKPC)
EREENRER

5 Years+ Caring Company Logo

S5 Plus [ ARBE] Z:&

The 9th Hong Kong Outstanding
Corporate Citizenship Logo
FIOEBBHLEEARFETER
Enterprise Category

EAR

Hong Kong Community Volunteers
2018 (Corporate Member)
20188 RTHE (h¥EE)
Certificate of Appreciation, Achieved
478 Service Hours

Sk - BIRAT8ME AR 75 /)N By

Happiness-at-Work Promotional
Scheme
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Happy Company 2019 Label
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Activities
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Community
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Wofoo Social
Enterprises

and the Water
Supply Department
MEHEEER
IKTEE

Agency for Volunteer
Service

EBRTEERER

The Community Chest
of Hong Kong
BERNEmE

The Hong Kong
Enterprises
Association of
Dongguan Qingxi
Rma R B bk
e

Hong Kong Water Race 2019

FBKEEEM2019

AVS Charity Walk and Run

for Volunteering 2018
AVSE I F&175%2018

50th Anniversary Walk for

Millions
NEXES0RFHEIT

The 18th Distance Run

Activity in December 2018

2018 12AE+N\&E
R A E

Annual Report 2018/19
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Hong Kong
Water Race 2019
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Activities

& B

Community The Community Chest Mooncakes for Charity

G of Hong Kong N H 8

Community The Community Chest Love Teeth Day 2018/2019

G of Hong Kong A= EFH2018/2019
BB RNmE

Sponsorship & Donation

BYRER
Sponsorship ~ Outward Bound BOCHK Outward Bound
B Hong Kong Corporate Challenge

BB INEFIBREBR December 2018
HRERE A INRE HLE20184
128

Sponsorship  Design for Change Sponsorship for 2018
=93 Hong Kong Community Project
ERBIETEHE EBitmIEH2018
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Sponsorship & Donation

BERBEXK

Sponsorship
=§:)]

Sponsorship
=43

Sponsorship
& B

Sponsorship
2B

Donation

B

World Vision Hong Kong
ERERERE

The Chinese University of Hong Kong
EN LN

The Chinese University of Hong Kong
BBRXKRE

Vocational Training Council

BEIRRB

Selected PRC private shelters for stray cats

and dogs
Fh B L 2 B ) e R A

Child Sponsorship
B&E R E

Suga International Holdings Limited Scholarships
2018/2019
FEERSEESS 2018/2019

United College Sponsorship 2018
e EREBR) 2018

VTC Design Education Fund 2018/2019
VTCRRET A £ 4£2018/2019

Donation of Pet Food
BHEEMRY
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=
pwc

To the Shareholders of Suga International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Suga International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 235, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
5 3L 1% By B 3R

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o Impairment of inventories

o Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Impairment of inventories

Refer to note 15 “Inventories” and note 4 “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” to the consolidated financial statements

At 31 March 2019, the Group held net inventories amounting to
HK$288,622,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (“NRV") in the consolidated financial statements.
The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if they are aged and
damaged, or become obsolete, or if their selling prices have been
declined.

Management determined the lower of cost and NRV of inventories by
considering the ageing profile, inventory obsolescence and estimated
selling price of individual inventory items.

Management calculated the NRV at period end based on the
estimated selling price less selling expenses, taking into account
historical experience of selling products of similar nature and
expectation of future sales based on current market condition.

Management applied a provisioning methodology for slow moving
inventories based on inventory ageing and made specific provision for
long aged inventories. It also conducted periodic review on inventory
obsolescence, including performance of periodic inventory counts and
review of holding period for individual inventory items.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the balance to the
financial position of the Group, and the significant judgement and
estimates involved in determining the provision for impairment of
inventories.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
5 3L 1% By B 3R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Impairment of inventories (Continued)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We understood and validated the control procedures performed
by management, including its procedures in estimating the NRV
of the inventories and conducting periodic review on inventory

obsolescence.

We observed management’s inventory counts to identify whether
there is any damaged or obsolete inventories.

We tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing profile of
individual inventory item by checking to the underlying procurement
correspondences and invoices.

We tested on a sample basis, the subsequent usage or sales of
selected inventory items, obtained through the usage or sales
reports subsequent to the year end as a basis to identify inventory
obsolescence. Where there are no subsequent usage or sales of the
respective items after year end, we discussed with management their
assessment on estimated future utilisation, corroborating explanations
with the inventory ageing, sales orders and marketability of the

relevant finished goods by using our industry knowledge.

We also tested on a sample basis, the NRV of selected inventory items
by comparing the selling price subsequent to the year end against
the carrying values of individual finished goods. Where there are
no subsequent sales of the respective finished goods after the year
end, we discussed with management as to the realisable value of the
products, corroborating explanations with the inventory ageing, sales
orders, historical margins, and current market conditions by using our
industry knowledge and external market analysis, as appropriate.

We consider the provision for obsolete or slow moving inventories as
at 31 March 2019 was supportable by available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Refer to note 17 “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
and note 4 “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” to the

consolidated financial statements

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held redeemable convertible
promissory notes and warrants of an investee (the “Investee”) with
carrying value of HK$25,576,000. Such financial assets are recognised
at fair value on initial recognition and require subsequent re-
measurement at fair value at each period end.

Management engaged an independent professional valuer to perform
valuation for such financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. Equity value of the Investee is derived using discounted cash
flow model, based on which binomial model is applied to value the
redeemable convertible promissory notes and warrants held by the
Group.

Key parameters and assumptions adopted in the valuation include
forecasted business performance of the Investee and straight bond
discount rate.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the balance and
the fair value gain recognised to the financial position and results of
operations of the Group, respectively, and the significant judgement
and estimates involved in the valuation of such financial assets.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We assessed the competence, capability and objectivity of the
independent valuer.

We involved our internal valuation specialist in our discussion with
management and the independent valuer to understand the rationale
of the chosen valuation method and the parameters applied, based
on which we assessed the appropriateness of the methodology used
and the reasonableness of the assumptions applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
5 3L 1% By B 3R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss [Continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)

With the assistance of our internal valuation specialist, we performed
market researches on straight bond discount rate to assess the
reasonableness of the parameters applied.

Further, we discussed with management of the Investee their
overall future business plan. Based on the explanations provided
by the Investee’s management and our knowledge of its business
and industry, we assessed the reasonableness of the bases and
assumptions adopted by management in assessing the forecasted
business performance of the Investee.

We consider the valuation of such financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as at 31 March 2019 was supportable by
available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is

a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
5 3L 1% By B 3R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Po Wah, Pauline.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

FERERRSR

As at 31 March 2019 R=—ZFE— hWF=F=+—H

31 March 31 March
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
=H=+—-H =HA=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &t FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Land use rights =+ bk A A 6 48,849 51,994
Property, plant and equipment e 7 261,580 297,178
Intangible assets EILEE 9 2,681 3,319
Goodwill S 10 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REENR 2R 12 = 3,623
Available-for-sale financial assets AN ENBEE - 6,242
Financial assets at fair value through BAFETAEMEERRAZ
other comprehensive income WBEE 14 6,910 =
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFELABRZ
profit or loss HBEE 17 25,576 3,757
Loans receivable BRI EOR 18 1,063 =
Deferred income tax assets BRIEFEHEE 21 2,330 1,782
Non-current prepayments and FER B TEAS FIE &
other receivables H b fE U 5K I8 16 13,374 3,074
366,312 374,918
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 15 288,622 268,742
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5) 85 5k K A B GR IR 16 251,905 233,201
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFELABRZ
profit or loss HBEE 17 1,531 =
Loans receivable B ROE W ROE 18 1,125 2,500
Tax recoverable AT Y =] Fi 18 147 1,097
Amounts due from associates & B = A B SR8 12 5,085 4,149
Time deposits over three months =@ANFEEHER 19 — 15,500
Pledged bank deposits BHERITHFER 19 115 =
Cash and cash equivalents Be RS EEY 19 127,826 165,105
676,356 690,294
Total assets EE#AE 1,042,668 1,065,212
LIABILITIES a8fE
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Bank borrowings RITIBEE 20 — 3,759
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFEHAE 21 357 504
357 4,263

102 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2018/19




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HERERRSR

As at 31 March 2019 R—ZFE— AF=F=+—H

31 March 31 March
2019 2018
—2-h&E -—T-N\F
=A=+-H =A=+—H
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Bt it TH&ER FET
Current liabilities REBAEME
Trade and other payables FETE 5 AR 3R % B A JE A~ 5k I8 22 212,688 258,093
Contract liabilities AHBE 22 27,622 =
Income tax payable FE A PR A5 1t 7,814 6,096
Bank borrowings RITEE 20 69,537 65,155
317,661 329,344
Total liabilities EEHE 318,018 333,607
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners of the RNARHE ANEEERS
Company
Share capital AR 7R 23 28,349 28,214
Other reserves E 25 100,174 122,940
Retained earnings 1R & F 25 595,108 578,986
723,631 730,140
Non-controlling interests FEPEHI M A 1,019 1,465
Total equity BT 724,650 731,605
Total equity and liabilities BERkEBERHE 1,042,668 1,065,212

The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 235 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019 and were signed

on its behalf.

Ng Chi Ho

RER
Director

4

The notes on pages 109 to 235 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

F102E223ENGAMBHRREN_F—1LF
NAZ+TABEE=e#E Yd TIEFEK

REE

Ma Fung On

BEZ
Director
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HFelaE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —FE—NWF=HA=+—HILFEF

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
K1t TH& T FATT

Revenue W 75 26 1,681,862 1,510,504
Cost of sales $H & BN 27 (1,454,879) (1,279,356)
Gross profit E R 226,983 231,148
Distribution and selling expenses DENEEB A 27 (57,982) (46,690)
General and administrative expenses —BERITHRERESZA 27 (108,585) (106,188)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 81 7% & & 5 (B &5 18 /% 58 12, 16 (5.383) -
Other income H A 28 1,910 1,798
Other gains, net H it Ug 25 5 58 29 8,581 2,866
Operating profit LR 65,524 82,934
Finance income B & WA 30 3,148 4,204
Finance costs B & AR 30 (5,038) (5,179)
Finance costs — net RENRA—F5E 30 (1,890) (975)
Impairment loss on interest R—EBE AR 2 s 12

in an associate BB E R (1,972) =
Share of losses of associates FE(ERBE & N T E R 12 (1,651) (2,375)

(3.623) (2,375)
Profit before income tax B BT 15 76 Al g A 60,011 79,584
Income tax expense TS i F 31 (4,900) (6,047)
Profit for the year F R A 55,111 73,537
Profit attributable to: B R
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ =N 55,557 74,111
Non-controlling interests FETE I M (446) (574)
55,111 73,537

Earnings per share for profit FNAERBHEE AERF

attributable to owners of the "= R & A

Company during the year
— Basic (HK cents) —HAR (B 32 19.64 26.29
- Diluted (HK cents) — s (B 32 19.63 26.11

The notes on pages 109 to 235 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEREBAR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —F—NWF=A=+—HIFFEF

2019 2018
=E-hF ZE-N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B &t F&T FHET
Profit for the year FREF 55,111 73,537
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: HfhZ2® (&iE) WA :
Items that may be reclassified HEAEE 7 EERm
subsequently to profit or loss: HE
Exchange differences arising on REGINEIB AR FTEA
translation of foreign subsidiaries N ER (24,982) 37,401
Fair value loss on available-for-sale AMHENBEE
financial assets NEEEE - (10,197)
Items that will not be reclassified R T eE 2R
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEA
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair QAT ELAEMEZEBA
value through other comprehensive LHBEEZATEERE
income 14 (882) -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FRNHEMEME (EE) WA
the year (25,864) 27,204
Total comprehensive income for FRAEZEWALE
the year 29,247 100,741
Profit attributable to: BREER:
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEF =N 29,693 101,315
Non-controlling interests FE 12 I R 2 (446) (574)
29,247 100,741

The notes on pages 109 to 235 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEREDR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —FE—NWF=HA=+—HILFEF

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERREE AN
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings interests Total
I
R 2 Hiti##E  RERA B BE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHET FET FET

Balance at 1 April 2017 R-ZE—tEWMA—RAz#&th 28,100 95,063 547,050 259 670,472
Profit/(loss) for the year FNmF,/ (EE) = = 74,111 (574) 73,537
Exchange difference arising on BEBINBARMEE
translation of foreign subsidiaries BE N EH - 37,401 - - 37,401
Fair value loss on available-for-sale AHEENBEEL
financial assets NTEER - (10,197) - - (10,197)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ZEKA(BE)AE = 27,204 74,111 (574) 100,741
Transactions with owners: HEBAZEHNRS:
Employee share option scheme: BB FEARER & :
Proceeds from shares issued upon RITERREREBITRG 2
exercise of options 5 508 114 2,292 = = 2,406
Options lapsed KM B = (142) 142 = =
Change in ownership interest in a TEYITHI RSB
subsidiary without change of control MERAREAEERZD - (1,477) - 1,780 303
Dividends paid BfRE - - (42,317) = (42,317)
Balance at 31 March 2018 R-ZE-NF=A=+—H
2 28,214 122,940 578,986 1,465 731,605
Profit/(loss) for the year sl () = - S (a46) 55,111
Exchange difference arising on BREBINBARIMES
translation of foreign subsidiaries bE 5 Z 5 - (24,982) - - (24,982)
Fair value loss on financial assets at BATFERAEMEEKAZ
fair value through other HBEENTEER
comprehensive income - (882) - - (882)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2H(BE) WABE - (25,864) 55,557 (446) 29,247
Transactions with owners: EEBAZEHNRS:
Employee share option scheme: EEBRESE:
Valuation of employee services EBERBKBE - 743 - - 743
Proceeds from shares issued upon RITEREREREBITRG Z
exercise of options TS %18 135 2,508 - - 2,643
Options lapsed and expired KM RIER 2 R EE - (153) 153 =
Dividends paid BERKRE - - (39,588) - (39,588)
Balance at 31 March 2019 R=ZE-AF=A=+—H
2 28,349 100,174 595,108 1,019 724,650

The notes on pages 109 to 235 are an integral part of these ZE109E235H Y AGAMBRE—6H -
consolidated financial statements.

ot
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FEReERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —F—NWF=A=+—HIFFEF

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
B it FTERT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities REXBZHRERE
Cash generated from operations REEBEE RS 36(a) 40,282 52,498
Interest paid EAIFE (5,038) (5,179)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNEEFE (2,927) (6,960)
Mainland China corporate income tax paid BT B A EASR - (1,147)
Net cash generated from operating activities = KL ¥EBEL 2RSS FEE 32,317 39,212
Cash flows from investing activities RETHZHEERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BELEE (18,437) (17,240)
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment %1% - B &= & & & 2 BN 0B (10,300) =
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and & W - BE M&#H 2
equipment FR8 A 36(b) - 20
Additions of intangible assets NEEWEE (600) (3,319)
Increase in interests in associates REFE RA 2w = (2,194)
Increase in amounts due from associates JE W Bk & X R SR IR G AN (4,504) (899)
Advance of a loan to a third party M—BEZFEMNER 18 (500) =
Repayments of loans receivable BEEFEWKIE 3,130 7,200
Interest received 2 LS 3,148 4,204
Increase in financial assets at fair value BRAFELAEMEZERAZ
through other comprehensive income B 7% & = 38 0 14 (1,550) =
Increase in financial assets at fair value through #ZAFELAEZRZ
profit or loss BT & E N (15,600) =
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests 3z { F I $l M fE 25 ~ R (B — (657)
Proceeds from disposal of bond investment HEEBHFIREMESHRIE - 8,034
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits over BB=EAZEBRERRL
three months (3 hn) 15,500 (15,500)
Increase in pledged bank deposits B IRITERIZ AN (115) s
Net cash used in investing activities WEEHMA RS FE (29,828) (20,351)
Cash flows from financing activities METHFESEERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEFSHIE 284,000 362,700
Repayment of bank borrowings EERTEER (283,377) (408,801)
Proceeds from shares issued upon TEERERDBITRG
exercise of options FR8 IR 2,643 2,406
Dividends paid BfRE (39,588) (42,317)
Net cash used in financing activities RETEHARS R 36(c) (36,322) (86,012)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FERaRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —FE—NWF=HA=+—HILFEF

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEBYRLFR (33,833) (67,151)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates ERgEHTE (3,446) 8,389
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of RehReEEY F9)
the year 165,105 223,867
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year RehBSEEY 1K 127,826 165,105
The notes on pages 109 to 235 are an integral part of these S109&235B 2 AGAMEHRER—BH -

consolidated financial statements.

108

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2018/19



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged
in the research and development, manufacturing and sales
of electronic products and other products. The Group has
operations mainly in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Macao and
Vietnam.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in Bermuda on 28 September 2001. The address
of the Company's registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 18 September 2002.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("HKCO") Cap.622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the inclusion at financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Rt 35 8 % B 6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EFeHBFERE(HE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RREE(])
(a] New and amended standards and la] ZHBFRNZHZTREE

interpretations adopted by the Group STERRRE

The following new standards, amendments to LA #aT 281 - ZE R ZAEFT K

standards and interpretation are mandatory for the RBRERAEER_ZT—-N\F

Group's financial year beginning on or after 1 April MA—Bs 2z EE

2018 and have been adopted in the preparation of SR A B R BN R B AR A B

the consolidated financial statements. B R -

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28 Annual improvements 2014-2016 cycle

BAVBREENE 1R KBS G LER —EMFEFT-RFRBFELE

2858 (B3I A)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share-based
payment transactions

BB EERNZE25 (BEIAR) RGO BERONRZ S B RGE

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 financial instruments with
HKFRS 4 insurance contracts

BB EERIE45 (BETAR) HEBVBREELNFIRRBRE O —HER
BAVBRELNFESREMITA

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

BB EERIE5% cET A

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

BB G EERIZE 155 REBEPEHZWA

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15

BAVBREEFE155 (BFTR) BB B S B S S 2E R 51558

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of investment property

BB ERE405% (BFTA) RN EYE

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance
consideration

BEE (ERMBREREEES) - HNERZ B RIERRE

ZREE22%R

The Group changed its accounting policies and AP FE2.2F7 # FR - A FR AN

made certain adjustments following the adoption BEEMBHRELENFESR 2

of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) BTE| (B BHRSE

and HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with AEo ) RB B BHMEE

Customers” (“HKFRS 15") as disclosed in Note 2.2. BIZE155 [RAEEFAH 2

All other new standards, amendments to standards Al (BB BHREERE

and interpretation listed above did not have 155 1) NREBE#EHR

material impact on the Group's accounting policies. BHREREHETHAE - L

XFEIZ BB B AR AT A
BRI ZETARBEYEY
AEBEZE@BRRELAEAX

. 488
=
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
[b) New and amended standards and (b]
interpretations not yet adopted
The following new accounting standards and
amendments to standards have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning on 1
April 2018 and have not been early adopted by the

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rt 35 8 % B 6

EEEHRBRE ()

21 WEREE(#)

X IF W BT AT R AEEET
EAREE

AT 8] & st A ROE RIS T
AEEMER T~ /\FHA
—BRB M BEE N RE
M AAREEY ERPRM

Group:
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after
RTHBEHRz%
Bz FEHBEN
HK (IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 January 2019
HEE(ERMBREREEER) ENEE 2 THREN —ET-NEF—H—H
ZEE23%R

Amendments to HKFRS 9

BB HREERI LR
CCHES)

HKFRS 16

BB EERIE 165

Amendments to HKAS 19

BB ERE199 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 28

BB ERE289 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRSs

BREMBHREEN (EFIA)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

BB KSR FE3R
(#&185T)

Conceptual framework for
financial reporting 2018

—E-N\FUBREMIESR

HKFRS 17

ERV B HmELERFE175R

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

ER U B ImEERFE105 K

BB ERFE285 (BRI X)

Prepayment features with negative
compensation
AR BMENREIERSE

Leases

HE

Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement

FTEIERT - HER Sk R

Long-term interests in associates and
joint ventures

REERNRIREELEZ RPER

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
standards 2015-2017 cycle

EENBHRELN _ZE-HFE
TE L FREFESE

Business combinations

et

Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting

BB mE 2 IEETHSER

Insurance contracts

Ripa&k

Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor, associate or joint venture

BEE BERAeEREZHED
BEHEIOIA

1 January 2019
—E-hF—A—H

1 January 2019
—E-hF—HA—H
1 January 2019
—E-hF—H—H
1 January 2019

—ET-hAF—H—H
1 January 2019

—E—-NF—HA—H

1 January 2020
—EF_FEfSA—E

1 January 2020

—E_FF—H—H
1 January 2021
—F¥=-—%—H—H
To be determined

fFE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHBFEEE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RREE(])
[(b) New and amended standards and [b) FKFENZBTETREEST
interpretations not yet adopted FERARRE (1)
(Continued)
None of the above new standards and amendments TEHR E ¥ RT B RASET A
is expected to have a significant effect on the TEYHAEE 2 FeMB®mE
consolidated financial statements of the Group, ERERTE HE TR

except for the following:

HKFRS 16, “Leases” BB EHEERZE6
5% [HE ]
Nature of change FEgME
HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will BEMBMEEBZ 165N =
result in almost all leases being recognised on T-RNF—AEMG -BAREE
the consolidated balance sheet, as the distinction EREHEZRD H R %
between operating and finance leases is removed. HGEBBRABHHERGE
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to BEBBRANER - BIEZH
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay FIER-BEE(EAESES
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are Z%ﬂ)&iﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁz,ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁ
short-term and low-value leases. BEETUABR -E—FIINER
HREEBECHE-
Impact 2
The Group has reviewed all of its leasing AEBOREBEEBHBRESE
arrangements in light of the new lease accounting AIE16m TS SR Al
rules in HKFRS 16. The standard will affect primarily BIFrEHELRE - ZEAKE
the accounting for the Group's operating leases. EREASELEHENSE
BRI
As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non- R-ZZE—NE=A=+—8"
cancellable operating lease commitments RNEEH AR 2 &%
of HK$9,937,000. Of these commitments, ¥& %9,937,0008 7T o % & &
approximately HK$2,346,000 relate to short- JE R #92,346,00058 7T &2 15 A
term leases or low value leases which will both be BEREERGESERBRAR
recognised on a straight-line basis as expense in the THEHAENRRKEBEHEES
consolidated profit or loss. 7 -
For the remaining lease commitments, the mRGpEEREMS  AEH
Group expects to recognise right-of-use assets FEHRZ-_ZE—NFNA—H
of approximately HK$7,156,000, current lease WREAEEEL7,156,000
liabilities of approximately HK$2,231,000 and BT ORBEEBEGEY
non-current lease liabilities of approximately 2,231,000 T RIERBES
HK$4,830,000 on 1 April 2019. B 1&494,830,0008 7T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

The Group does not foresee any material impact on
the net profit of the Group as a result of adoption
of HKFRS 16.

Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its
mandatory adoption date of 1 April 2019. The
Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts
for the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use
assets for property leases will be measured on
transition as if the new rules had always been
applied.

There are no other HKFRSs or HK(IFRIC)
interpretations that are not yet effective and that
would be expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and
on foreseeable future transactions.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and also discloses the new
accounting policies that have been applied from 1 April
2018, where they are different to those applied in prior
years.

(a] Impact on the consolidated financial

statements

As explained in notes below, HKFRS 9 is generally
adopted without restating comparatives. The
reclassifications and the adjustments are therefore
not reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as at
31 March 2018, but are recognised in the opening
consolidated balance sheet on 1 April 2018.

Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 EFEHFBRE(E)

21 WBEE(#])
(b) BFXFWZ TR EEET
ERARRE (&)

LB WS ERE16
# [HE] (&)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
(a] Impact on the consolidated financial
statements [Continued)

The following tables show the adjustments
recognised for each individual line item. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have not
been included. As a result, sub-totals and totals
disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers
provided. The adjustments are explained in more
detail by standard below:

2 EFEHFERE(E)

2.2 B EKER

31 March 2018

la) HiFEHBEHRECRE

(#)

TREBRHEERIE B R
HAE - UEIEHTENRA
TEEER- AL FEE/N
At R AR B BRI AT IR LB
FEHFE - ZFABERE
T ERMERE AT Mt

As originally 1 April 2018
presented HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 Restated
“Z-N\% —E-0\%
ZA=t-R ZEBUBRE BFHREBES MA—H
RREZS ERIFEH  ERIFEISH &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Consolidated balance sheet (extract) DREEEER (BE) TAET TAET FET TAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AL EMBEE 6,242 (6,242) = =
Financial assets at fair value through other BATERAEMZEKRA
comprehensive income ("FVOCI") ([RATEZALD
ZEHAZ
MBEE - 6,242 - 6,242
Total assets EEHE 6,242 - - 6,242
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables ERESERK
H e 50R 258,093 - (27,282) 230,811
Contract liabilities aHEE - - 27,282 27,282
Total liabilities BEAE 258,093 - - 258,093
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHHEHEE(HE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
[(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

22 BEIHREH ()
(b) EFREMEHEEREIR

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
that relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments and
impairment of financial assets.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
from 1 April 2018 resulted in changes in accounting
policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The new
accounting policies are set out in Note 2.12 below.
In accordance with the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 9 (7.2.15) and (7.2.26), comparative figures
have not been restated.

(i)  Classification and measurements
On 1 April 2018 (the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9), the Group’s management
has assessed which business models apply
to the financial assets held by the Group
and classified its financial assets into the
appropriate HKFRS 9 categories.

The Group elected to present in equity
changes in the fair value of two unlisted
equity funds that were previously classified as
available-for-sale because management does
not plan to dispose of such investments in the
foreseeable future. As a result, assets with
fair values of HK$6,242,000 were reclassified
from available-for-sale financial assets to
financial assets at FVOCI on 1 April 2018. The
available-for-sale financial asset reserve of
HK$605,000 was also reclassified to financial
assets at FVOCI fair value reserve on 1 April
2018.

2HTR
FREYBRE LR FIFREA
FE G ERIF395% A R
R-DBENRAEMNBEERY
BRE KUIEEITHITAR
s EEREMIRI

B-Z— \FMNA—BREREW
BERGHHRE LR EIR SR
TERERSTHEREs WY
REEMBERENERNEE
EH AR - T BERHEN T
XHiFE2.12 - IREBEEB BT IR
4B 59(7.2.15) }(7.2.26)
SRE R R BEEEI
BHT -

() #HRHE
R-ZE—N\FMWA—H
(BRERABBTBERE

ERAFRZBH) K
SEEEEDALER
RAKREMRFAEMBE
EREBRA I HE
MBEENDBET B
BHREENFSR 2 EE
Rl e

AEBEBEEREZRZ7
ERDBEATHRIEERN
WMIEFEETMRAESH
AEEEY FRAEE
BESETENAERR
HEBBEE At A
F{E 46,242,000/ ST HY
BEENR_-_ZE—N\EN
A—HAIAHLETB
BEETHEAEAF
BERAHEMZEKAZ
MBEE AL EN
7% & E % #%605,000%8
TR _ZE—A\FMAH
—HEFI»BRERAF
B AEMmEEKAZ
B EEATFERE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESBEEE(HE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 BERREE (H)
(b] HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (b) BEEMBEEZERFIN
[Continued) 2T A (#E)
(i) Classification and measurements () DHERFE(E)
(Continued)
The impact of the reclassification on the ENOBREAKRERE
Group’s consolidated balance sheet at the REMBH(ZFT AN
date of initial application (1 April 2018) is as FHA—H)ZREEE
follows: BERZIEENT:
Available-
for-sale Financial
financial assets at
assets FvOCI Total
BAYLHE
AHM
AHEE ZEAKAZ
MBEEE BREE #t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAET TET TAETL

Closing balance at 31 March 2018 K=& — N\ &

- HKAS 39 =A=t—Bz
FREBR-BE
2 ERIE395% 6,242 - 6,242
Reclassified investments from R ERAHEE
available-for-sale financial assets BB EEHH
to financial assets at FVOC| ERAFERZA
HEth2EBAZ
MBEE (6,242) 6,242 =

Opening balance at 1 April 2018 RZT—/\F
- HKFRS 9 mMA—B2
FOER—BE
B 75 5 22 Rl B 957 - 6,242 6,242
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rt 35 8 % B 6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

22 Bt BREE (])
(b) BEEHMEHESERFEIR

2HMTR(#)

(Continued)
() Classification and measurements (1)
(Continued)

The impact of these changes on the Group's

equity is as follows:

DHEREE (E)

Available- Financial
for-sale assets at
financial FVOCI fair
assets value
reserve reserve Total
NS |
A HEA
2HKBAZ
A HE BREE
MBEERE LTEMEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET FHET
Closing balance at 31 March 2018 K=& — \F
- HKAS 39 == =587
FREGB-BE
2t ERIE395% 605 - 605
Reclassified from available-for- HAHEENBEERE
sale financial assets reserve to ENMABERATE
financial assets at FVOCI fair EARMEEKAZ
value reserve MBEAEATERE (605) 605 =
Opening balance at 1 April 2018 R=-Z—N\FWNA—HZ
- HKFRS 9 FEHR—FB
B R & R E o5 - 605 605

There was no impact on retained earnings as

at 1 April 2018.

HR—_ZF-AFHEHAS
HORE BN ER
@,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
[(b] HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued]

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has only one type of financial
asset, which is financial assets carried at
amortised cost that is subject to HKFRS 9's
new expected credit loss model.

The Group was required to revise its
impairment methodology under HKFRS 9 for
such class of assets. The impact of the change
in impairment methodology on the Group’s
opening retained profits and equity was not
material.

While cash and bank balances are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9,
the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, except for those
individually significant trade receivables
or trade receivables at default which are
to be tested individually. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the invoice dates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(c]

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective approach which means that the
cumulative impact of the adoption (if any) was
recognised in retained earnings as at 1 April 2018
and that comparatives was not restated.

The Group is engaged in research and development,
manufacturing and sales of electronic products and
pet-related products.

The Group’s obligations to provide a refund for
faulty products are under the standard warranty
terms. Accumulated experience is used to estimate
such returns at the time of sale. Because of the
large volume and low value of each individual
product, the amount of products returned were
immaterial. It is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur. Therefore, no refund liability for
goods return was recognised. The validity of this
assumption and the estimated amount of returns
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period.

The Group does not incur costs to fulfil contracts
which should be capitalised as they relate directly to
the contracts, generate resources used in satisfying
the contract and are expected to be recovered.

The Group does not have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods
to the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. Thus, the Group does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(c] HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers [Continued])

As a result, other than certain reclassification of
contract liabilities, the adoption of HKFRS 15 did
not result in any net impact on the profit for the

year, as the timing of revenue recognition has not

changed.

The impact of the reclassification on the Group’s

consolidated balance sheet at the date of initial

application (1 April 2018) is as follows:

3R
HK$'000
TET TET THET

EERHBREAE (&)

22 B BREE (8)
lc) BEMBEHESERFEIS

MIEEFEHZHA

(%)

Hit BEAHEEETET
B A MRBATERK
BT S SR E S B R
CRESL S o kp
MELEAEHE-

BENOBRBERAEERERER
BHR(ZZ-—N\FM@A—QR)
CIEABERABRZITVEN
T

Trade
and other

ENE S
BRI E A

Contract

payables liabilities Total
alEaRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000

Closing balance at 31 March 2018
— HKAS 18

Reclassified other payables to contract
liabilities

Opening balance at 1 April 2019
- HKFRS 15

RZF—/\F=A=1—H
ZERER BB G
RIS 185%

HEMENSREHHE
EaMaRE

R-ZE-AFMA—-HZ
FOEHR-—BEYMS
T AR 561555
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Consolidation 2.3 f#8IKH
(a] Subsidiaries (a)] WiB 4 E

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Consolidation (Continued)
(a] Subsidiaries [Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with HKFRS 9 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net asset acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners in their capacity as owners.
The difference between the fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHHEHEE(E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Consolidation [Continued)
(a] Subsidiaries [Continued)

2.3 FEEAE (18)
la) BB LE(#)

Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity. When the
Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or

ﬁ#?ﬂ&%‘%ﬁ%%%%
Mk ERE T - EAKEAN
BRA T EE%WEH
RERENKREEGEE B

METEEZRTE- %ﬁ@mm
BEBEGETHER A FERR
REBEDNREARM SN
WMREE FREBERF &
BEOXAMBEE I 2
AL ERERMEE KA T
EANTMRBBEOANEED
ERLENBEEXEE -E
EWRE A EE M2 EKRAR

liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously AN EENHESIES -
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

[b) Separate financial statements (b) BB RERE

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost include direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's
net assets including goodwill.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Consolidation (Continued)
[c] Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased
to recognise the investor's share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group’s investment in an associate includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of the
associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Consolidation [Continued)

[c]

Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying

investment in the associate is impaired.

value and recognises the amount adjacent to “share
of losses of an associates” in the consolidated

income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. The
amounts reported by associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the

accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Gains and losses on dilution of equity interests
in associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

2.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments,

has been

identified as the executive directors collectively who make

strategic decisions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation
(a] Functional and presentation currency

(b)

(c]

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company's
functional and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

[c]

(d]

Group companies [Continued)

(iiiy all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are reattributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 EFEHFERE(E)

25 SpEEmE (18)

lc]

(d]

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F %

KRERTFTLE(#)
(i) MAEEZEKBEE
Rk I ON

7
at ©

WEEIERELZHERR
FEBE JEBIERBZE
ERABERRE WREERZ
ERME - MELNERER
ZHENEMEZEEARNER -

HEBIEBERBSHE

REEBIEH (AMHEAE
BRI ER 2 BRI R S
ERREH-—HMBAR (B
BN 2 EH 2 B E
BRAEHEELEX (B
BONETS) 2 KRE B4 2
XS RKREH-—BBER
A (BRBINERE) 2EARF
EBNZHER RARAESR
A FEAR 7% SR 75 T I 21 P e 20
ZHEELZREFARER
$ 030 8 B R [ 2K 5 HY B
BRR (BREBMNER) ZEZ
D HE REFERLE
MZEMELPIEDERHIIA
FEHMtEEE R TEREx
R-AMBEM D HE
(AAXREEEBERRXRAE
1 3 RO R A TR a5 YR D 3
TEYARKEREEATZEN
S HFIEHE)  ZRFER
EZRZEIGLLOIRASH IR

e

127



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEENBREE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 26 V¥ - BERSBE

Leasehold land interests classified as finance leases
and all other property, plant and equipment are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the
consolidated income statement during the financial period
in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance leases commence
amortisation from the time when the land interest
becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on
leasehold land classified as finance lease and depreciation
of other assets are calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate costs less residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land classified as 38 — 48 years (over

finance leases the lease terms)
Buildings 35 — 48 years
Leasehold improvements 5 -10 years
Plant and machinery 5 years
Furniture and equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.11).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 26 ME BERSM ()

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes all attributable costs of
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended
use. This includes direct costs of construction as well
as interest expense capitalised during the period of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
will cease and the construction in progress is transferred
to appropriate categories within property, plant and
equipment when the construction activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are completed.
No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.

Up to the date when an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property carried at fair value,
the Group depreciates the property and recognises any
impairment losses that have occurred. Any difference at
that date between the carrying amount of the property
and its fair value in the revaluation is included in
revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group. It also includes properties that
are being constructed or developed for future use as
investment properties. Land held under operating leases
are accounted for as investment properties when the
rest of the definition of an investment property is met. In
such cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property is
initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain
or loss in “other gains, net”.

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Land use rights are
amortised using the straight-line method over the period
of the land use rights.

Intangible assets

(a] Customer relationship
Contractual customer relationship acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. The contractual
customer relationship has a finite useful life and
is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected life of the
customer relationship of five years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b)

Product development

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable
and unique products controlled by the Group are
recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are met:

J It is technically feasible to complete the
software product so that it will be available
for use;

o Management intends to complete the product

and use or sell it;
o There is an ability to use or sell the product;

o It can be demonstrated how the product will
generate probable future economic benefits;

° Adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and

to use or sell the product are available; and

o The expenditure attributable to the product
during its development can be reliably
measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads. Other development
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognised as an expense are not
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development costs recognised as assets are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of two
years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Intangible assets (Continued)

[c] Patents and trademarks

Separately acquired patents and trademarks are
shown at historical cost. Patents and trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognized
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method over their expected useful lives of five
years.

2.10 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is
the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

21N M BEREMRE

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life,
or intangible assets not ready to use, are not subject
to amortisation and are tested at least annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Financial assets

(a) Classification

From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2

134

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a]

(b)

(c]

Classification [Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investment in equity
instruments that is not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI. The
Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)
[c] Measurement [Continued]
Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in the consolidated
profit or loss and presented in other gains/
(losses) together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “other gains, net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)
[c] Measurement [Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

- FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
and presented net within other gains/(losses)

in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments

is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “other gains, net” in the
consolidated income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in

fair value.

(d]) Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHHEHEE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Financial assets [Continued) 212K E ()

(d) st{E (%)

(d] Impairment [Continued]

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note
3.1(iii)(c) and Note 16 for further details.
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le) Accounting policies applied until 31 le)] EE-Z—/\EZA
March 2018 =+—HEERHZ5
.4 4

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: loans and receivables, at fair
value through profit or loss, and available for sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

() Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. Loans
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and receivables comprise trade and other MBEE-REAEE
receivables, amounts due from associates, BEXR BERKERK
time deposits over three months and cash and HREREKE SHEFRR

cash equivalents in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

138

le] Accounting policies applied until 31

March 2018 [(Continued)

(i) Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified
as current assets if expected to be settled
within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period; otherwise they are classified
as non-current.

(iif) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and
transaction costs are expensed in the profit or loss.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHHEHEE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Financial assets (Continued) 212 BEEE (8) E
(e] Accounting policies applied until 31 le] BEE-Z—/\FE=ZH

March 2018 [Continued])

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” category are presented in the
consolidated profit or loss within “other gains, net”
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income
from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
as part of other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
When securities classified as available-for-sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated profit or loss. Interest on available-for-
sale securities calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of other income.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2

140

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)
le] Accounting policies applied until 31

March 2018 [Continued])

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
recognised only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(a "loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. For loans and receivables
category, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The asset’s
carrying amount is reduced and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’'s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Financial assets (Continued) 212 BEEE (8)

[f] Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the balance sheet when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

2.14 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current

assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 88 & B 6

2
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. See
Note 3.1(iii)(c) for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at
call with banks which have a maturity of less than three
months.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Borrowings 218 &

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Borrowing costs (Continued)
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company, its subsidiaries and its
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

[b] Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c]

Inside basis differences (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally the Group is unable to control the
reversal of the temporary difference for associates.
Only when there is an agreement in place that
gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable
temporary differences arising from the associate’s
undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates only
to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

The Group operates a number of defined
contribution pension schemes for its employees.
The pension plans are funded by payments
from employees and by the Group. The Group’s
contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme established under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance are
expensed as incurred. The assets are held separately
from those of the Group and managed by related
independent professional fund managers.

For employees in Mainland China, the Group
contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised
by relevant municipal and provincial governments
based on specified percentages of the relevant
employees’ monthly salaries. The municipal and
provincial governments undertake to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired employees under these plans and
the Group has no further obligation for post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions made.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.

[b) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

i including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHHEHEE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

221 EREF (48)
(b) BRIZ1IEkEEHH (#5)

i) excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

i) including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)
The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.

[c) Employee leave entitlements
Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date.

Employees’ entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(d] Other benefits

Other directors’ and employees’ obligations
are recorded as a liability and charged to the
consolidated income statement when the Group
is contractually obliged or when there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.22 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 8 = P &E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Provisions (Continued)

2.22 %R (#8)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations is small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.23 Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a
provision.

2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax, returns and discounts and
after eliminating sales within the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group manufactures and sells a range of electronic
and other products in the wholesale market. Sales are
recognised when control of the products have transferred,
being when the goods are delivered to the customers, the
customers have full discretion over the goods and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location, the
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to customers, and either customers have accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of the estimated
volume discounts (if any). Accumulated experience is
used to estimate and provide for the discounts, using the
expected value method, and revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal will not occur. A refund liability is recognised
for expected volume discounts payable to customers
in relation to sales made until the end of the reporting
period. No element of financing is deemed present as
the sales are made with credit terms that are consistent
with market practice. The Group's obligation to provide
a refund for faulty products under the standard warranty
terms is recognised as a provision.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEEHBREE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 Interest income

225§ B A

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.26 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.27 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), including upfront payment made for leasehold
land and land use rights, are charged to the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.

2.28 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are deferred and credited to the profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.29 Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee (a kind of insurance contract) is
a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument. The Group does not recognise
liabilities for financial guarantee at inception, but
performs a liability adequacy test at each reporting date
by comparing its net liability regarding the financial
guarantee with the amount that would be required if
the financial guarantee would result in a present legal or
constructive obligation.

If the liability is less than its present legal or constructive
obligation amount, the entire difference is recognised in
the consolidated income statement immediately.

2.30 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company's shareholders in case of final
dividend and the Company’s directors in case of interim
dividend.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
performance.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HMERIEEHE (1)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(il

3.1 MERKBER (i)
li] SFEmBEE

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Macao and Vietnam and its business
transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$")
and Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign currency risk arises
when future commercial transactions or recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not an entity’s functional currency. As HK$
is pegged against US$, management considers that
the Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk
with respect to RMB. Management monitors foreign
currency exchange exposure and will take measures
to minimise the currency translation risk. As at 31
March 2019, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign currency risk.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
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Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BREEEA Ol ) 10

— Strengthen 5% —H1E5% (10,850) (10,359)
— Weakened 5% — 7 E5% 10,850 10,359
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii] Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the loans
receivable, time deposits and cash and cash
equivalents, details of which are disclosed in Notes
18 and 19 respectively.

The Group's interest rate risk primarily relates to its
bank borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group currently does not hedge its
interest rate risk. However, management monitors
the related interest rate risk exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
exposure should the need arise. The interest rates
and terms of repayment of borrowings are disclosed
in Note 20.

The Group has no fixed interest rate borrowings.
Therefore it does not have any fair value interest
rate risk.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, if the interest
rates on bank borrowings had been 50 basis points
higher/lower than the prevailing interest rate, with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been HK$290,000 (2018:
HK$288,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on floating rate bank
borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
liii) Credit risk

(a)

Risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk in
relation to its cash and bank balances, loans
receivable, amounts due from associates
and trade and other receivables (except
for prepayments). The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group's credit risk is concentrated on
a number of major and long established
customers. Trade receivables from the top
five customers accounted for approximately
31% (2018: 48%) of the Group's total trade
receivables. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit histories and to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any individual
customer. The Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade receivable
at each balance sheet date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group’s past
experience in collection of trade receivables
falls within the recorded allowances. In order
to minimise credit risk to the Group, the
Group has certain non-recourse factoring
arrangements with banks to cover the credit
risk.

The credit risk for cash at banks are limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. Transactions in
relation to equity fund investments are only
carried out with financial institutions of high
reputation. The Group has policies that limit
the amount of credit exposure to any one
financial institution.

Rt 35 8 % B 6

3 MERRER(K)

3.1 MERKBER (i)
liii) 15 & & B&

(a)

25 B

Kﬁlﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ”
RER “ﬁﬁ% RIA - R
W“““ IR A K &
WE % HT&EM%W
FIE(HB-BEMFE)
EREERRE - AEE
AXzE=REERRR

&%%Wé?%ﬁﬁz

=EE
I:l/\

u o

AEBZEERREZ
EPREEEERRH
BEF-RERRKEFZ
EWRE ZEREERE
BEKE SERES
#931% (ZZF — N\ F:
48% ) - AEE B2 HIE K
R ERAEELER
He2EFEHEE IR
ﬁ&ﬁmm%ﬁz:ﬁ

AEBERFTELE
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬂ%?
BR R 2 Al [0 & 58
LAREAR 5L 7] W 2] & B
R R HRBEEIE- &
EEBTRED ZEKE
SERBEIREEHES
BR-ARELAER
EERK NEEHER
TEIMNETERBPER
BWERZH REER
BRI AREE

HRR 58 F15 5B K
EENERBLETRE
EFRZRIT BIRTT
BezEERRAR:
BRBRAESREZR
HERRFEES MK
BERB - AKELDHE
TR BR il {E {A] — ) A 75
BBEZEERRES®E-

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F % 155



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
liii] Credit risk (Continued)
(a) Risk management (Continued)

(b)

(c)

For loans receivable and amounts due from
associates, the Group regularly monitors
the financial positions of these companies/
counterparties to assess their recoverability.
Loss allowances of HK$1,250,000 and
HK$202,000 have been provided for amount
due from an associate and other receivables
as at 31 December 2019, respectively. Other
than that, management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Security

For certain trade receivables the Group may
obtain security in the form of letters of credit
which can be called upon if the counterparty
is in default.

For the Group’s amounts due from associates
and loans receivable, there are certain
personal guarantee and equity instruments
pledged as securities. See Notes 12 and 18,
respectively, for further details.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss
model:

— Trade receivables
— Other financial assets at amortised costs

While cash and bank balances are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9,

the identified impairment loss is immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
liii) Credit risk [Continued]

(c)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, except for those
individually significant trade receivables or
trade receivables at default which are tested
individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. As at 31 March 2019,
the balances of such individually assessed
trade receivables and the loss allowance in
respect of these receivables are HK$3,552,000
(2018: Nil) and HK$3,552,000 (2018: Nil),
respectively.

Measurement of expected credit loss on

collective basis

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The expected loss rates are based
on the payment profiles of sales over a period
of 6 months before 31 March 2019 or 12
months before 1 April 2018, respectively,
and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are further adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of

the customers to settle the receivables.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
liii] Credit risk [Continued]

(c)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the balance of loss
allowance in respect of these collectively
assessed trade receivable balances is
HK$4,066,000 based on an average expected
loss rate of approximately 1.8% applied on
different groupings (2017: 1.8%, which does
not have a material impact to the Group's
consolidated financial statements).

Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Previous accounting policy for impairment of
trade receivables

In the prior year, the impairment of trade
receivables was assessed based on the
incurred loss model. Individual receivables
which were known to be uncollectible were
written off by reducing the carrying amount
directly. The other receivables were assessed
collectively to determine whether there was
objective evidence that an impairment had
been incurred but not yet identified. For
these receivables, the estimated impairment
losses were recognised in a separate provision
for impairment. Receivables for which an
impairment provision was recognised were
written off against the provision when there
was no expectation of recovering additional
cash.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HMEREEHE ()

3.1 MERKBER (i)
liii) IEEMEE (#)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
liii] Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include loans receivable, amounts due from
associates and other receivables (except for
prepayments). Management assesses the
credit quality of the counterparties, taking
into account the historical risk of default and
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

These financial assets at amortised cost,
except for amount due from an associate
and other receivables for which impairment
losses have been provided for (Notes 12 and
16), are considered to be of low credit risk
primarily because historically they had no
history of default and the debtors had strong
capacity to meet their contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term. No impairment
losses are provided for such financial assets as
at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018.

liv] Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents
and the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. The Group
manages its liquidity risk by controlling the level
of inventories, closely monitoring the turnover
days of receivables, monitoring its working capital
requirements and keeping credit lines available.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group's bank facilities, time deposits and cash and
cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash
flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HEHERISEE ()

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MERMBER (&)
liv] Liquidity risk [Continued) liv] REIELmMEE (#)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRENAESECVBAED
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based M ERNEEREARKNEEH
on the remaining period at the balance sheet s TAEE S A BB EE
date to the contractual maturity date. The Ble RNFIEBRSEAEHR
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual ARIRIREME -

undiscounted cash flows.

Between

On Less than 1and 2
demand 1 year years Total
RER SPR-F —EZWF i

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET TAET TAT TAET

31 March 2019 —T-NF
=H=+—H
Trade payables FERTE SRR - 179,539 - 179,539
Other payables and  E A Eff 3818 &
accruals et & H - 17,855 - 17,855
Borrowings BB 65,723 3,837 - 69,560
65,723 201,231 - 266,954
31 March 2018 —E-N\F
= A=FmE
Trade payables FERTE 5 RN = 199,828 = 199,828
Other payables and E b e I &
accruals fEstE A = 17,609 = 17,609
Borrowings BE 62,229 2,993 3,782 69,004
62,229 220,430 3,782 286,441
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3

Rt 35 8 % B 6

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HMBREEE (1)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBRMER ()
liv] Liquidity risk (Continued) livI mB)ELmEE (#)
The table below summarises the maturity analysis THRMINFEIREREERRK
of the loans with a repayment on demand clause B ERTT B IR B E SRR R AT
based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in ZHEERFRARELD 2 E
the loan agreements. The amounts included interest HES M FHEESEREER
payments computed using contractual rates. As ERANEFEZNENK A
a result, these amounts were greater than the I kESESN B H A
amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band DT (4R sk R A &5 B A
in the maturity analysis contained above. Taking BEZEE A RASE A
into account the Group’s financial position, the Bk EESRABRITIT
directors do not consider that it is probable that 158 Y 15 R 2 Sk B BR A8 R A A A
the banks will exercise their discretions to demand AR -ZEFHEZZFERK
immediate repayment. The directors believe that 1R85 )15 % P ] T8 58 8 5K
such loans will be repaid in accordance with the BE-
scheduled repayment date set out in the loan
agreements.
Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject to a BN —BEEREREFE
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled BIEXHRTER BEEE
repayments: BN
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and5
1 year years years Total
SPR-F —-ZWF MERE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FBT
31 March 2019 “ZE-hE=R=1+—H 61,040 3,732 3,006 67,778
31 March 2018 —2-\F=A=+-8 42,645 14,594 6,646 63,885
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 BEXEBEER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEBEBREAZ BEZEAREAE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EeENEELE M ARRKELER

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts.

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F %

(o] 7 Ko E o 7 s A A 6 2R A 2
AR ERFRIEERGRE  AREE
AR A o

REFLHBELGRE AREXE

HEARRENZREEE ET
MR KLERE  ABEER -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided
by total equity as shown in the consolidated balance

3

M EEEE (1))

3.2

BXxEREE (W)
AEEREEARBULERERELR
HHERUEERERGEAEERAR
RN EREmETE

sheet.
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Total bank borrowings RITEE®EE 69,537 68,914
Total equity s B 724,650 731,605
Gearing ratio BEAGLX 9.6% 9.4%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 &FEMAE

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities carried at fair value as at 31 March 2019 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within
a fair value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs) (level 3).

See Note 8 for disclosures of the investment property that
was measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HMEREEHE ()

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEMAE (1])
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets TREBIAEERR-_ZE-—NAFRZ
and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 March E-NF=ZA=+—HZAFER
2019 and 2018: EZVBEENRGE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B B=H& mat

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TAET TAET

2019 —E-NEF
Assets: BE:
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFELRAEMETE
WA ZHBEE - - 6,910 6,910
Financial assets at FVPL BAFERAERZZ
B EE 244 - 26,863 27,107
244 - 33,773 34,017
2018 —E_Nf
Assets: BE:
Available-for-sale AHEEETEEE
financial assets - - 6,242 6,242
Financial assets at fair value IZAQAFETDAEBRZ
through profit or loss B EE = = 3,757 3,757
- - 9,999 9,999
There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during RER F— ZR=FZ2ELEE
the year. o] 85 52 o
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HIEPEEIE ()

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEMAE (1])
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TRETRE=ZRIARBEC
instruments for the year ended 31 March 2019: —LF=ZA=Z+—8BLtHF E 2
Available-
Financial for-sale Financial
assets at financial assets at
FVPL assets FVOCI Total
BRAFE
RAFE RAHA
RABZEZ AHEE ZEKAZ

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$°000
FET FET FRET FRET

At 1 April RMHA—H 3,757 6,242 - 9,999
Reclassify investments from #$1% & B Al H &

available-for-sale financial WMBEEEZEFHHHE=

assets to financial assets at Z A FERLAEM

FVOCI (Note 2.2(b)) PHBAZHBEE
(Kt3E2.2(b)) - (6,242) 6,242 -
Additions NE 15,600 - 1,550 17,150
Disposal B (307) = - (307)
Net fair value loss charged 2 AEZE 2
to equity N EEBEFE - - (882) (882)
Net fair value gain charged = AEZFZ
to profit or loss NEEREFE 7,813 - - 7,813
At 31 March R=A=+—8 26,863 - 6,910 33,773
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3
The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 March 2018:

MEEEEE (])
DFEEMGE ()

TREFE=-RIARBE_ZT
—NF=ZA=+—BLFEEZ

e

2
Available-
Financial for-sale
assets at financial
FVPL assets Total
BAFE
RAEBZEZ At &
W& E WIS & E 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT AT
At 1 April REA—H 4,838 16,439 21,277
Net fair value loss charged to ARz Z
equity N EEEFE (1,081) (10,197) (11,278)
At 31 March W=A=+—A” 3,757 6,242 9,999
(a) Financial instruments in level 1 la) F—HELEMIT A
The fair values of financial instruments traded in RERMBEBEz2RT AR

active markets are based on quoted market prices

FEERGEE

B zmmi5®mE

at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for the listed equity
instruments held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise solely listed
equity instruments classified as financial assets at
FVPL.

HAE-WMAAEZ M EHAR
X558 KL FHRE
B EERBHEERBIG
BE MEMBRERREERE
HEAVTERETZIRAFED
BR 5 MZMISREREE
MG - AEEMAF LHERT
EffAZHERERSERE
ANE-MaxETARBRE—
M-RAB—RZTARERR
DERBEAFERARGE Y
BEEMLMESETA-
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

(c]

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to assess the fair value of an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. The Group does not have level 2 financial
instruments.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in level 3. As at 31 March 2019, the
Group's financial assets measured at FVOCI and
unlisted equity instruments, convertible promissory
notes and warrants measured at FVPL are level 3
financial assets.

The fair values of the Group's financial assets at
FVOCI are determined based on the net asset
values of the funds calculated with reference to the
quoted prices in active markets of the underlying
investments of the funds.

The fair values of the Group's financial assets at
FVPL are valued by an independent professional
valuer and determined using market approach,
which is based on equity values of the investees
with key inputs being forecasted business
performance, straight bond discount rate, price/
earnings ratios of comparable companies and lack
of marketability discount rate (“LoMD") of relevant
investees. See Note 17 for details.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated write-downs of inventories to net

realisable value

The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value
based on an assessment of the realisability of inventories.
Write-downs of inventories are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. These estimates
are based on the market condition and the historical
experience of selling prices of similar nature. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write-downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.

(b) Fair values of financial assets
The fair values of financial assets that are traded in an
active market are determined by the quoted market
prices.

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the valuation
techniques with the assistance of independent
professional valuers to estimate the fair values. The
methodologies, models, assumptions and parameters
used in valuing these financial instruments require
judgement by management at each balance sheet date.
For further details refer to Note 3.3 above.
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L CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Impairment assessment of interests in
associates

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to identify indications
that the interest in associates which are significant to the
Group may be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

The sources utilised to identify indications of impairment
are often subjective in nature and the Group is required
to use judgement in applying such information to its
business. The Group's interpretation of this information
has a direct impact on whether an impairment assessment
is performed as at any given reporting date.

If an indication of impairment is identified, such
information is further subject to an exercise that
requires the Group to estimate the recoverable amount,
representing the asset’s value in use. The Group is
required to make certain assumptions to make such
assessment, including the projected business performance
and future cash flows of the associates and appropriate
discount rates. Changes in any of these assumptions
could result in a material change to future estimates
of the recoverable amount of such associates. An
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income whenever the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Estimated useful lives and impairment of
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

The Group's property, plant and equipment are
depreciated based on their estimated useful lives and
estimated residual values. Management has reviewed the
estimated useful lives and considers they are appropriate.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions
in response to market conditions.
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4L CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Estimated useful lives and impairment of
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets (Continued)

Management will increase the depreciation charges where
useful lives are less than previously estimated and will
dispose of technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation
expense in future periods.

The Group amortises its intangible assets with finite useful
lives on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful lives reflect the management’s
estimates of the periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these intangible
assets. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line
basis over a period of two to five years.

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets is recognised as the amount by which
the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
2.11. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, which
are based on the best information available to reflect
the amount obtainable at each reporting date, from
the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction
between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting
the costs of disposal. These require the use of estimates.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to various taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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170

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

(g)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax charges
in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Estimated provision for impairment of trade
receivables and other receivables

The Group makes provision for expected credit losses of
trade and other receivables based on an estimate of the
recoverability of these receivables. Provisions are applied
to trade and other receivables where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of impairment of trade and
other receivables requires the use of estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying amount of receivables
and the provision for expected credit losses in the period
in which such estimate has been changed.

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s historical and existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.10. The recoverable amounts
of cash generating units have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations prepared on the basis of
management’s assumptions and estimates (Note 2.11).
These calculations require the use of estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the Executive Directors of the
Group, who make strategic decisions and review the internal
reporting of the Group in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of the results of reportable segments.
Finance income and costs, corporate income and expenses,
fair value gains or losses of financial assets, impairment loss
on interest in an associate and share of results of associates
are not included in the results for each operating segment that
are reviewed by the CODM. Other information provided to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from external customers is shown after elimination of
inter-segment revenue. Sales between segments, which mainly
consist of sale of electronic components and products among
subsidiaries, are carried out at mutually agreed terms. Revenue
from external parties is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated income statement.

Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred income tax
assets, tax recoverable, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets
at FVPL, loans receivable, interests in associates and corporate
assets, all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities
of reportable segments exclude current and deferred income
tax liabilities and corporate liabilities. These are part of the
reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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172

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SMEHER)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the REBE_ZT-NEFEZFE-N\NF=H
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2019 and ST ALFEERIERNEELERREK
2018 is as follows: ARBZHEERNT
2019
—E-hEF
Electronic  Pet related
products products Elimination Total
BN
ETER HEER Bk it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER TET TET
Revenue Yz
Revenue from external customers MR P I AR 1,395,599 286,263 - 1,681,862
Inter-segment revenue VAR AL G 131,845 98,958 (230,803) =
1,527,444 385,221 (230,803) 1,681,862
Segment results DEEE 73,352 17,933 91,285
A reconciliation of segment results to 7 48 3 48 81 4F () 35 7| 41 BR
profit for the year is as follows: LN
Segment results DEEE 91,285
Unallocated expenses, net AAOERAXZFE (36,252)
Other income Hedg A 1,910
Other gains, net H U 55 5 58 8,581
Operating profit R 65,524
Finance income BEMKA 3,148
Finance costs BER AR (5,038)
Impairment loss on interest in N /N o v ey
an associate B EE (1,972)
Share of losses of associates EiEEE R REE (1,651)
Profit before income tax BR P45 5 A& A 60,011
Income tax expense iS5 (4,900)
Profit for the year F R 55,111
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5
The segment information provided to the CODM for the

reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2019 and

2018 is as follows: (Continued)

Rt 35 8 % B 6

SHREH ()
RBE-_FT-AER-F-NF=A
ST-ALFE2RHEREELERR
AR SEERMT : (F)

Electronic  Pet related
products products Unallocated Total
BN
BEfEM MHEER KD B it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FTERx FET FEx
Other segment information Hipn EE R
Depreciation on property, plant mE -BEK
and equipment BEFE 31,908 371 2,100 34,379
Amortisation of intangible assets |G = 1,178 60 1,238
Amortisation of land use rights TP A AR 8 1,075 - 53 1,128
Additions to non-current assets NEFRBEE
(other than interests in (TEERBEREZ
associates, financial assets Ba MBEER
and deferred tax assets) BRERAERE) 28,145 248 814 29,207

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F % 173



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5

The segment information provided to the CODM for the
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018 is as follows: (Continued)

SERH(K)
BRBE-FT-—NAFR-F-NFZA
St BLFEERRHIMEAIBEERE
NEHZ PEARMT - (&)

174

2018
—T-N\F
Electronic Pet related
products products Elimination Total
B
BfEM BB E #13H mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Revenue Y2k
Revenue from external customers SRR P U as 1,180,154 330,350 = 1,510,504
Inter-segment revenue AR W 210,050 154,152 (364,202) =
1,390,204 484,502 (364,202) 1,510,504
Segment results DEEE 70,657 32,191 102,848
A reconciliation of segment results to 73 ¥8 3 45 81 F i 71 %7 BR
profit for the year is as follows: LS
Segment results DEEE 102,848
Unallocated expenses, net RAAERZFE (24,578)
Other income Hipdg A 1,798
Other gains, net Hib s 358 2,866
Operating profit =gl 82,934
Finance income BE M A 4,204
Finance costs BE KA (5,179)
Share of losses of associates e B2 N B B8 (2,375)
Profit before income tax B P15 5% A& 7 79,584
Income tax expense P15 A (6,047)
Profit for the year F N F 73,537
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SHAEHE(W\)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the REBE_FT-—NFEZZTE-NF=AH
reportable segments for the years ended 31 March 2019 and ST ALFEERDHEREZLEREK
2018 is as follows: (Continued) ARBZHEERNT: (&)

Electronic Pet related

products products  Unallocated Total
EY

BEfEM HREm RO st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAETT TET TAETL TETL

Other segment information HthpBEHR
Depreciation on property, plantand % - HME &

equipment RETE 30,720 432 1,929 33,081
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESH 430 556 = 986
Amortisation of land use rights TP AR S 1,098 = 57 1,155

Additions to non-current assets (other A& EREE E
than interests in associates, financial  (TBERBE NG 2
assets and deferred tax assets) Bam MBEER
BRERAERE) 17,645 3,794 2,194 23,633
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176

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SHRH(#\)
The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2019 RZE-NFRZE—N\F=ZA=1+—
and 2018 and the reconciliation to the total assets and total WO EERSEBREURE é??@@
liabilities are as follows: BEAENHENT
2019
—E-hEF
Electronic Pet related
products products Total
EY
EFfEM HEEM At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FERT FTER
Segment assets DEEE 825,290 57,562 882,852
Unallocated: KRB
Property, plant and equipment M WE REE 48,273
Deferred income tax assets BEESMEE 2,330
Amounts due from associates JiE Wi Bsk 5 A B FRIR 5,085
Loans receivable B FOE R 2,188
Tax recoverable AJ g [0 7% 18 147
Other investments Hh& & 34,017
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMBESEEY 53,316
Other unallocated assets HMR DB EE 14,460
Total assets per consolidated HEEERABRD
balance sheet BEHRE 1,042,668
Segment liabilities NEEE 181,855 2,161 184,016
Unallocated: KRB
Bank borrowings RITEE 69,537
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFEHMEBE 357
Trade payables FERTE 5 BRI 44,267
Income tax payable JE 1~ F 45 A% 7,814
Other unallocated liabilities HARDEBEEE 12,027
Total liabilities per consolidated HEEERABERMD
balance sheet BEBRE 318,018
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Rt 35 8 % B 6

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SHAEHE(W\)
The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2019 RZBE-hhEFERZE—N\F=A=+—H
and 2018 and the reconciliation to the total assets and total WA EERSBEBBEUREEEEEBER
liabilities are as follows: (Continued) BEAENHEOT: (&)
2018
—N\F
Electronic Pet related
products products Total
EY)
BEFEM M E m @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET
Segment assets NEEE 850,490 53,650 904,140
Unallocated: KRB
Property, plant and equipment M WE REE 49,934
Interests in associates N RN P X 3,623
Deferred income tax assets REFTEMEE 1,782
Amounts due from associates JE Wi Bk = N B FRIE 4,149
Loans receivable B E W RIE 2,500
Tax recoverable A] Uy [B] % 18 1,097
Other investments HEiwE 9,999
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 79,312
Other unallocated assets HEMADEEE 8,676
Total assets per consolidated mEAEABRRD
balance sheet BEEMBE 1,065,212
Segment liabilities NEEE 192,158 4,437 196,595
Unallocated: KRB
Bank borrowings SRITIEE 68,914
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEMSMEE 504
Trade payables FERTE 5 BRI 54,449
Income tax payable FE T ER 15 % 6,096
Other unallocated liabilities = NN =K 7,049
Total liabilities per consolidated HEEEBRERY
balance sheet BERE 333,607
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SWEH(H\)
An analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers by REEHE_ZT-NFRZZE-N\F=H
country of destination for the years ended 31 March 2019 and =+t—BHLEFERBaMBERE D 2K
2018 is as follows: ERPWEANTIMT
2019 2018
—E-hEF ZZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The United States of America EH 832,952 670,865
Japan SN 214,264 279,015
The People’s Republic of China hEE AR EFE
(the “PRC", including Hong Kong) ([HE] BEFE) 178,725 189,524
Taiwan =N | 130,510 97,538
Australia M 90,294 77,454
Germany == 81,504 40,274
France Vel 64,376 16,184
United Kingdom A 12,543 38,625
Others ) 76,694 101,025
1,681,862 1,510,504
An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding rEEZRWEES S 2ERBEE (TBE
deferred income tax assets, by geographical locations is as BEMEBHEE) DWWT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong i 80,318 68,247
Mainland China F B A 283,663 304,888
Others Hth 1 1
363,982 373,136
For the year ended 31 March 2019, external revenue of B2 _ZE—hF=A=Z=+—BLFE"
approximately HK$258,450,000 (2018: HK$311,704,000) was AN EB IR 2% 49258,450,0008 . (=& — N
generated from a customer, who accounted for more than 10% % :311,704,0008 L) FE—&&F~ 14
of the Group's revenue. AREBMPZTI0% A ko
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SHEH(M\)
No other customer individually accounted for more than 10% HE_ZT-NWEFERZE—N\F=A=+—
of the Group's revenue for the years ended 31 March 2019 and HiEFE - R E AR P (E R ME A & B
2018. m10% A ke
LAND USE RIGHTS 6 TiERE
The Group's interests in land use rights represented prepaid NER B A+ b AR 2 R AR R R R B AT 3
operating lease payments in Mainland China and their MK EHERNKIE FHEEE RREF
movements and net book value are analysed as follows: BZAET:
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Beginning of the year REH 51,994 50,484
Amortisation 5 (1,128) (1,155)
Exchange differences & =% (2,017) 2,665
End of the year REFEL 48,849 51,994
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7 VE -BERDSRE
Furniture
Land and Leasehold Plant and and Construction
buildings improvement machinery  equipment  in progress Total
THREF HEVEXLE BEREE HBARRE HERIR &t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FAT AT FAT FAL FAT FTAT
At 1 April 2017 R-Z-tFMBE-H
Cost KA 174,101 73,574 118,810 34,276 8,715 409,476
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZRMERAA (15,647) (18,798) (75,650) (23,300) = (133,395)
Net book amount BEEE 158,454 54,776 43,160 10,976 8,715 276,081
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z-N\§=A=+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FONRAFE 158,454 54,776 43,160 10,976 8,715 276,081
Additions RE = 2,831 10,675 3,734 = 17,240
Transferred from construction in progress EREERIR - 203 9,351 - (9,554) =
Transferred from investment property (Note &) BRAREME (H:#8) 11,100 - - - - 11,100
Disposals e - - = (12) - (12)
Depreciation neE (4,225) (8,076) (15,870) (4,910) - (33,081)
Exchange differences ERERE 13,819 5,965 4,288 939 839 25,850
Closing net book amount FREAMFE 179,148 55,699 51,604 10,727 = 297,178
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7

180

N =
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7 DE-BERERME(#E)
(CONTINUED)
Furniture
Land and Leasehold Plant and and  Construction
buildings improvement machinery  equipment  in progress Total
T kEFT HENELE BEREE BARRE HEIR At
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
T FHT FET TET TR T
At 31 March 2018 R=B-N§=A=t+-R
Cost A 199,892 82,803 112,541 38,640 - 433,876
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2ENE LR E (20,744) (27,104) (60,937) (27,913) = (136,698)
Net book amount FREFE 179,148 55,699 51,604 10,727 - 297,178
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ-FE-NE=R=+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FNEmFE 179,148 55,699 51,604 10,727 - 297,178
Additions NE - 665 12,016 5,756 - 18,437
Disposals HE - (102) (26) (9) - (137)
Depreciation e (4,100) (7,952) (16,878) (5,449) - (34,379)
Exchange differences ERER (10,476) (4,283) (3,975) (785) - (19,519)
Closing net book amount FRERFAE 164,572 44,027 42,71 10,240 - 261,580
At 31 March 2019 R-Z-hE=R=1+-H
Cost AR 188,592 77,028 116,303 42,187 - 424,110
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZRMERAE (24,020) (33,001) (73,562) (31,947) - (162,530)
Net book amount EHEE 164,572 44,027 42,741 10,240 - 261,580

Depreciation of HK$16,878,000 (2018: HK$15,870,000) and
HK$17,501,000 (2018: HK$17,211,000) has been charged
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses,

respectively.

As at 31 March 2019, certain of the Group’s bank borrowings
are secured by land and buildings with carrying value of

HK$45,819,000 (2018: HK$47,048,000) (Note 20).
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Rt 35 8 % B 6

INVESTMENT PROPERTY BEYME
2019 2018
—2-n&E -—T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Beginning of the year REF - 10,200
Fair value gain NEERE - 900
Transferred to land and buildings (Note 7) EBRE T NIETF (Hit7) - (11,100)
End of the year NSRS - -
Amounts recognised in the consolidated profit and loss for RREMERGEERBRAZ SR
investment property:
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZZET-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHT
Rental income (Note 28) HE WA (B:7£28) - 299

Certain property held by the Group located in Hong Kong
was transferred from investment property to owner-occupied
property of the Group upon the expiry of its lease in November
2017 (Note 7).

The fair value of such property was HK$11,100,000 on the
date of transfer, which was determined by an independent
qualified valuer using direct comparison method. Sales prices
of comparable properties in close proximity were adjusted for
differences in key attributes such as property size.

AEEFEETUREBEZYMEZHER
—E-tEFt—AERR AREVEE
BRRASENETHRYE (ME7) -

EEMEREZEBEBHRHZAFE
11,100,000 L DA B & & & ERD
BE WAEELEEET - EMAALL
BYECEBEREIERT (HlmER
B)ZEZRELAE-
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9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9 EILEE
Customer Product  Patents and
relationship  development  trademarks Total
EFB#& EREE EBEIREE Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTEL TET TAETL
At 1 April 2017 R-Z-t&WA—-A
Cost %N 5,584 1,667 = 7,251
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  Z &% 45 } 5l (E (5,154) (1,111) = (6,265)
Net book amount REFE 430 556 = 986
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE_Z-N\E=HA=1+-H
tEE
Opening net book amount FORESE 430 556 = 986
Additions NE - 3,319 - 3,319
Amortisation 55 (430) (556) = (986)
Closing net book amount FREEFE = 3,319 = 3,319
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE-NE=A=t-H
Cost A 5,584 4,986 = 10,570
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  Z &8 i } Al (E (5,584) (1,667) = (7,251)
Net book amount REFE = 3,319 = 3,319
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2-_Z-h1f¥=R=t-H
tEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE = 3,319 = 3,319
Additions NE - - 600 600
Amortisation 3] - (1,178) (60) (1,238)
Closing net book amount FREEFE = 2,141 540 2,681
At 31 March 2019 RZB-NE=A=+-H
Cost 2% 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  Z &5 §5 K Bl (E (5,584) (2,845) (60) (8,489)
Net book amount EEFE - 2,141 540 2,681
During the year, the Group purchased certain patents and FA-AEBEMR—EEHE QG Concept
trademarks from an associate, Concept Infinity Limited (“CIL"), Infinity Limited ([CIL | ) BBAE TEF X
at a consideration of HK$600,000 (2018: Nil). EiZ - R{EAE600,000/8 T (ZE— \F:
7)o
Amortisation of HK$1,238,000 (2018: HK$986,000) has #951,238,0008 L (=F —\&:
been charged to general and administrative expenses in the 986,000 7T) IR Erea amzx N — R K&
consolidated income statement. THEBEEABE TR
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Rt 35 8 % B 6

GOODWILL [}
2019 2018
—F-NF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT
Beginning and end of the year R F ) Je FF 4% 3,949 3,949

The Group's goodwill is related to the acquisitions of 50%
equity interest of Suga Technology Limited and 15% equity
interest of Suga Technology Hong Kong Limited, both of which
are wholly owned subsidiaries principally engaged in trading of
electronic products.

Impairment test for goodwill

The Group combined the operation of the two entities as one
and therefore, management considered these two entities as
one cash generating unit ("CGU").

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period which incorporate the
following key assumptions.

AEENHEEKBEERMERAF
S50%BAEEREERMEEARA A
15%BRARZER MEGR/EENBR
B EERENREEETEM-

o 2 R (R
AEBEEMEERZEBANR— B
it EEERARSHAERA—ERS
ELB ((REELBM]) -

BeELBEU 2RI mER N RERER
AEEEE AR EIRELEEER
RREDFRRCVBEEEL 2RSSR
ERAET EBRETIEZERK

2019 2018

—E-NEF ZE-N\F

Terminal growth rate o g R &K 3.0% 3.0%
Discount rate AEIR K 12.0% 12.0%

Management determined budgeted gross margin and revenue
growth rate based on past performance and their expectations
for market development. The discount rates used are pre-
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
Cash flows beyond the period covered in approved budgets are
extrapolated using a growth rate that do not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGUs
operates.

Based on the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management, the directors are of the view that there is no
impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2019.

ERERBBERARYTHRE 2 B
BT TR TS RIS R < FTRA 2
IR A AT % - B RBRABIE S 1R 2 3K
EER-BEEHEERENNZA SR
ENERLTRAR G EEEUEE L ¥
BrRETHEREZEREEA-

REEEERECCHABSRERA
EZRARBER_ZE-NF=A=+ 8
I R (B °
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184

SUBSIDIARIES

11

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

MELT

AKRAIRZ

(S p—

=

NER_ZE—NF=A

=St+-—BZEEMBRAAFENOT:

establishment and kind of Issued share capital/ Group equity Principal activities and
Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
EMRIL/ BLBBR
L EEERER BRI/ BARK AEEELERAEE FEEEREERY
2019 2018
ZE-AF TN\%
Suga International British Virgin Islands, limited Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited (i) liability company Us$700
RERAHS BRAA EBR700E T RERR
Suga Electronics Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic
(Hong Kong) Limited company products in Hong Kong
FERRAT Bt BRRARA EEk2ET REBEEETED
Suga Electronics Limited (ii) Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2; 100% 100% Trading of electronic
company Non-voting deferred products in Hong Kong
shares HK$4,000,000 (ii)
FEEFARAF( B BRRA LRRET BREREE REBEBRETEM
FE R 174,000,000/ 7t (ii)
Suga Beauty Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Design and trading of
company electronic products in
Hong Kong
BB BRLRA LERET REERIREEEFER
Precise Computer Tooling Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of moulds and
Co., Limited company HK$500,000 plastic products in
Hong Kong
BIBKHEERAR & BRARA &3 AR500,000/ 7T REEEERAREBER
On Million Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding in
company Hong Kong
g R BB BRRA ERRET NEERANE
Suga Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic
company products in Hong Kong
EERMARAAF BB BRLA EEk2ET REBEEETEM
Time Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$10 90% 90%  Investment holding in
company Hong Kong
BROCEZAERAA & BRARA LRR0ET REENEREER
SGI Venture Limited (“SGI") Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Design and trading of

FEEMHNERAF
(MEEENEN])

company

BB BRLA

HK$4,000,000

% i 4,000,0007% 7T
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SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 BT (&)
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at AARARZE-—NRFERZZTE-NF=
31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows: (Continued) A=+ —BZ2XxZMBRAAIFBOT:
(%&)
Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of Issued share capital/ Group equity Principal activities and
Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
MR, R B R
28 EEERERR BRI/ HARE AEERERTEE TEXBREXMH
2019 2018
ZBE-AE T \%
Suga Technology Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electronic
Hong Kong Limited company HK$100,000 products in Hong Kong
FERMBEBERAT BE BRRF i@ 100,0008 7T REREEETEm
Suga Macao Commercial Macao, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of pet products in
Offshore Limited ("SMCQ") company MOP100,000 Macao
FERFBRFEERBERART  RF BRAA ZLiBiR100,00002 M % RNEMEEENER
(MEERMEFmERE])
United Fountain Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100%  Pet food distribution in
Investment Ltd. company Hong Kong
ERRERRAF EE BRAA ERRIET REESHENR R
Suga Electronics (Shenzhen) Mainland China, limited liability ~ HK$33,500,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Co., Ltd. (iii), (xv) company products in Mainland China
EEEF (RINERAA mER - FRAF 33,500,007 70 NP RRBREETER
(ifi) * (xv)
Suga Electronics (Dongguan) Mainland China, limited liability ~ US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Co. Limited ("SEDG") (iv), (xv) company products in Mainland China
FEEEF (RR)ERAA hE R FRAF 5,000,000 7T A BRLREE T En
(MEEEFEZ]) (V) (xv)
Long Join (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Design and trading of
Electronics Co., Limited company electronic products in
Hong Kong
Bl (BB)SFERDA EE BRRA LEk2ET REBRAREBETER
Nodic-Matsumoto Tooling and Mainland China, limited liability ~ US$6,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of moulds
Plastic Injection (Huizhou) company and plastic products in
Co., Limited (“Nodic") (v), (xv) Mainland China
BN —MARETE (BM) FEAH - BERAF 6,000,000 7T RPEREERAREBER
BRAR (AL W) ()
Suga Technology (Dongguan) Mainland China, limited liability ~ US$12,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic

Co., Ltd. (“STDG") (vi), (xv)
FESIES EY=1 YN
(IR ]) (vi) (xv)

company

REAN FRAF

12,000,000% 7T
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 HEATE (%-)
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at KRR E-NFERZZE-N\F=
31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows: (Continued) B=+—H ZE ZWBARIGERWT:
(%&)
Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of Issued share capital/ Group equity Principal activities and
Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
RSB B
A% EERERR B/ BARE AEEERERTEE TEXBREXBH
2019 2018
“E-nfE —T)\F
Suga USA Inc. U.S.A., limited liability Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100%  Investment holding in U.S.A
company
%B - BRAA LTRR10B T REBREREER
Suga Networks Equipment Mainland China, limited liability ~ HK$17,500,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. company products in Mainland China
("SNESL") (vii), (xv)
FEREHEN ORI AR RE R AR A 17,500,000/ 7T RPBEABEEEFER
(MEEB®eR MDWM()
Chummily Trading (Shenzhen) Mainland China, limited liability ~ HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of pet products in
Limited (“CTL") (viii), (xv) company Mainland China
FXES (RN ERAF HE R AR A 1,000,000 7T RPBEABEEENER
([FEXES]) (viiD)~ (xv)
Espetsso Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
company Hong Kong
B BRAA ERRIET REBDHENER
Chummily Technology (Tianjin) Mainland China, limited liability ~ RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
Co., Ltd ("CTLTJ") (ix), (xv) company Mainland China
REEXHBAERAT mE R HRAA AR #10,000,0007C RPBEALD HEDER
(TRFEFX) (%) (xv)
Chummily International Trading Mainland China, limited liability ~ RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd company Mainland China
("CTLGZ") (x), (xv)
BNERBEBRESBRA REIAM BRAA AR ¥1,000,0007T R E RS Y E
(TEMERD) () (x >
Happypaws International Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$10 100% 100%  Pet food distribution in Asia
Limited company
RUOBEBEBRER % BRAR LRR10B T THERDHENR R
Chongmi Investment & Mainland China, limited liability RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Consulting services in

186

Consultation (Shenzhen)

Co., Ltd(”CMIC”)( i), (x )
/ﬂiwﬁ‘l/i%#& 3 an u’ﬂﬁ B

([BARBE]D) () (xv)

company

RE R AR A

AR#20,000,0007
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SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Issued share capital/

EZIxWF”T?I

Group equity

Rt 35 8 % B 6

—hER_FE-AF=

(I

Principal activities and

Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
MR, R B R
28 EEERERR B/ BARE AEERERTEE TEXBREXMH
2019 2018
“E-NFE —T)\F
Suga Smart Tech Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$100 51% 51% Design and trading of
company electronic products in
Hong Kong
FEENRRBRAF B BRRAA E@R100B T REBRAREEETER
Suga Japan Co., Ltd Japan, limited liability company ~ Japanese Yen 100% 100% Design and trading of
2,000,000 electronic products in Japan
Suga Japantf = 24t AA BRAF 2,000,0008 REARAREEETER
Wepet Holdings Ltd Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in
company Hong Kong
EEREEERAT EE BRAA ERRIET RERREZR
Dongguan Suga Idea Mainland China, limited liability ~ US$1,000,000 100% - Manufacturing of
Electronics Company company electronic products in
Limited ("DSIE") (xii) (xv) Mainland China
SEEETEARD REA BERAR] 1,000,000% 7T REBERMEESFER
([REEEEF] ) (xii)
Suga Bac Ninh Company Vietnam, limited liability US$800,000 100% - Manufacturing of
Limited (“SVN"), (xiii) company electronic products in
Vietnam
B BRAA 800,000% T REEEESTER

Notes:

(i) The shares of Suga International Limited are held directly by the Company.

The shares of the other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

(ii) The non-voting deferred shares of Suga Electronics Limited are held by
Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway Business Limited, which
are owned by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On, directors and beneficial
shareholders of the Company. These non-voting deferred shares have no
voting rights, are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled to any
distributions upon winding up unless a sum of HK$10,000,000,000 per
ordinary share has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares.

(i)

Suga International LimitedZ % {3 A N A &) EL B
B KM B AR 2 IRH AR AR 7 HE
5o

EEEFTERAFAZERERELER
3 M Essential Mix Enterprises Limited &
BroadwayBusiness Limited# % - M52 78|
HARNAIESFHEaRRRAZBLIREER
EEHER ZEERERRTEROERERTN
WER B BRE  REEBREBABEDIK
GAREBA%10,000,000,0004 7014 « 32 FFEIR R
ERERNDFHAEAATIEDIK -

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F % 187



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

Suga Electronics (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is a wholly foreign owned enterprise
established in Mainland China with an approved period of operation of 20
years until June 2024.

SEDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033.

Nodic is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 30 years until September 2020.

STDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 20 years until April 2027.

SNESL is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 20 years until October 2022.

CTL is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 30 years until April 2041.

CTLTJ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045.

CTLGZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045.

CMIC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033.

DSIE is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China
with an approved period of operation of 20 years until June 2038.

SVN is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in
December 2018.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

All subsidiaries established in Mainland China have financial accounting
year end date on 31 December in accordance with the local statutory
requirements, which is not coterminous with the Group. The consolidated
financial statements of the Group being presented were prepared based
on the management accounts of these subsidiaries for the twelve months
ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.
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(iii)
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(viii)
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(xiv)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rt 35 8 % B 6

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 12 WEEAFICER
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Interests in associates (Note (a)) REEERNB 2k (Kit@) - 3,623
Amounts due from associates (Note (b)) JFE L Bt 5 X R FRIB (KT (b)) 5,085 4,149
(a) Interests in associates (a) RERELFIZHES
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Beginning of the year NG 3,623 3,804
Increase in interests in associates B & N R 2 B I N — 2,194
Impairment loss on interest R—EBE QR
in an associate EmBESE (1,972) =
Share of losses of associates JE(L Bt = A R E 1B (1,651) (2,375)
Share of net assets JB(EEEFE - 3,623

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group made
capital injections in two associates, Growgreen Limited
("Growgreen”) and Infinity Network Limited (“INL"),
being companies incorporated in Hong Kong and the
British Virgin Islands, at considerations of HK$2,000,000
and US$25,000 (equivalent to HK$194,000), respectively.

In May 2018, the Group disposed of its 24% equity
interest and 3,800 preference shares (Note 17) in
Cohuborate Ltd (“Cohub”) to Boxlight Corporation
(“BOXL"), a company incorporated in the United States,
whose shares are listed on National Association of
Securities Dealers Automated Quotations, in exchange
for 9,774 common stocks of BOXL, recognising a gain of
HK$426,000 (Note 29).

REBZ=-T—N\F=ZA=+—AL
FE-AEERMEADNREE R
EEBELBEETMAK L 2B QA
SHARRQAF ([FE]) Kinfinity
Network Limited ([INL])/E& - £
&5 5l /2,000,000 7T 25,000
70 (FHER194,00087T) °

RZE-—NFERAA AEEM
Boxlight Corporation ([BOXL | -
—EREEFMK B ERKRHDGR
TEH2EEFHERZIEHE A H
BHERSK LT zarA)HEAER
Cohuborate Ltd ([Cohub |)# &
224% P& #E & 3,8000% 18 5t ik (A7t
17) + AR ER9, 77488 BOXLE @K -
R W 426,000 7T (M1 7£29) °

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F % 189



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 88 & B 6

— o =
12 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 12 RBELFZHER (1)
. . . — o
(a) Interests in associates (Continued) (a) MEEBARZHER (1)
The assets and liabilities of the Group’s principal AREBZETEBFLTHERRZE
associates, which are unlisted, are as follows: EXaEWT:
Particulars of Country of
Name issued shares held incorporation Interest held Assets Liabilities Revenue Loss
28 BEERTRAHE EMRLAR bzop $:3 KE af [§: 3|
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“B-NFE -T-)\F|ZR-NF -T-)\Ff ZB-AF -Z-\F =B-NE -T-\F |ZB-NF -—T-/\%
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhR FET FHR AR FEx TER Féx TEn
ClL Ordinary shares HK$5,000,000  Hong Kong, limited 25% 25% 1,161 2,550 8,199 6,520 310 210 1,840 2,882
(2018: HK$5,000,000) liability company
BREE & 1R5,000,000% 1T R ARAR
(ZB-0\%F
5,000,000/7E)
Growgreen Ordinary shares HK$3,000,000  Hong Kong, limited liability 44.44% 44.44% 1,027 2,570 5,151 373 1,153 1,292 6,321 3,116
(2018: HK$3,000,000) company
L iR R3,000,0007% 7T & BERAR
(Z2-N\%:
3,000,000%7¢)
Cohub Nil (2018: Ordinary shares Great ~ United Kingdom, limited - 24% Not 2,958 Not 7,051 Not 1,070 Not 3,165
British Pound ("GBP") 24) liability company applicable applicable applicable applicable
T#ER TER TER TER
Cohub &(ZF-N\F ®E HRAR
E@RaRE ([58]))
INL Ordinary shares US$25,000 British Virgin Islands, limited 50% 50% mn 767 1,803 1,240 653 535 1,057 860
(2018: US$25,000) liability company
INL a;ﬁan&zsoooii REELER BRAA
(ZZ—\F:25,000%7T)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial L BERSEEN G S M BR
information to the carrying amount of the interest in RERZEEHE RN R ERERAE
the principal associates recognised in the consolidated B ¥ AR
financial statements:
ClL Growgreen
BRAE BH Cohub INL
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
—Z-NF -\F ZB-hE —T-)\f ZB-AF -\F ZB-hf —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER THER TR TER TR T
Net (liabilities)/assets of the R=A=+—HZKZ A7 Not
associates as at 31 March (8f8) /EEZRE applicable
(7,038) (3,970) (4,124) 2,197 TEH (4,093) (1,531) (473)
Proportion of the Group’s ~ REERBEARHEHE
ownership interest in the - $opdidl]
associates 25% 25% 44.44% 44.44% - 24% 50% 50%
Net assets attributable AEEEEEEFE
to the Group - - - 976 - - - -
Goodwill HE - 2,432 - 215 - - - -
Carrying amounts of the AEERBERRZ
Group's interests in the BERkEE
associates - 2,432 - 1,191 - - - -
190 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19
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(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Interests in associates (Continued)

The Group's interests in associates included goodwill,
which is attributable to the workforce of the associates
(mainly CIL) and the synergy expected to arise after the
investments. The directors have reviewed the carrying
amounts of the interests in associates with the fair value
of assets in use. During the year, the carrying amount of
the interest in CIL is reduced through recognition of an
impairment loss of HK$1,972,000 (2018: Nil).

The carrying values of the Group's interests in associates
are compared to the recoverable amounts, which are
the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Management performed the valuation on
31 March 2019 by considering the following principal

factors:
- the economic outlook in general and the specific
economic and competitive elements affecting the

associates’ business, industries and markets;

- the nature and prospects of the industries in which
the associates are participating;

- the market-derived investment returns of entities
engaged in a similar line of businesses;

- the stage of development of the associates’
operations; and

the business risks of the associates.

The provision for impairment is concluded from the
assessment of the cash flow position of CIL, taking
into consideration of its forecasted performance and
development by management.

Rt 35 8 % B 6

12 RBELTZES (1)

(a)

&

FRBREBERAR 2018/19F K

PREAFZER (8)
REEBRBENREE I E=EIE
BMENR(FZEREBAIE)BEIE
EEE UREHRKREREELEZ
BRABE - ESEEFHREE QA
EnEEREEATERAEEATE.
FN REBEEBEZEAIAZAER
—IER{EE 181,972,000 L (==&
— N5 &) M ERL

AEERBE QR ER 2 REER

FEWHRBEETLE JREESEA
EREERAFERBEREARE

PTHREE-BEBER_FT-—NAF
ZA=t—BETHE LT RA
TEERE:

- BRCEMSURFZERE R
AIEBR TEERMBZEEL
ERBEFILE:

- BEA

B ;

AIMETEHE KR

- RFBUXBLEEZMEME

RE B R

fENR CXBERRER R

- BEQRZEBER-

HMERGBKEEEHERAE A

BRBEERBERZBEREB TG
BmIEDL -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

12

192

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

12 REBE

LFZHES ()

(b) Amounts due from associates (b) FEUGERENTIRIB
2019 2018
“e-_h&E -—T-N\&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
CIL (Note (i) ZEREIE (HaE0)) - 3,568
INL (Note (ii)) INL (4722 3i)) 585 581
Growgreen (Note (iii)) SRE (K i) 4,500 =
5,085 4,149

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2018, the amount due from CIL of HK$2,250,000
was interest bearing at 6% per annum, secured by personal
guarantee given by the major shareholder of CIL (the
“Guarantor”), and repayable by 31 March 2018. The Guarantor
undertook the balance due to the Group by CIL when it became
over due on 1 April 2018. The Group then transferred such
balance together with its relevant accrued interest totalled
HK$2,318,000 from “amounts due from associates” to
receivable” (Note 18) on 1 April 2018.

“loans

As at 31 March 2019, all the remaining balance of amount due
from CIL amounting to HK$1,250,000 was fully impaired and
the impairment is disclosed as part of “net impairment losses on
financial assets” in the consolidated income statement.
As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, amount due from INL is non-
interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2019, amount due from Growgreen is interest
bearing at 5% per annum and repayable by 31 December 2019.
50% of such balance is secured by personal guarantee given by a
substantial shareholder of Growgreen while the remaining 50% of
the balance is unsecured.

The directors are of the opinion that no further provision for impairment

is necessary in respect of the carrying value of the Group’s amounts due

from associates as at 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil) as such balances are
expected to be fully recoverable.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2018/19
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(iii)

EZRR AREHAKER-F—
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AJ)(’F&Z%LMEW’H&# WAER=
T N\FZA=Z+—BAEE-ERA
FEBEAEERAAEER T —N\F
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T-N\FUA—BBHHRERABREE
ST A B4 ££2,318,000/8 TT i [ e ik &
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY

13 BENBSCMERERAR

CATEGORY
Financial
Financial Financial assets at
Loans and Available- assets at assets at amortised
receivables for-sale FVPL Fvoci cost Total
RATLE
BATVE EAEA R
TABEZz 2EEAZ RS
ERRERRE  ATHEHE BREE BKEE ZHBEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT TR TR FAT FRET
Assets BE
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=ZA=1+—-8
Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 14) RATERZAEMEZEKAZ
MBBE (Hit14) - - - 6,910 - 6,910
Trade and other receivables B E 58 & E A FEUR IR - - - - 230,376 230,376
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 17) RATERABHZ M BEE
(Htit17) - - 27,107 - - 27,107
Loans receivable (Note 18) EREWE (Hri218) - - - - 2,188 2,188
Amounts due from associates (Note 12(b)) FEMCEE & N R ZR (M7 1200)) - - - - 5,085 5,085
Pledged bank deposits (Note 19) BEBBIER (HE19) = = = = 115 115
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 79) BeRBReSEY (Hit19) - - - - 127,826 127,826
- - 27,107 6,910 365,590 399,607
At 31 March 2018 R-E-\F=ZA=+—H
Available-for-sale financial assets At HENGEE - 6,242 - - = 6,242
Trade and other receivables B 5T R E RN IB 218,381 = = = = 218,381
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss XA TFEZABR 2 MBEE
(Note 17) (Ht3t17) - - 3,757 - - 3,757
Loans receivable (Note 18) BHEWE (HiE18) 2,500 = = = = 2,500
Amounts due from associates (Note 72(b)) FE B & A RIFRIB (M 12(0)) 4,149 - - - - 4,149
Time deposits over three months (Note 79) BB=EANTHEER
(Kiit19) 15,500 - - - - 15,500
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) BERESEEBY (Mi#19) 165,105 - - - = 165,105
405,635 6,242 3,757 - - 415,634
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT AT
Liabilities =R
Other financial liabilities at AT BRN A A G
amortised cost
Trade and other payables FE T B 5 AR 5 & EL At JE A~ 5RIE 198,348 217,437
Bank borrowings (Note 20) RITEE (H7t20) 69,537 68,914
267,885 286,351
EEEBREEFRAR 2018/19F 193



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

194

14 BAFELEARMZEUIAZRMR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Unlisted equity funds FETRAES 6,910 —

Movement of the Group's financial assets at FVOCI is as
follows:

ARERATERALMEERAZ IS
BESHMT

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —E-N\F

HK$000 HK$'000

TH&ERT FHET

Beginning of the year R E ) - =
Reclassification from available-for-sale BN E BB % mE 2RI E 5%

financial assets on the adoption of HKFRS 9 RARATEEENHEE

(Note 2.2(b)) EMOE (HiZ2.200)) 6,242 -

Additions NE 1,550 -

Net fair value loss charged to equity FFAEm AT EEBERFEE (882) s

End of the year 4R 6,910 -

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s financial assets at FVOCI
comprised 3,288 (2018: 3,288) and 700 (2018: 500) non-voting
and redeemable shares in two unlisted equity funds. These
equity funds are denominated in US$, with fair values being
determined based on the carrying value of the funds calculated
with reference to the quoted market prices of the underlying
investments. The fair values of such financial assets are within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

Details on the change in accounting policy and the
reclassification of equity investments from available-for-sale
financial assets to financial assets at FVOCI and the fair value
measurements are set out in Notes 2.2(b) and 3.3, respectively.
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16

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 8 = P &E

INVENTORIES 15 &8
2019 2018
—ZE2-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Raw materials R AT %} 240,778 219,921
Work-in-progress fFEITRE 22,643 23,436
Finished goods 2K 28,806 28,990
292,227 272,347
Less: Provision for impairment R E G (3,605) (3,605)
288,622 268,742
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included A $01,256,953,0008 L (=& — N\ F:
in cost of sales amounted to HK$1,256,953,000 (2018: 1,108,971,0008 L) 2 T ER A HER B
HK$1,108,971,000). R Wt A T#HERAR] -
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16 FEU SR 5 IR =k B Bt 0 5 IR
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Trade receivables JEUE SRR 222,739 208,764
Less: Loss allowance B E R (7.618) (3,748)
Trade receivables, net JEWE R TR 215,121 205,016
Prepayments to vendors AR E 5 RIE 21,080 11,157
Prepayments for plant and equipment TE1 R BB K 5% 48 R 10,170 3,074
Other prepayments E b FE A ROE 3,653 3,663
Rental and other deposits MekEMiEe 2,181 1,367
Value added tax receivables JE I (B B 3,658 2,631
Other receivables H b jE Uk 3R 9,416 9,367
265,279 236,275
Less: Non-current prepayments and B 3E R BN TR FRIE K
other receivables H {th B W 5008 (13,374) (3,074)
Current portion of trade and other receivables FEWE 5 R A&
Hh fE W IE 2 B B 251,905 233,201

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F %
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16 FENL ST 5 MR 3 B 3 fth FE M SR IR
(CONTINUED) (%)
The Group recognised loss allowance for trade and other RNE BB IE W E F AR FR K H e Uk SR IE
receivables as follows: RZBERBOT :
2019 2018
—B-h% —T %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss allowance ERERE
— Trade receivables — B E 5 IR 3,931 50
— Other receivables — H {th fE W FRIB 202 -
Net impairment losses on trade and FEWE 5 BRI B
other receivables FE W R IE R B B 18 F 5 4,133 =
The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed as FHREBEBEE STEERGEENER 2
“net impairment losses on financial assets” in the consolidated [ EEREEEFRE] -

income statement.

The carrying values of the Group’s trade and other receivables REBEEWE SRR E M EBGRIE 2 B
approximate their fair values. HEEEQAFEMRS
As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the ageing analysis of the RZE-NFRERZE—N\F=ZA=+—
trade receivables based on invoice date were as follows: H EUWESRRIREZAHZERR T
LU
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
0 to 30 days 0% 30H 202,186 195,924
31 to 60 days 31260H 11,498 5,828
61 to 90 days 61%290H 900 1,937
91 to 180 days 912 180H 2,451 1,280
Over 180 days 180H A 5,704 3,795
222,739 208,764
Less: Loss allowance W BERE (7,618) (3,748)
Trade receivables, net JEWE ZERFFRE 215,121 205,016
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 FEU R 5 MR 3 B 3 i FE U &%

All trade receivables are either repayable within one year or on

demand.

The Group generally grants credit terms of 30 days to its

customers.

As at 31 March 2019, trade receivables of HK$12,957,000
(2018: HK$9,092,000) were past due but not considered
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers
who have no recent history of default. The ageing of these

receivables is as follows:

Rt 35 8 % B 6

i

(#)
FE KR E SEREN —FARERER

fBI& -

AEB-—RETHEHEPIOBZEER-

—E-AF=A=+—H" 12,957,000
T (ZZF—)\5:9,092,000/87T) Z &

B MR R 5 85 5B % 4 30 A R B 2
BYESAM - L% RN 5K R
M

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

31 to 60 days 31£260H 11,498 5,828
61 to 90 days 61290H 900 1,937
91 to 180 days 912180H 559 1,280
Over 180 days 1808 LA E - 47
12,957 9,092

Movements on the loss allowance for trade receivables are as

KRB ZEREBREBEZSHNOT :

follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Beginning of the year REH 3,748 3,772
Provision for impairment recognised during FACERBERE
the year - 50
Increase in loss allowance recognised in FARBERER
profit and loss during the year R B 3L N 3,931 =
Receivables written off during the S A SE S AT Y ]
year as uncollectible JE U I8 = (161)
Exchange differences fEH =5 (61) 87
End of the year NGRS 7,618 3,748
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198

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The credit quality of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor considered impaired amounting to HK$202,164,000
(2018: HK$195,924,000) could be assessed by reference to
their payment history and current financial position. These
receivables relate to a whole range of customers for whom
there was no recent history of default. Management believes
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balance is expected to be fully recoverable.

As at 31 March 2019, the trade receivables from five customers
accounted for approximately 31% (2018: 49%) of the total
trade receivables. The Group’s credit risk management is
disclosed in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated in
the following currencies:

16

& U 32 5 AR 7% B H fth FE U &R IR
(#8)
AEHMIABEAEREERKRE 5HE
7£202,164,0008 0 (= ZT — )\ & :
195,924,000 L) 2 EE XA EH
BEEBRRERTERRETHG -%E
EWRIER % Fn B BB R R 2 B
EH-ERERE BN EEERTEE
REPRZEEHTBHI2EHMKE - HE
AR ZEEREL R ERE -

R-_ZE—hAFZA=Z+—HB XAEEE
PZREWEZEFEEKE ZEREE
2931% (ZZE—NF:49% ) c AE B 2
EERRBEBENGEVBHRRMEI R

Ego

FEWE B FREERIATEREE:

2019 2018

—E-hEF ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

HK$ BT 4,017 2,840
uss$ ETT 215,165 202,781
RMB AR 3,557 3,143
222,739 208,764
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Except for the loss allowance recognised for other receivables
amounting to HK$202,000 (2018: Nil), the Group is not aware
of any other credit risk on deposits, value added tax receivables
and other receivables as their counterparties are either banks,
government, corporation or individual with good credit ratings.
The majorities of these financial assets are neither past due nor
impaired and there is no history of default. The carrying amount
of deposits, value added tax receivables and other receivables
are denominated in the following currencies:

16

Rt 35 8 % B 6

& U B2 5 MR 7k B K fth FE U &R IR
(#8)

Bt EMmERREER BB EE
202,000 L (ZFE—N\F: &E)I K&
B TAEEES  EUOEES R A E
KWREEEMEMEERR REARS
HAEWART BEXEERITEEFTR
ZRAKMEA - ZEHMBEERIBA R
BB RE B EBERCR RS B
Yo (B 7 fx H fth FE R IE 2 BREE R IA TR
EHETE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

HK$ BT 2,085 1,818
RMB AR 10,708 9,059
Us$ ETT 2,236 2,344
Others Hb 226 144
15,255 13,365

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date is
the fair value of each class of receivables as mentioned above.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

REREABZRSEEARA LLESE
R HOB 2 A F (8 - A SR 3 S5 7 FE
I 40 2 A A

o =
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 17 BAFHEEABEZHMESE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Unlisted equity instruments (Note (i) FEETRATE (H1aE0)) 1,287 3,757
Listed equity instruments (Note (ii)) WA A (B EEG)) 244 =
Unlisted convertible promissory notes and FE LA AR A RIRE R
warrants (Note (iii) SRR RERE (KT FE (i) ) 25,576 =
Less: Non-current portion financial assets of FVPL & : IR A F{ERAEEH 2
MHBEEFERB B 27,107 3,757
Current portion financial assets at FVPL BRAFERABRZZ
MBEERSD D (25,576) (3,757)
1,531 -
Movement of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL for the year BE_T-NF=ZA=+—HLFELKE
ended 31 March 2019 is as follows: Bz AVELABRCMBEE 2RI
T
Unlisted
convertible
Unlisted Listed promissory
equity equity notes and
instruments  instruments warrants Total
FLEH
GIE: Y.
kL tWH AREER
BAIER BRAIR RRES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THETT T T TETT

Beginning of the year REH] 3,757 - - 3,757

Additions B - 733 15,600 16,333

Disposal & (307) - - (307)
Net fair value (losses)/gains charged to REEMBRZATE
profit or loss (Note 29) (BR)/ W=F8

(Hiz#29) (2,163) (489) 9,976 7.324

End of the year RELR 1,287 244 25,576 27,107
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Movement of the Group's financial assets at fair value through

Rt 35 8 % B 6

17 BAFEEARRIMBERE
(#8)
BE-T-\F=A=t+-RILEELE

profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2018 is as follows: EiEZAFERAEBER MBEECEFHN
T
Unlisted
equity
instruments
LT
BATAR
HK$'000
T T
Beginning of the year NG 4,838
Net fair value loss charged to profit or loss RIEENBR 2 AFE
(Note 29) B8 F 88 (A it29) (1,081)
End of the year NGRS 3,757

Notes:

The Group's investment in unlisted equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss mainly comprised future equity interests in an
investee which is a company incorporated in Hong Kong principally
engaged in development and distribution of pet related mobile
applications and electronic devices.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the fair value of the Group's unlisted
equity investment in the Investee is determined by Avista Valuation
Advisory Limited, qualified valuer (the “Valuer”), by market approach.
The fair value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).
Key inputs to the valuation include price/earnings ratios of comparable
companies, LoMD, and the business performance of such investee. There
is no interrelationships with those inputs. The higher the price/earnings
ratios of comparable companies, the higher the fair value. The higher the
LoMD, the lower the fair value. The better the business performance of
the Investee, the higher the fair value.

Such investments are accounted for as current assets of the Group as at
31 March 2019 as the financial instruments are expected to expire in July
2019.

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F %

AEERNREAFELABRZIFLTRATR
ZRATERENERAN (KRB BEMK
VYRR TERERBERDHEDHEBR
ERREARETFRE)MEDRAEES -

RZFE-NAFR_ZE-NF=ZA=+—H'&
SERBERETHFELTRARENRFE:
mAERMERD ([EER]) X Eah@AR
RABATIHEEE - R FEDRAFERER
(33N FE=RA - HENTIEHAERET
BEURARMMAEE REMSRALENTE &
BRBRERAETNEBRER -ZEBAEZHILE
MR -JELRARNMERER  BIAT
BElS RSB ELS  BATEY
KRR ETOEBRBLLE  AIRAFERRS-

HREHERITANR-_Z-—NAFLAZH"

HZEREER-_ZE-NF=A=+—BAK
IIEAREEZ B A E °
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Apart from the future equity interests in the investee as mentioned in Note
17(i), the Group's investments in unlisted equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss as at 31 March 2018 also included 3,800 preference
shares in Cohub, a then associate of the Group.

In May 2018, the Group disposed of its 24% equity interest (Note 12)
and 3,800 preference shares in Cohub to BOXL in exchange for 9,774
common stocks of BOXL. The fair value of the common stocks of BOXL is
determined based on its current bid price on the transaction date. Gain
on disposal amounting to HK$426,000 (Note 29) has been recorded in
the Group's consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March
2019.

As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of such listed equity instrument is
determined based on its current bid price. The fair value is within level 1 of
the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

On 28 May 2018, the Group entered into two agreements with an
investee (the “Investee”), which is a company incorporated in the United
States, and a customer of the Group under which the Group invested
US$2,000,000 in redeemable convertible promissory notes of the Investee
and purchased warrants for subscription of 50,860 shares of the Investee

at an exercise price of US$0.01 per share.

The Investee is principally engaged in provision of turnkey solutions and
engineering services for the internet of things. Such promissory notes are
unsecured, interest bearing at 2% per annum, and repayable under the

following scenarios:

- any time on or after 31 December 2019 at the Group's discretion;

- upon the occurrence of a corporate transaction such as a sale/
transfer of substantially all of the Investee's assets, an initial public
offering of the Investee’s common stocks, a liquidation, dissolution

or winding up of the Investee; or

- upon the occurrence of a default event.
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17 82

YFEHREARRZMBERE

(#%)

Bzt (&)

(ii)

(iii)

RZZE—NF=ZA=+—8" BRHF170)m 2
mw&§ﬁ2$%kﬁwv$$lmE£¥@
HMABREZILETRATAZRETBERAE
£ B E 2B & A 8 Cohub#)3,800A% 8 5L A% °

RZT—N\FAHA AEERBOXLEEHRK

Cohub#)24% A% # (M 3112) K&3,800/% 18 5¢
B% » LAMRENBOXL2 9,77 43% % 38A% - BOXLE A%
ZRFEDREBEERRZAMNZEREAEBE
TE o R EFTS Ik 25426,000% 7T (KisE29) Bt A

$E.ai—7 NEFE=ZA=+—BLEFEZ
BUREERA -

R-ZB-NAF=ZA=+—RB HELTERAT

EZQW@B@?H%% INEBEE - ~FE

TRATFEER (ME33)E—KA-

RZZ—N\FRAZ-+N\B AEEHEKKRE
H(HERER] HAEEEIAMKINAF)
RAKERPII MG HE B ANEBRE W
& 75 7] fE B A #2 BR A, B2 452,000,000 T
A B B8 A\ RT R B 1T (£ {80.013£ JT 38 #850,860
AR B AR B J7 IR 17 B SR AR AR 55 o

BRENTERERYBRREERBBARTR
R TRRBES -HEAL TR ARIER %25
ME2%t B RARTIERTER

= AEBERER _ZE-NF+_A=+—
B3k 2 R EERESE

- RN DA S PNy E /R
RETRRIENDEE BRAMBEER
REFZEBR HIREHER  RASK
BE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii) (Continued)
The Group has the right, at its option, to convert such promissory notes
into 76,290 shares of the Investee's common stocks at any time prior to
the later of:

- within 30 days following the Group's receipt of a notice from the
Investee;

- the consummation of a corporate transaction by the Investee; or

- 31 December 2019.

Such debt conversion price is subject to adjustment if any adjustment
events occur, such as stock split/‘combinations and dividends, capital
reorganisation, merger or sales of assets.

The Group is mandatory to convert the entire principal and any accrued/
unpaid interest when a qualified financing takes place for the Investee,
which refers to any sale/issuance of equity/debt with gross proceeds
exceeding US$10 million.

As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the Group's investments in the
Investee is determined by the Valuer using the binomial model. The fair
value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3). Key inputs
to the valuation include forecasted business performance of the Investee
and straight bond discount rate. There is no interrelationships with those
inputs. The better the forecasted business performance of the Investee,
the higher the fair value. The higher the straight bond discount rate, the

lower the fair value.

Rt 35 8 % B 6

17 BAFEREARRIMERE
(%)

Bt - (8)
(iii) (%)
rEEAEATERE

- 7R & (B 5 IR B 75 1938 A AE30R
A

= RBRETTERAARS %

= RZB-AF+-_A=+—H

(REBBE R i ERKRES AR AL RERE
#7376,290 R % A 75 BB o

WHRERMBERE SINRHFE AR
BB EAEM AHHEEEE  MEREDR
EREN T HE-

BERREFEBSEERME (AEMHEE %
TR/ &% B FT{S ;XIE 48 28 238 10,000,000
E) K AEEAGREDERS REMET
RZAFIE -

RIZZB-NF=A=+—0 rEERERES
ZREHRFEHGEMEA EAEAEE -
RFETDIRAFEBER (ME33)E=RA -
ENEIEGANEEERRETNBEARERE
REBEFUHAL - ZEHAEZRLERE
BF A TFESEERRETNRARERR
mAF Mg i BEFRRERS A AFE
AR
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204

LOANS RECEIVABLE EREWR KRR
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET

Loans receivable B e W E

— Non-current portion - ERBE D 1,063 =
— Current portion - REE D 1,125 2,500
2,188 2,500

As at 31 March 2018, loans receivable represented the loan
principal of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,500,000) due
from an independent individual. Such loan was fully settled in
May 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, loan balance amounting to
HK$1,688,000 represented the loans receivable from the
Guarantor transferred from “amounts due from associates”
(Note 12) which is unsecured, interest bearing at 6% per
annum and repayable by eighteen monthly instalments of
HK$93,750.

The remaining loan balance amounting to HK$500,000
was granted to the Guarantor in September 2018, which is
unsecured, interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable
by five monthly instalments of HK$100,000 commencing from
October 2020.

The directors concluded that no impairment provision is
necessary against such balances as at 31 March 2019.
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R_BE—NE=A=+—8 EXEKZ
BEEKR—EBIATZERASARE
2,000,000 (#H% 72,500,000/ 7T ) °
HEEZER - N\FRABERES -

RZZE—-NhE=A=+—80 EX&&
1,688,000/ Tig B 5 [ /B W B & 1A &)
E=d

WRIE - HEEREUGKRE R ERR 1R
FHNEeYTERAZ T NBASHEER
93,7504 T °

T2 B K4 £4£500,0008 TER —E—N
FLAEETERA HRAEREHRA
ERT IREMNR6%FT BN B T
TFE+ARZAMA HHIEE 100,000
=
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19 TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 19 EHER BEHETERRR

AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS eRBAEERY
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEZEEY 127,826 165,105
Time deposits over three months (Note (a)) 838 = {6 A 89 E B F K
(FEE(a)) - 15,500
Pledged bank deposits EEARITIFR 115 =
127,941 180,605
Time deposits, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash EHEHR EERARTEFRERReRR S
equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: EBWMIEATERE:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
HK$ BT 11,752 18,357
uss$ X 80,241 136,958
RMB (Note (b)) ABR¥ (KzE(b)) 34,625 24,560
Other currencies BB 1,323 730
127,941 180,605
(a)  For the year ended 31 March 2019, the effective interest (a) BEZZTE—NEF=-A=+—HLHF
rate on the Group's bank deposits is 0.7% (2018: 1.1%) B RAEBRTERZIERENEXA
per annum. The bank deposits of the Group have an BF0T% (ZZFE—NF:1.1%)°
average maturity of 25 days (2018: 30 days). AEBZRITEFERZFEHEER A

25K (ZFE—N\F:30K) °

The conversion of bank balances and cash of the (b) AEEUARBFEZRITERR
Group denominated in RMB into foreign currencies REHBRRBINE REAREEDLH
and remittance of RMB funds out of Mainland China B A il - 2B R B A H B R A 2
are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign SNGE B ) 28 71 F2 28 7€ BT PR il o

exchange control promulgated by the Mainland Chinese
Government.
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20 BANK BORROWINGS 20 SRITEE
2019 2018
—E-hF ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Non-current FEFRED
Long-term bank borrowings REIRITEE 69,537 68,914
Less: current portion of long-term B REBRITEERDH S
bank borrowings (69,537) (65,155)
- 3,759
Current RE
Current portion of long-term bank borrowings RHEBRITEERBD B S 69,537 65,155
Total borrowings BE®EE 69,537 68,914
The terms of borrowings are as follows: BEER T EfRE 25
2019 2018
—2-nF -z )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHE T
Within one year —FR 69,537 65,155
In the second year B _F - 3,759
69,537 68,914
As at 31 March 2019, the Group has aggregate banking RZE—-—NWF=ZA=Z+—H & &
facilities of approximately HK$694,837,000 (2018: nEY EBERRES5mBEERITEELE
HK$681,500,000) for overdrafts, loans and trade financing. %8 #4)694,837,0008 0 (=& — )\ F:

681,500,000/ 7T ) ©

Unused facilities at the same date amounted to approximately FABzZAKE AR E4575,589,000/ 7T

HK$575,589,000 (2018: HK$547,508,000). These facilities are (ZZ— A% :547,508,000/8 7T ) - % &

secured by: BMEATIIER (EEM

(a) certain land and buildings (Note 7) of the Group (a) AEEIRMEEA45,819,000%8 T
with the carrying amounts of HK$45,819,000 (2018: —ZF— )\ 147,048,000 L) 2
HK$47,048,000). ETtREF (M&E7) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b) corporate guarantees provided by the Company and

20

certain of its subsidiaries.

In addition to the above, the Group is required to comply with
certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the banks.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates were as follows:

Rt 35 8 % B 6

MITHE (&)

(b) ADAREEFHEARDEREZD
AR -

B EdES  AEBAEFRITEMZE

TR BB B R

AEBREES 2N XEPHRABLRANE
HMEBBEHWMAT :

2019 2018

—2-hE —T-)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

6 months or less NEA ST 69,537 68,914
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as REEBZ2ERMNEWNT

follows:

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Bank borrowings RITEHE 3.10% 2.96%

As all the bank borrowings were at floating interest rates, the
carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair
values and all balances are denominated in HK$.

MR E MR ERION S BEER
BEEAATEAE M2 BE8ERET
£ -

DEFERRED INCOME TAX 21 SBIEFRGIR
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is BEHRBEENBEERBEBEITAOT
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAIT
Deferred income tax assets: EEFMEMEE:
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered -\t @A %Y EZ
after more than 12 months RIEFTIBHREE (2,330) (1,782)
Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEMEHMEE:
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled -mt-EARERZ
after more than 12 months REMEHAE 357 504
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21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 21 BEEFRTERM(#E)
The movement in the net deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities ERETCHER(EE) ABEFE2E
account is as follows: BT
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Beginning of the year REL) (1,278) (633)
Credited to consolidated income statement REAWF R A
(Note 31) (HaE31) (755) (645)
Exchange differences X =5 60 -
End of the year NSRS (1,973) (1,278)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BEFMSHEERAERFRNZES (K
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting A RRE MG RDEEREE 2 &8R) 1
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: N
Deferred income tax assets — BREFGEHREE —

Decelerated tax

depreciation Tax loss Others Total

HEBERE BIEBE Hit Fob

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
—E- -z -z -z -z _Z =% k-

nE —N\¥ —hE —N\¥ —hE —N\¥ —hE —N\¥
HK$'000  HK$'000 = HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HK$'000
TR TET THET TET THET TET TiEx TET

At 1 April RIEA—HA (805) (36) (48) (48) (929) (1,002) (1,782) (1,086)
Charged/(credited) to RErE W ER

consolidated income statement 1% / (3t A) 7 (769) 48 - (663) 73 (608) (696)
Exchange differences EHESE 60 - - - - = 60 =
At 31 March R=B=+—H (738) (805) - (48) (1,592) (929) (2,330) (1,782)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities —

21

Rt 35 8 % B 6

EIEFRRIR (48)

EEREHRAE—

Intangible assets Accelerated tax depreciation Total
BREE MERETE @t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
BN TN\ ZB-RF _"T-/\F  ZB-NFf _"TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TER THET THET
At 1 April RMA—A - 504 381 504 453
(Credited)/charged to REEWER
consolidated income statement  (5fA) /#k - (72) (147) 123 (147) 51
At 31 March R=A=+—H = 357 504 357 504

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$41,855,000 (2018: HK$27,313,000) for Hong Kong profits
tax purposes, which have no expiry, and unrecognised tax losses
of HK$56,588,000 (2018: HK$36,658,000) for PRC corporate
income tax purposes which will expire during year 2019 to year
2023 (2018: 2018 to 2022). No deferred tax assets have been
recognised for these tax losses as the directors consider that it
is not probable that the temporary difference will be reversed in
the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2019, deferred income tax liabilities of
HK$2,074,000 (2018: HK$1,793,000) has not been recognised
for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries as the
Company controls the dividend policies of these subsidiaries
and it is not probable that these subsidiaries would distribute
earnings in the foreseeable future. Unremitted earnings totalled
HK$41,481,000 as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$35,865,000).

R-ZE—AhFE=ZA=+—8 nEBFE
mmE (MEAEEME) FAEEARK
ERBIEE 841,855,000 T (—ZF— )\
%:27,313,000% 7T) P B EMSG
i s - R HERTIIEEE /56,588,000
BT (=—Z— )\ :36,658,0008 ) °
VR E-NFEEE_ZT_=FFF
(ZE—N\F: ZE—N\FE-_ZT__F)
I AREFRALTHEFAILETE
A R RER - B EHZERIEEE
MRELEHIBEEE -

R_ZE-—NEFEF=ZF=+—RB ELEHRE
B EA2,074,0008 T (-8 — )\ 4
1,793,000 T )W AR E THE ARG 2
REHRBFERENHT REMFHIE REA
BEARNREFNZENB AR ZRBEE
i 5% 5 Mt B 2 R T A g PA AT B % 3R 99 R
B - R-E-—HhF=ZA=+—HZARE
HEFE £ 541,481,000 7T (ZZE— N\
fF :35,865,000/8 L) °
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22 BRBRSAERRAEMECSREAR
CONTRACT LIABILITIES AanaR
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables FERTE 5 RN 179,539 199,828
Salaries and staff welfare payable JEfRtH & M E TR 14,340 13,374
Accrued expenses JEsTE A 4,876 4,862
Receipt in advance TE U FRIB - 27,282
Contract liabilities EREE 27,622 =
Others Hity 13,933 12,747
Total trade and other payables FET B 5 BR R % E At FE At
RIAAERE 240,310 258,093
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice (a) ERNEBESIRFEBEEAHZIRERS
date were as follows: LRI
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHRT FHET
0 to 30 days 0% 30H 166,436 183,447
31 to 60 days 31260H 3,176 4,029
61 to 90 days 61%290H 2,354 788
91 to 180 days 912 180H 2,113 5,285
Over 180 days 1808 A £ 5,460 6,279
179,539 199,828
The fair values of the Group's trade and other payables REERNE SRR HMERNRK
approximate their carrying values. BeRAFEEEREEES

210 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2018/19



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rt 35 8 % B 6

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated

22

BRRHAERRAMECSRRR
aNRR(|)

by ENESZEARIEEERNATER

in the following currencies: FHE -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TABTT
HK$ BT 15,239 16,570
us$ ETT 117,157 147,175
RMB AR 47,143 36,083
179,539 199,828

The carrying amounts of other payables and contract

(0 HMENKEREWNABZEREE

liabilities are denominated in the following currencies: BRUATE®RE:
2019 2018
—ZE-hE —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
HK$ BT 9,018 12,030
RMB AR 24,225 26,346
uss$ e 27,440 19,886
Other Hitb 88 3
60,771 58,265

The contract liabilities represented the advance payments
received from counterparties for goods that have not yet
been transferred to customers. The following table shows
the amount of revenue recognised in the year ended 31

(d AHABEEIWABETEFNE
MBERSETREBHEMN K T X
FINBE_Z-NF=A=+—H
LEERGEEANREMER MK

March 2019 relating to carried-forward contract liabilities: ek
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Revenue recognised that was included in the st AF#1 & 4 & (&
contract liabilities balance at the beginning # &K 2 fE R UL S
of the year 27,282 -
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22 ENRAERERAMESREAR
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) EHRE(#E)
(d)  (Continued) (d) (%)
The Group expects their performance obligations under AREEBBHEENZEFSLETH
the contracts with customers to be satisfied over a period BHETERTBBENFAEERT
of no more than 1 year. B o
23 SHARE CAPITAL 23 BR&E
Number of Nominal
shares value
R4 E HE
‘000 HK$'000
Tl FAET
Authorised — ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EE—BREENET
2 T 2,000,000 200,000
Number of Nominal
shares value
g ¢=| HE
‘000 HK$'000
T FAT

Issued and fully paid — ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BE#1TRHE — &k

each EE0. 1B 2 & i Ak
As at 1 April 2017 R-ZE—tEFMNHA—H 281,000 28,100
Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise of AT A IR I B 32 1T

options B& 17 2 BT 15 3038 1,140 114
As at 31 March 2018 R-_E-N\F=A=+—H 282,140 28,214
As at 1 April 2018 N —N\FMNA—H 282,140 28,214
Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise of RATREB AR 2 1T

options B& 19 2 B 1S 3038 1,350 135
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NF=RA=+—H 283,490 28,349
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24 SHARE OPTIONS 24 FER%iE
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share ARRABMRZFE-——_FNANBERABK
Option Scheme”) on 6 August 2012. Pursuant to the Share HEETE ([ERESE]) - RIEBERES
Option Scheme, the Company may grant share options to g ARBAAAEEETERA (B
certain grantees (including directors and employees) of the EEREE MBEEREAREARAQAR
Group to subscribe for shares of the Company. The maximum 9o ARIBREARIEST B R AR K B IRA 2 E [
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all Hh R B E RHARITR A
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under THEINBREETER AT &SR
this Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes MEE TEBAAQATREEITRA
adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent of the 30%  REERKHEFETET 2ELTD
share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The RIRDEE HEEREZZXZAE AR
subscription price will be determined by the directors, and will DRI FT AT IT (B R B BRI B %
not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the shares, H 83 AT h 82X 5 B IR {5 72 8 2 PPk 7 49
the closing price of the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange KmE(LNEaBERE) -
on the trading day of granting the options and the average of
the closing prices of the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
granting the options.
Movements in the number of share options outstanding during FARABMKRTEEREZE Z2ESHUW T :
the year are as follows:
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
Average Average
exercise price exercise price
in HK$ Number of in HK$ Number of
per share options per share options
BR2ZY¥H Btz T
BRTEE BREHE ABTITEE B ES A
‘000 ‘000
T4 )
Beginning of the year REA 2.456 21,270 2.430 22,950
Not applicable
Granted during the year FRNERE 2.090 4,100 TE R -
Exercised BT 1.958 (1,350) 2.110 (1,140)
Lapsed B KK 2.142 (320) 2.108 (540)
Not applicable
Expired 22| 5 1.780 (200) TE A -
End of the year REK 23,500 21,270
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24

214

SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 24 FRBERME (#8)
As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, all of the outstanding options RZE-NEFERERZE—N\F=ZA=+—
are fully vested and exercisable. H FAAERMAKRTERZEREERHUEE R
AT
1,350,000 (2018: 1,140,000) share options were exercised £ ®X1,350,000f% (=& — /J\F:
during the year resulting in 1,350,000 (2018: 1,140,000) shares 1,140,00010 ) AR EE BT - HEIZ
being issued at a weighted average price of HK$1.958 (2018: MEFHERER1I8ETL(ZE—N
HK$2.110) each. The related weighted average share price at F:2.110%870)3%771,350,0000 (==&
the time of exercise was HK$2.050 (2018: HK$2.750) per share. — J\4 :1,140,0000% ) B {7 ° 17 {F iF 2 #8
EmEFHIREEZR2.0508T(ZF
—N\E:2.75087T) °
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the RELRITEERE B BB RITEE D
following expiry dates and exercise prices: ™
Number of options Vested percentages
BREHE BEES L
Exercise
Expiry date price 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZH A THEE Z—E-hLFE =T\ ZE-hnE —T-)N\F
‘000 ‘000
T4 T
Directors =
20 March 2019 —E-NF=A=+H 1.780 - 600 100% 100%
18 January 2020 —Z_TF-At/\H 2.158 2,200 2,200 100% 100%
29 June 2021 —E-—%xA-thH 2.190 3,300 3,300 100% 100%
29 August 2023 —E-=%/\A=Z+ANH 2.090 800 = 100% =
Employees EE
20 March 2019 —E-AF=A=+H 1.780 - 50 100% 100%
18 January 2020 —Z-TF—-A+)\H 2.158 1,300 1,300 100% 100%
9 July 2020 “Z-ZF+ANE 2.260 1,700 2,200 100% 100%
15 July 2019 “T-NFtA+HA 2.800 10,000 10,000 100% 100%
6 January 2021 —ZE-—%—AH 2.142 900 1,220 100% 100%
29 August 2023 —Z-_=Zf/\B=-1+AH 2.090 3,300 = 100% =
Others Hith
20 March 2019 —E-AF=A=+H 1.780 - 400 100% 100%
23,500 21,270
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24 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 24 BEBRHE (#8)
The weighted average fair value of the options granted during HE_Z-NWF=-A=+—HLFEERH
the year ended 31 March 2019 determined using the binomial BB AR R N A ERA ZBAER
option pricing model was approximately HK$0.18 (2018: Nil) EEERXNEBE #HVAFRISE L (=
per share. The significant inputs into the model were share Z—N\FE:F) EANEEZEHAED R
prices of HK$2.09 (2018: Nil) as at the grant date, exercise price REELEBENRE2.098T (ZE—N\
as shown above, volatility of 22.63% (2018: Nil), expected life F:F) EXFATRITEE KIE22.63%
of options of five years (2018: Nil), expected dividend yield of (ZE2E—-—NF ) BEREFEHFEHA
6.92% (2018: Nil) and annual risk-free interest rate of 2.18% F(ZE—NF:ZT) FEHRE K=z X
(2018: Nil), respectively. The volatility measured at the standard 6.92% (ZE—N\F:ZT) K ER K FF
deviation of expected share price return is based on the E218% (ZZE—N\F:F) - IRRHEHR
historical volatility of the Company's share price over a period BERE L FEEREFEZRBIRBEAR
of five years before the date when the options were granted. NEAREHBRER SN L FHBNOKRE
ESE R IERT & o
25 RESERVES 25 %0l
Available-
Share-based Property for-sale
Share Capital compensation  revaluation financial Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve asset reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BRAFH NEER THIHE
RAEE NG B e HBEERE ERfE Hifif REEF @t
(Note)
(Hiz)
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tix T TiEx FHL Tt FHL T FHL FiHT
At 1 April 2017 K-F-tFMA-B 83,235 10,591 6,075 6,79 10,802 (20,408) 2002) 47050 642,113
Exchange difference arising BEBNHELR
on translation of foreign MELERZE
subsidiaries - - - - - 37,401 - - 37,401
Fair value loss on available-for- At HEMBEEZ
sale financial assets ATEEE - - - - (10,197) - - = (10,197)
Change in ownership interest in -~ X~ BAAEAE
a subsidiary without change of ~ E BT A EH L 44
control 29 - - - - - - (1,477) - (1.477)
Employee share option scheme: & B B Rk #Ex8):
Proceeds from shares issued REBERERERT
upon exercise of options B3 2 FriEHIE 229 - - - - - - - 229
Transfer of reserve upon RTfRERER
exercise of options BRGRE 298 - (298) - - - - - -
Options lapsed BRRBRE = - (142) - - - - 142 =
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - - 74111 74,111
Dividends paid BRRE = = = = . = = (42,317) (42,317)
At31 March 2018 W-Z-NEZAZT-B 85825 10,591 5,635 6,790 605 16,993 (34%9) 578986 701926
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25 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 25 fiEfR (#8)
Financial
Property  Availablefor- assets at
Share Capital ~ Share-based revaluation sale financial  FVOCI fair Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve - compensation reserve asset reserve  value reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BOYE
BALf
REUALZ

LLES NEEHR ARLE HHEE
RHEE BREE HMGE e UBEERRE ATERR EiffE EffifE REEA @it
(Note)
(#i)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T#n TR T#x TEn T#n T#x T#R TEn TR

At 1 April 2018 R-E-\EMA-A 85,825 10,591 5,635 6,790 605 - 16,993 (3,499) 578,986 701,926
Reclassification on the adoption of HRAVEAE 158
HKFRS 9 (Note 2.2) SRKENAR (Wit22) - - - - (605) 605 - - - -

Restated total reserves as at RZE-\EmA-A

1 April 2018 BE7| 7 GRERE 85,825 10,591 5,635 6,790 - 605 16,993 (3,499) 578,986 701,926
Exchange difference arisingon ~~ BEBNHBARMEE
translation of foreign subsidiaries  [E X 2% - - - - - - (24,982) - - (24,982)

Fair value loss on financial assets  FATERALH2ARA
at fair value through other LBBEE A TERR

comprehensive income - - - - - (882) - - - (882)
Employee share option scheme: ~ [EEBRIE:E:
Valuation of employee services ~ [EE R Z[EE - - 743 - - - - - - 743
Proceeds from shares issued upon {1 EREE DR
exercise of options &ip 2 FiEE 2,508 - - - - - - - - 2,508
Transfer of reserve upon RTRERERERER
exercise of options 508 - (508) - - - - - - -
Options lapsed and expired BARRII Sz BRE - - (153) = = = = = 153 =
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - - - - 55,557 55,557
Divdends pad Bfifke = - - - - - - - (ase)  (395%8)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-R 88,841 10,591 51171 6,790 - (211) (7,989) (3,499) 595,108 695,282
Note: Mt -
The capital reserve of the Group includes the difference between the nominal REBEARBELER ST _FNLARBAEEE
value of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate amount of HBE B IR D IR AN A B AT R 1T i AR T B P Ak B B
the share capital and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange BRAIZBRARKRGD RERERZZ8E -

of shares pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in September 2002.
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27

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE 26

The Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, manufacture and sales of electronic products and
other products. Revenue from sales of goods recognised during
the year are as follows:

Rt 35 8 % B 6

W &
AEEFENREETEMREMERNR
kA% REAHEXK FARAEY
HEBZKmMT

2019 2018

—ZE2-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHTT

Sales of goods EYHER 1,681,862 1,510,504
EXPENSES BY NATURE 27 BEEASZHAX

Expenses included in cost of sales, distribution and selling

SHASH A - 5 R B 0 B R — R

expenses and general and administrative expenses are analysed

as follows:

RTREBRBRZAANAT :

2019 2018
—E-NF ZE-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Cost of inventories FEKA 1,256,953 1,108,971
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERZBITE
equipment (Note 7) (H15t7) 34,379 33,081
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 6) T PR 8 (A 7Fe) 1,128 1,155
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) EREESE (NiH9) 1,238 986
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, plant and equipment &Y E  FiE kiR
ZER/ (k) 137 (8)
Operating lease rental of premises BFzgERNEe 6,397 4,820
Employee benefit expense (including BEIRIAS (REEE
directors’ emoluments) (Note 34) e) (#7:t34) 217,490 197,184
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B SRR ERE - 50
Reversal of provision for impairment of BEEXRERZIEDN
loans receivable HERE - (2,464)
Auditor's remuneration ZERB €
- Audit services - ZERT 2,860 2,800
— Non-audit services - IR BIR 294 263
Commission expense A 13,666 12,108
Other expenses H 32 86,904 73,288
Total cost of sales, distribution and selling HEREA DEKEEER
expenses and general and administrative expenses AR —BRITHER
ERBE 1,621,446 1,432,234
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28

29

218

OTHER INCOME 28 Hfr A
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Government grants X 4 B 1,282 796
Scrap sales RER5H & 433 379
Rental income He WA - 299
Others EAh 195 324
1,910 1,798
OTHER GAINS, NET 29 Hfhlilrz > B
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net foreign currency exchange gain P 5 Uk &5 )5 58 831 2,724
Fair value gain on an investment property WEYERNFE K - 900
Gain on disposal of bond investment HEGEHTREKE - 323
Gain on disposal of financial asset at FVPL HEZRATETLAERZ
(Note 17) B EEWS (Hit17) 426 -
Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets BAVFERABR VB
at FVPL (Note 17) BEEQNTFERZ
(B518) 2% (Hfet17) 7.324 (1,081)
8,581 2,866
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31

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 8 = P &E

30 MEAE— B

2019 2018
—2-1F AL
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAIT
Interest income from: KETHEZEZHBWA :
— bank deposits - RITTFEXK 1,062 2,153
— bond investment -EFHEE - 459
— overdue interests received from customers - BRFPWEEHEF & 2,008 1,524
— others - Hits 78 68
Finance income B E A 3,148 4,204
Interest expense on bank borrowings RTEEMBRAX (5,038) (5,179)
Finance costs BhE A (5,038) (5,179)
Finance costs — net BEE KA —F5 (1,890) (975)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 31 Fifs#RBX
(a) Bermuda and British Virgin Islands income (a) BEFEREBEXBFEEMER
tax

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company'’s subsidiaries in the British Virgin
Islands are incorporated under the International Business
Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are
exempted from the British Virgin Islands income taxes.

(b) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the

year ended 31 March 2019.

LEREMEH-

(b) FEEFFR

ARBBE_Z=-AFMEHAR
ERB-ARARRBRELESEZ
I8 A B IR RS R B S B
BEAEMAL At BREBRE

BE-F-hFZA=+-ALF
B R B RIS ¢

&

BB E165% (ZFE— )\ F:

16.5% ) {E H B -
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31

220

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 31 FieMAX (&)
(c) PRC corporate income tax (c) RELERSER
The Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China are subject to REERPE AN 2 HERRIAE
corporate income tax at 25% (2018: 25%) effective from 25% (ZF—N\F:25% ) B
1 January 2008. FrEm B NF-—HA—B&
R o
(d) Macao taxation (d) BFRKE
SMCO is a subsidiary established in Macao and is EERFMBEEFEERBE RBRFK
exempted from Macao Complementary Tax. YZWBAR  REHBRPIAESHER
(e) Vietnam taxation (e) BAREK
SVN is a subsidiary incorporated in Vietnam and is entitled SYNARBREEMA Y 2 HEAR -
to tax holiday under which its profits would be fully EREXRTH TUHAR H&
exempted from Vietnam enterprise income tax (“EIT") FIBEEE F—FERBEBEEZA
for two years starting from its first year of profitable B B & N F 2 5 06 M F AT 2R
operations after offsetting prior year tax losses, followed REMBECEMSE ([DEME
by 50% reduction in EIT in next four years. During the Bl) WHREBNFERS — ¥
current year, there is no assessable profits generated by KRB -MRAFE SUNUEELE
SVN. JE R B 0a A o
(f) The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated (f) BRAKIRMBZAEHSEN
income statement represents: T
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current income tax: BVERFT 1S %
— Hong Kong profits tax - BEAENEM 5,395 5,119
- Income tax outside Hong Kong - BABINTER - 2,051
— Under/(over)-provision in prior years -BEFEEBEETRS
(ERRRRE) 260 (478)
Deferred income tax credit (Note 21) BEFBME R (H1a221) (755) (645)
4,900 6,047
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

the taxation rate in Hong Kong as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 8 = P &E

31 FARIRFA (#R)

(g) The income tax on the Group's profit before income tax (g) 7% B AT 1S BB % R 2 BT 15 B 62
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using NBEBARMMEAE  BEREES

PR FEMT

2019 2018
—E-hF =)\
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
Profit before income tax B BT 15 B B 4 60,011 79,584
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% #%16.5% (ZZ&— \F:
(2018: 16.5%) 16.5% ) B EFH 9,902 13,131
Effect of different income tax rates on EERINTE £ WA KA
income arising outside Hong Kong TRMAEHE TE (3,903) (3,499)
Tax loss not recognised RERIAE B 10,236 5,643
Expenses not deductible for RN Yl 3
income tax purpose 3,414 2,605
Income not subject to income tax BEBRITER 2 WA (10,089) (8,714)
Tax concession and incentives TR IE1B = RO ED (4,913) (1,883)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEEEBRETR/
(FBFERHE) 260 (478)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FABERERNIEER
tax losses (7) (758)
Income tax expense Frig®i = i 4,900 6,047
There is no tax charge relating to components of other MEHAXHEEIMEEKAER

comprehensive income.

B
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32 EARNINGS PER SHARE

222

(a)

(b)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

32 BiAT

(a)

EX
SREABHDEADTRA A
1 328 U DA 4F PO B B AT 9B IR 2 0
BT REGHE -

2019 2018
—F-hEF —F-N\F
Profit attributable to owners of the KRABHEAR AEE G T
Company (HK$'000) (F&mT) 55,557 74,111
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E R NE
shares in issue ('000) FHRRE (FR) 282,917 281,942
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FREEAREF (B) 19.64 26.29

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has one category of
dilutive potential ordinary shares which is the share
options granted to directors and employees. For the
share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market price of the
Company's shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared
with the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options.
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e
BREBBNINRRMEETEH
BEBREEBRNBATHEET
£ S 3 R D0 HE S 15 B BRUME A AT
B-ARBA-BECHSEAR
FImMEEREERH CBIE -JLE
BiEmE A EDRAEHRRNAK
TTEBREZABEZSEEER
AR BEAZEATE (RAEXRRRK
MFEHEAE)BAZKRNEE -
AL 75 R B 2 o 8B & E R
RBRRETEMESKBRITHORN
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Dividends paid during the period ended 30 September 2018
and the year ended 31 March 2018 were HK$16,974,000
(HK6.0 cents per share) and HK$22,615,000 (HK8.0 cents
per share), respectively. A dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2019 of HK6.0 cents per share, totalling
HK$17,009,000, is to be proposed at the annual general
meeting on 8 August 2019. These financial statements do not
reflect this dividend payable.

32 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 32 BERAEF (&)
(b) Diluted (Continued) (b) % (#&)
2019 2018
—E-hEF ZE-N\F
Profit attributable to owners of the ViN/NETE DN A
Company (HK$'000) wA (FET) 55,557 74,111
Weighted average number of ordinary EEITEBERINE
shares in issue ('000) FHERRE (FR%) 282,917 281,942
Adjustments for share options ('000) BRERAR (T17) 118 1,932
Weighted average number of ordinary BREERN 2 EBR
shares for diluted earnings per share TR E (FR)
("000) 283,035 283,874
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) ShEE8EER GBI) 19.63 26.11
33 DIVIDENDS 33 KR

BE_T— N \FALA=THILHBEEEZ
- N\EFZA=Z+—HLFEEMNRE
25 A16,974,0007%8 ¢ ( F%6.081L) &
22,615,000 7t (FAR8.07ML) - KR =
T-NFENANBNREEFRAES LEZ
EREE-T-NF=A=+—RHIEFE
B R B F k6.0 L - & /17,009,000
BT - ZEVHHRERILERBRZENK

=
/T

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Interim dividend, paid, of HK6.0 cents B HIR B =R
(2018: HK7.0 cents) per ordinary share B A%6. 078 I
—ZE-N\F:7.08M) 16,973 19,750
Final dividend, proposed, of HK6.0 cents RIERBRKREF&R
(2018: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary share @ A%6.075 1
(ZZ—\F:8.0%1Ml) 17,009 22,615
33,982 42,365

EEEBRESBEAER AR 2018/19F % 223



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

34 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 3 EIRTAZ(BEEEMNE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2019 2018

—E-hEF ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FB T FET

Wages and salaries TERGS 189,427 173,431

Bonus B4 9,029 8,844

Staff welfare ETHEF 6,214 5,795

Share-based compensation expenses R 19 1~ 3% 3R BM 5 2 743 =

Unutilised annual leave FEEF R 326 70

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRE A — FREMR G 11,751 9,044

217,490 197,184

(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) AREEFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest REAFE AEBREESHHA
in the Group for the year included three (2018: three) TERE=R(ZE—NF:=F%)E
directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 35. The EREZHNEE R E35 R M
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2018: two) FARSESREG (ZE—N\F M
individuals during the year are as follows: BIANLTZHEWT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R LREYREH 3,626 4,732

Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR KI2 Fl 5t 2 4 7% 82 132

3,708 4,864
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 8 = P &E

34 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 3 RIBTAX(BEESENE)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (%)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (a) AEEEHMAL (&)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: Bl & N T AT & E
Number of individuals
AH
2019 2018
—Z2-NF AL
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Emolument bands P & &3 2
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T
%2,000,000/%8 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001%8 7T
%2,500,000% 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001%8 7T
%3,000,000/%8 7T — 1
2 2
(b) Senior management’s emoluments by band (b) BREBESHERETEAIM
&
The senior management's emoluments (excluding the five NFUATHENSRERZAE (R
highest paid individuals) fell within the following bands: PRERIEAESFMAL) 2MSE :
Number of individuals
AE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Emolument bands B & &5 &
Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T = 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T
%2,000,0007%8 7T 3 2
3 3
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Bt 35 88 & B 6

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3, EEFIESRER
Directors and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTTHRAREME
The emoluments of every director and the chief executive FEEEFERTHAB M2 &0
is set out below: T
Employer's
contribution
to retirement
Salaries and  Share-based  Discretionary benefit
Fees allowance compensation bonuses scheme Total
i BiRERGE
He  HeREw DEE BERL EIfts Fhy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
For the year ended HE-Z-1%
31 March 2019; SREt-HLEE:
Executive directors: HIES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, RERET
Chief Executive Officer) (2B 1TRER) - 4,946 - 2,400 494 7,840
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy SETRE
Chairman) (8#FE) = 2,189 - 450 109 2,748
Dr Ng Man Cheuk RREET - 1,466 144 750 73 2,433
Non-executive directors: FHmES:
Mr. Lee Kam Hung FRERE 180 - - - - 180
Prof. Luk Wing Ching BEAEHE 105 - - - - 105
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHEE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Chan Kit Wang RAREE 216 - - - - 216
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan RamEL 216 - - - - 216
For the year ended BE-Z-N\%
31 March 2018: ZAZt-ALEE:
Executive directors: BIES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, REFEL
Chiet Executive Officer) (ZF 778 4%) - 4,665 - 2,000 467 7132
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy BERRE
Chairman) (8#F) - 2,092 - 400 105 2,597
Dr Ng Man Cheuk RREET - 1,296 - 600 65 1,961
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Mr. Lee Kam Hung FRERE 180 - - - - 180
Independent non-executive =~ BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHEE 240 - - - S 240
Mr. Chan Kit Wang RARLE 216 - - - = 216
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan REBEL 216 - - - - 216
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the retirement benefits was paid or receivable by
directors during the year (2018: Nil).

None of the termination benefits was paid by or
receivable from the Company, the subsidiary undertaking
nor the controlling shareholders to the directors during
the year (2018: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
does not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2018: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2019, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and controlled entities
with such directors (2018: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Company's business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2018: Nil).

Rt 35 8 % B 6

35 BEEFZRER (&)

(b}

(c)

(d)

(e)

FEEBEBREBEER AR 2018/19F =,

B a5 BB AR 7
FRBEREFENXCKRKRE
M(ZE—NF:F)-

FA-BEARE  MEBABRZER
RRABFAZD NI RE TR
M(ZBE-—N\F:F)-

ME=ZAXMRHEEZIHHTZ
RIR

BHE_Z-—NF=R=+—HIF
B ANRBE Y EFERE =T X
RHUHEBERBIAEB(ZF—N\F:

z).

FRUES HESZHNR
RHEZABNERRESHHE
ZHEERSRRAZER:
ERRRAMXHZEH
RZEBE-AF=A=+—0 #E
NERESE HERESEFNNE
EHAABENEERESEME
ZBAEERBARRBAZER £E
REEMIXBZEZHEH (ZF—N
FiE) -

EERXH RENSHZE
KR

RELIFRNERER HEFER
AREMERFIN T AARRAEERE
THRAEAED (TwERIEER)
MERRBEBREBZIERRS
THRAHN(ZE-N\F &) -

227



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 35 88 & B 6

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 FERERERMPFE
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash (a) EARFEAKCLEBFELRSY
generated from operations as follows: BRI :
2019 2018
—2-hE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT
Profit for the year F R 55,111 73,537
Adjustments for: HE:
— Income tax expense - RS 4,900 6,047
— Finance income - BMEKRA (3.148) (4,204)
— Finance cost - BB KA 5,038 5,179
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - #1% - BENRETE 34,379 33,081
— Amortisation of land use rights - o b AR 8 1,128 1,155
— Amortisation of intangible assets -BREESRE 1,238 986
— Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, - HENE- -BER
plant and equipment FiECER/ (W) 137 (8)
— Net fair value (gains)/losses on -BATERABREZ
financial assets at FVPL MBEEEATE
(Wz) /BEFRE (7.324) 1,081
— Share-based compensation expenses - B2 5 B R BN B 2 743 =
— Fair value gain on an investment property - —IBREMEZ
NBELEn = (900)
— Impairment loss on interest in an associate -R—HEE ARz ER
REER 1,972 -
— Impairment losses on trade receivables - B E SRFTRERRE 3,931 =
— Impairment losses on other receivables - Ht e R IE R EEE 202 =
— Impairment loss on amount - FEY— R A R IR E
due from an associate &1 1,250 -
— Share of losses of associates - BB E N EEE 1,651 2,375
— Provision for impairment of trade receivables - EWE SRR ERE - 50
— Reversal of provision for impairment of loans - EREWFERE
receivable BERE - (2,464)
— Gain on disposal of bond investment - HEBEHRERE - (323)
- Gain on disposal of a financial asset -HERATFELZA
at FVPL B MBEERR (426) -
100,782 115,592
Changes in working capital: BEEeEE:
— Inventories -FE (19,880) (72,593)
— Trade and other receivables -EWE ZBRFREAM
e FRIR (22,837) (4,541)
— Trade and other payables and contract liabilities — -f& 4 Z 5 IRk e £
ENFIERAHERE (17,783) 14,040
Cash generated from operations BEEBELEZRS 40,282 52,498
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 IFERERERPE ()

OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant (b) HEYE BERREZFEZE
and equipment comprise: aiE:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\E
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Net book value (Note 7) REFEE (MiE7) 137 12
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, LEWE - -KE R
plant and equipment Rz (BE) WS (137) 8
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BKE K&E
plant and equipment Z TS RIA - 20
Net cash reconciliation (c) BRELEIE
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the REHIREAREENFEFEERD
movements in net cash for each of the years presented. MR EReE
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEL2EEY 127,826 165,105
Bank borrowings RITEE
— repayable within one year - AR —ERNEE (69,537) (65,155)
Bank borrowings RITEBE
— repayable after one year - BR—F&ERE - (3,759)
Net cash FIRE 58,289 96,191
Cash and cash equivalents HehREZEY 127,826 165,105
Gross debt — variable interest rates WIS TG — F B F (69,537) (68,914)
Net cash FIRE 58,289 96,191
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

230

(c)

Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

36 REReRERME (])

(c) BREYIR ()

Other
assets Liabilities from financing activities
HiEE AERHNER
Bank Bank
Cash borrowings  borrowings
and cash  Dividends due within due after
equivalents paid one year one year Total
R-5R R-F#%
HeRBS ) E:chi)
BN ERRE RTEE RITEE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT AT TET THET
Net cash as at 1 April 2018 RZE-N\F
HA—HrFRE 165,105 - (65,155) (3,759) 96,191
Non cash —dividend declared FHRe-EERKE - 39,588 - - 39,588
Cash flows Rene (33,833) (39,588) (4,382) 3,759 (74,044)
Foreign exchange adjustments  ShEEFH % (3,446) - - - (3,446)
Net cash as at 31 March 2019  R=Z—AF=A
=t—BEERE 127,826 - (69,537) - 58,289
Net cash as at 1 April 2017 RZT—tF
HA—B&FHR2 223,867 = (108,337) (6,678) 108,852
Non cash ~dividend declared FHE-BEERKR - 42,317 - - 42,317
Cash flows Beng (67,151) (42,317) 43,182 2,919 (63,367)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ ShEFHE 8,389 - - - 8,389
Net cash as at 31 March 2018  RZ=Z—\F=A
=t—-BHERS 165,105 - (65,155) (3,759) 96,191
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37 COMMITMENTS

(i)

(ii)

Operating lease commitments

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rt 35 8 % B 6

37 &I

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease payments in respect of rented premises

under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

(i) EEHERKIE

RZE-hF=ZA=+—B &K%
EREEMERBENAIMELEH
MAKEN zZEEHSEBAT :

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ET-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHT

Not later than one year —F R 4,455 3,673
Later than one year and not later than —FIRERFA

five years 4,315 3,452

Later than five years T F & 1,167 706

9,937 7,831

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had the following capital

commitments:

lii) WEKIE

R=F-—AF=A=+—0 %%
B TERER

2019 2018
—g-nE -z N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI #B AR B
— Property, plant and equipment -ME - -BEREZE 4,053 1,818
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38 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

232

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed by
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% to 10% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
the Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans
for its employees in Mainland China. The Group contributes
approximately 7% to 12% of the basic salaries of its employees,
and has no further obligations for the actual payment of
pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Macao, the Group
has arranged its Macao employees to join the government
provident fund scheme (the “Macao Scheme”). The Group
and its employees makes monthly contributions of MOP30 and
MOP15, respectively, per month to each employee to the Macao
Scheme, and had no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the monthly
contributions.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount
of the Group's contributions to the aforementioned pension
schemes were approximately HK$11,751,000 (2018:
HK$9,044,000).
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38 EREHKEF

AEBERETBERERHF2ERBHMER
Bt ([RBEEE]) BB E
TIEBRHRKRTE ABILETEAEE-R
EREEE AEREEEEEDRIKR
B MEAESANE AR EER &
BHRAEBEWAZS%EI0% « — & X {F4#
R RNEEAEE - SN REE

ANEEIZRHE AR ORI 2 B E
SEEPE AN EEMEREBRKG
HER - AEEZEBEEATENT%
E12%HEF REREFI TEBER X
NERAREHRKRBREBN ZEMAEE - BIX
EPRAFEBEARKEENEMNZ
ERERKRE -

WIRRFIZ RAI R R REBEE TP E
BRAEE2NMBFE B (DR
gl AEErEREBANEGREERD
Al AR PI ET B GRS 0RFIHE R 15RPTHE -
BREAHRZKIN YEERENERAE IR
UNEZ R A g o

HE_ZT-NFZAZ+—HLEE-
AEEMEMRKSFTEIED 2 HE
B4 A/11,751,0008 . (=2 — N\ F:
9,044,000 7T °
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39

As at 31 March 2019, 38.99% (2018: 38.99%) of the total
issued shares of the Company is owned by Superior View Inc., a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and 15.42%
(2018: 16.48%) of the total issued shares of the Company is
owned by Billion Linkage Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Dr Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company, and Ms Lee
Wai Fun, wife of Dr Ng Chi Ho, respectively.

(a) Key management compensation
The aggregate remuneration of key personnel
management, including amounts paid to the Company'’s
directors and certain of the highest paid employees, as
disclosed in Notes 34 and 35, is as follows:

Rt 35 8 % B 6

FREAELERS
R-ZE—NF=ZA=Z+—H A2QAFE
TR BT 238.99% (—_F — )\ F:
38.99% ) I MR B B X B B A M B A2
Z A AlSuperior View Inc. B @ A RQ
FIEBITRHMBE 215.42% (ZFE— N
F:16.48% ) Jh M1 R B R L AF B e M AK
37 2 A alBillion Linkage Limited# A o 2
SESKREBRALTSRARRARIEZR
BB kFEFLET (REZELZE
) &

(a) EEEEERM
FEEREBABZFMNEERED
NARREERETREHFEEZ
RIE (RHKE34R35%E) » & A
—F:

2019 2018
—E-hEF ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Salaries and other short-term employee FekHEMEHEERF
benefits 19,662 19,217
Post-employment benefits BB 1248 A 933 922
20,595 20,139

(b) Year-end balances with related parties

(b) RBMEALTZFRGER

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FE T

Amounts due from associates (i) JiE L B 4 X B FR A (1) 5,085 4,149
Amounts due to minority shareholders of BB AR Z L

subsidiaries % 38 = 192

(i): The terms of balances with related parties are disclosed in Note 12.

(i): HEENE AT S ERF R 125

o
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40 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 40 FLATFIZEERAGRRRERED
OF THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company ENFIZEERARE
31 March 31 March
Notes 2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
Bt it =A=+—-H =H=+—H
HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 943 929
Interests in subsidiaries NI NCI £ 68,166 68,166
69,109 69,095
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 AR 5k K L b FE WK IR 837 453
Tax recoverable AT U B B IE - 730
Amounts due from subsidiaries i N ENGIE 198,448 224,413
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 2,944 12,139
202,229 237,735
Total assets BEHAE 271,338 306,830
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables FE - E 5 BR 3% E At FE T RKIB 4,182 2,646
Total liabilities EERE 4,182 2,646
Equity e
Equity attributable to owners of the RAFRHEE ANEILER
Company
Share capital & 7% 28,349 28,214
Other reserves HAibfE e (a) 159,430 156,332
Retained earnings R & F (a) 79,377 119,638
Total equity W o5 AR 267,156 304,184
Total equity and liabilities ERkaEHEE 271,338 306,830

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board AR aEEABERECR - ZEZ—AESNAZ+ X

of Directors on 26 June 2019 and was signed on its behalf. AEEEgHE THTNINEERERES -
Ng Chi Ho Ma Fung On
RER FEZ
Director Director
EZE EZE
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40 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Rt 35 8 % B 6

40 FRFIZHERARRREREE

(#)

Note (a) reserve movement of the Company Bt 5E (a) 2 2 B) o fils 2 B
Share-based
Share Contributed compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
LRNEN
R 1758 BABE LS REBF it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
1 April 2017 RZE—+FMNA—H 83,235 64,872 6,075 51,907 206,089
Employee share option scheme: {8 B2
Proceeds from shares issued RITEERERE
upon exercise of options BT 2B 5A 2,292 = = = 2,292
Transfer of reserve upon RITE B R
exercise of options R E 298 = (298) = =
Options lapsed Bk E - - (142) 142 N
Profit for the year FRET - - - 109,906 109,906
Dividends paid ERRE - = = (42,317) (42,317)
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-NF
ZA=+-H 85,825 64,872 5,635 119,638 275,970
1 April 2018 RZZE-NEMA—A 85,825 64,872 5,635 119,638 275,970
Employee share option scheme:  {& 8 B2
Valuation of employee services ~ EEREZEE - - 743 - 743
Proceeds from shares issued upon  FAT1E BERRIERS T
exercise of options BIIRG 2 A 2,508 - - - 2,508
Transfer of reserve upon TR ER
exercise of options BRGEE 508 - (508) - -
Options lapsed BERMERE - - (153) 153 -
Profit for the year FREF - - - (826) (826)
Dividends paid BERE - - - (39,588) (39,588)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NF
=ZA=+-H 88,841 64,872 5,717 79,377 238,807

Note:

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal amount of
shares issued and the book value of the underlying net assets of subsidiaries
acquired in return.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due,
or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.

BABBIEERRPTEITR G 2 E{E E TR EEHE
AREEBFEEREE I ZH

REBARE-NN—FRFE FARBRADIK T K
A AT A PIR - B B AR BRE KSR
BB DK« ()RR A) B AT R AEHE D IKIREA
BEANPEE AMEEEZIERERREERE
HEBTRARBRMDEEZEN AT SERERED
K
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFHMEBRE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z —FE—NWF=HA=+—HILFEF

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets

and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

below:

=

o)

For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-HLFE

AEEBE DAY REE 54 LEL
SEREEEEHRINMT

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“E-0% 2% Z2—t§ ZZ-N\§ ZEBE-h%f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL AT THET FTEL TET
Consolidated results S
Revenue WYogs 1,341,924 1368100 1414103 1510504 1,681,862
Operating profit B R 178,144 88,654 61,672 82,934 65,524
Profit before income tax R BT 45 50 Al g A 175,712 87,907 63,615 79,584 60,011
Income tax expense PSR X (5,698) (8,596) (3,572) (6,047) (4,900)
Profit attributable to the owners of
the Company AREEBARERH 170,406 80,038 61,745 74,111 55,557
As at 31 March
R=B=+—-H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“Z-hE ZE-RFf ZZ—+§f ZZ-N\§ ZZF-hf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TAET FEL FET TER
Consolidated assets and liabilities SEREERAE
Land use rights T AR 55,528 53,291 50,484 51,994 48,849
Property, plant and equipment nE BER&E 257,317 263,236 276,081 297,178 261,580
Investment property REWME 10,100 10,000 10,200 = =
Intangible assets B EE 12,372 7,251 986 3,319 2,681
Goodwill EES 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REEE DR 2 e = 3,876 3,804 3,623 =
Deferred income tax assets BREFMEHEE 762 323 1,086 1,782 2,330
Available-for-sale financial asset L ENKEE 13,358 16,678 16,439 6,242 =
Bonds investments - long term BHRE - RH 7,711 7,711 7,711 = =
Financial assets at fair value through other R AFEZAEMEZEKA
comprehensive income ZUBEE - = = = 6,910
Financial assets at fair value through BRATFEZAERZ
profit or loss - long term UHREE - RH = = 4,838 3,757 25,576
Loans receivable SEREMGE - - - = 1,063
Non-current prepayments and FEMBERNRIER
other receivables Hib U R 1,658 4,118 = 3,074 13,374
Current assets MEBEE 586,673 610,815 662,137 690,294 676,356
Current liabilities EIN=RET (289,702)  (301,542)  (360,112)  (329,344)  (317,661)
Net current assets REEESRE 296,971 309,273 302,025 360,950 358,695
Total assets less current liabilities BEBERRDAR 659,726 679,706 677,603 735,868 725,007
Long term borrowings RiEE (12,405) (10,932) (6,678) (3,759) =
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMEREBE (2,105) (1,443) (453) (504) (357)
Total equity Emian 645,216 667,331 670,472 731,605 724,650
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